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CORPORATE INFORMATION

NAER
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBEE

.\
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBERE

Consolidated Results

mE¥E
Year ended 30 June
BEAA=1THLEE
(HK$ million) 2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
(BEEHET) —ECHE ZE-NE S —ZE--HF —E-—=F
Revenue A 4,829 4,838 5,119 6,107 5,761
GP% EF=E 23% 21% 17% 19% 22%
Profit before taxation BB ADRA 361 245 90 285 421
Taxation Bitg (58) (44) (5) (28) (63)
Profit for the year REERF 303 201 85 257 358

Consolidated Assets and Liabilities

HEEERAE

At 30 June

RARA=+H
(HK$ million) 2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
(BEBEET) “E-RE —ENFE ZE=F B -F —“ET--F
Total assets WEE 3,806 3,546 3,425 3,801 3,676
Total liabilities wWeE (666) (642) (639) (842) (795)
Total equity R 3,140 2,904 2,786 2,959 2,881

Key Financial Indicators

FENKER
Year ended 30 June
BEAA=THLEE
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
—E-RF ZEoNE ¥ =fF B —ZEBZ-—-F
Earnings per share (HKS$) BRERN (GB¥T)

Basic and diluted BEXRREE 1.29 0.85 0.36 1.09 1.51
Dividend per share (HKS$) FRERE(GBYET) 0.48 0.40 0.30 0.48 0.48
Equity-debt ratio* FESERLR 100:0 100:0 100:0 100:0 100:0

* Equity-debt ratio is defined as the ratio of the total equity to net * BERERLERAPERAFERNLER « F
debt. Net debt represents leases liabilities less cash and deposits. EXEFEHEEBERRERTEN
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ESEIRREE

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Lam Soon
(Hong Kong) Limited (the “Company”), | present the annual report
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for
the financial year ended 30 June 2025.

During the year under review, operating conditions remained
challenging. In Mainland China, despite policy support, economic
growth was uneven. Intense competition, excess industry
capacity and an ongoing environment of “involution” further
weighed on the operating landscape. In Hong Kong, recovery
was modest, constrained by weak retail sales and subdued
consumer confidence. Against this backdrop, the Group focused
on executing its core strategies across the Food and Home Care
businesses, while making prudent investments to strengthen
human resources, R&D, and technology. Moderated raw material
costs, stable volumes, and disciplined cost management enabled
the Group to deliver a 51% increase in profit and improved
margins, underscoring our resilience in navigating complex market
conditions.

The Group’s cash position remained robust, providing flexibility
to pursue both organic and inorganic growth while sustaining a
stable dividend policy. The Board is pleased to recommend a final
dividend of HK$0.33 per share. In addition to the interim dividend
of HK$0.15 per share already paid, the total dividend for the year
will amount to HK$0.48 per share.

Strategic Overview

At the start of FY24/25, the Group conducted a comprehensive
organisational review. We streamlined key functions while
bringing in new talent and expertise at multiple levels. This
renewal has strengthened leadership and created more fit-for-
purpose structures, which will remain a priority and subject to
ongoing review as we build capabilities for the future.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEEIREHRES

In the Food Division, the Flour business continued to face
headwinds but responded with greater emphasis on sales
execution, new customer acquisition, and customised solutions.
The launch of health-oriented products such as Highland Barley
Flour premix reflected our commitment to innovation and to
meeting evolving consumer preferences. The Specialty Fats
business gained momentum, delivering encouraging sales growth
and establishing a stronger foundation for expansion.

In Edible Qil, weak sentiment and heightened price competition
persisted. The Group focused on fundamentals: strengthening
brand equity and innovation pipelines for our flagship Knife brand,
and enhancing resources across marketing, e-commerce, and
R&D. Cost tailwinds and our ability to sustain volume in a difficult
and highly competitive environment drove the improvement in
profitability for the Food Division.

The Home Care Division maintained a healthy growth trajectory,
supported by product innovation, category expansion, and
supply chain improvements. Beyond dishwashing products, solid
performance in other categories highlighted opportunities for
brand extension. Our new plant project in Guangzhou Conghua
district remains in progress. Once completed, this investment will
enhance operational efficiency, optimise costs, and strengthen
ESG alignment, positioning the Division for long-term growth in
Mainland China.

Recognising the importance of technology, the Group advanced its
digitalisation agenda by automating core processes and improving
information flow across sales, procurement and finance functions.
With the emergence of artificial intelligence, it is imperative
that we accelerate our digital transformation to capture the
benefits of these new technologies and strengthen long-term
competitiveness. Accordingly, we will prioritise investment in
both talent and systems to achieve our digitalisation objectives.
Looking forward, our focus will be on upgrading supply chain,
procurement, sales and marketing, and R&D functions through
further digitalisation.

The Group also advanced its ESG agenda. In response to
evolving regulatory requirements, we enhanced climate-related
disclosures, strengthened systems for metric tracking, and set new
sustainability targets. In the coming year, leadership and employee
training in ESG, together with strengthening related capabilities
in selected functions, will be key priorities. We are committed
to integrating ESG more deeply into our strategies, ensuring
sustainable value creation for all stakeholders.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEEIREHRES

Outlook

The macroeconomic environment is expected to remain uncertain,
with potential risks from China‘s property sector, continued
industry “involution,” US trade policy, and global volatility.
Nevertheless, we remain optimistic about opportunities in the
large markets we serve. Reducing the commodity element of our
businesses will remain a key theme, underpinned by ongoing
investment in product innovation, strengthened procurement and
supply chain practices, rigorous cost control, and the continued
development of our leadership team. With these strategies and a
solid balance sheet, the Group is well-positioned to sustain growth
and deliver enhanced returns to shareholders.

On 1 May 2025, Mr. Lim Shueh Hann assumed the role of
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer of the Company.
With his extensive experience and insights, | look forward to
his contributions as he leads the Group into its next phase of
transformation. On behalf of the Board, | would like to express
my sincere gratitude to our shareholders, customers, business
partners, bankers, employees, and my fellow Directors for their
steadfast support and commitment to the Group.

KWEK Leng Hai
Chairman

Hong Kong, 16 September 2025
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

E 3 E1 -

OVERVIEW

In FY24/25, the Group operated in a subdued consumer
environment marked by downtrading and intense competition.
While selective pricing adjustments were necessary to sustain
volumes and defend market share, moderated wheat and oil
costs provided some relief compared to the previous year. Agile
procurement strategies, together with prudent management
of operating expenses, were critical in protecting margins
and profitability. In parallel, the Group advanced initiatives to
strengthen its talent pool, digital and R&D infrastructures, and new
product development pipelines to support long-term growth.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Group reported revenue of HK$4,829 million, broadly stable
against the previous year. Gross profit margin improved by 2.3
percentage points to 23.2%, reflecting favourable raw material
costs, an optimised sales mix, and improved production efficiency.
Net profit margin rose by 2.2 percentage points to 6.3%, with
Group profit increasing by 51% to HK$303 million.
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

E 3 E1 -

BUSINESS REVIEW

Food Segment

The Food Segment delivered revenue of HK$3,946 million, a
marginal decline of 2% from last year, but operating profit rose
strongly by 55% to HK$293 million.

The Flour business continued to face weak market conditions
but remained resilient through a focus on premiumisation and
customised solutions. A notable initiative during the year was the
launch of Highland Barley Flour premix, developed in partnership
with industry leaders, to capture demand from health-conscious
consumers. This product has gained early traction across bakery
chains, frozen dough producers, and food manufacturers.
At the same time, restructuring and ongoing optimisation of
sales and technical teams in Mainland China has strengthened
responsiveness to evolving customer needs.

The Specialty Fats business delivered encouraging momentum,
with sales and margins improving significantly from a small base.
By leveraging synergies with the Flour distribution and technical
platforms, the business has become an increasingly important
growth driver. Bundled and customised solutions, together with
volume growth from existing and new customers, are expected to
enhance plant utilisation and reinforce the Group's presence in this
segment.

The Edible Oil business benefited from reduced input cost
pressures, which provided greater financial flexibility. However,
competition in Mainland China remained intense. The Group
adopted agile pricing strategies to support volume while
expanding its presence in new retail channels such as e-commerce
and 020 platforms. While these actions supported volume
growth, careful monitoring of distributor inventories and
consumer offtake remains a priority in a complex retail landscape.
In Hong Kong, despite overall market contraction, the Group
achieved volume growth and market share gains, underscoring the
resilience of the Knife brand.
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

E 3 E1 -

BUS'N ESS REV'EW (continued)

Home Care Segment

The Home Care Segment posted revenue growth of 9% to HK$883
million and operating profit growth of 5% to HK$88 million.
Supply chain optimisation programmes and streamlined marketing
investment contributed to profitability, offsetting higher raw
material costs. The Division remain focused on growth initiatives,
notably innovation in non-core but strategically important
categories, as well as geographic expansion in Mainland China.

In Mainland China, the Division continued to strengthen
penetration in its stronghold markets while extending reach
into other regions. New and more premium products were
launched under the flagship AXE brand in the laundry and floor
care segments, supported by refreshed marketing approaches
to boost brand awareness. In Hong Kong, despite a contracting
dishwashing market, the Group further reinforced its leadership
position with the core AXE Vitamin E range and premium lines
such as AXE Triple Action and AXE Supra.

Our new plant project in Guangzhou Conghua district remains
in progress. This investment will enhance production efficiency,
expand capacity, and align with the Group’s ESG commitments
through more sustainable operations.

OUTLOOK

Looking forward, the Group's strategic priorities remain clear:
to drive product innovation, sustain momentum in digital
transformation, strengthen procurement and supply chain
practices, and continue developing leadership and talent. These
efforts will reduce the commodity element of the businesses,
enhance competitiveness, and support sustainable long-term
growth.
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

E 3 E1 -

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Management has been provided with the following key
performance indicators (“KPIs”) to manage its business, through
evaluating, controlling and setting strategies to improve
performance. Such KPIs include revenue, gross profit margin,
profit for the year, inventory and trade receivable turnover days.

Group Results

For the year ended 30 June 2025, the Group’s revenue reached
HK$4,829 million, indicating a stable performance compared to
the previous year. Gross profit margin increased by 2.3 percentage
points to 23.2%, primarily attributable to favourable movements
in wheat cost and oil cost, as well as sales mix improvement along
with enhanced production cost efficiency. As a result, the Group’s
profit for the year increased by 51% to HK$303 million.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

At 30 June 2025, the Group had a cash balance of HK$1,916
million (2024: HK$1,706 million). About 45% of these funds were
denominated in Renminbi, 32% in United States dollars and 23%
in Hong Kong dollars.

Banking facilities available to Group companies and not yet drawn
as at 30 June 2025 amounted to HK$589 million (2024: HK$585
million).

The Group centralises all the financing and treasury activities at
corporate level. There are internal controls over the application of
financial and hedging instruments which can only be employed to
manage and mitigate the commodity price risk and currency risk
for trade purposes.

At 30 June 2025, the inventory turnover days' were 81 days (2024:
67 days). The trade receivable turnover days? were 24 days (2024:
24 days).

In view of the strong liquidity and financial position, management
believes the Group will have sufficient resources to fund its daily
operations and capital expenditure commitments.

! The calculation of inventory turnover days is based on the closing
balances divided by the preceding 3 months’ cost of sales and
multiplied by 91 days.

2 The calculation of trade receivables turnover days is based on the
closing balances divided by the preceding 3 months’ revenue and
multiplied by 91 days.

BF %5 Bl R

UTHEEXRRER(EZEXRRER] » Bt
REEERAEQAREEEE  BERMAEFMG
ERNEITRBUNEXR IBRAELE
BRA - ERNER - AFERF FERESZE
WERR AR X -

BEZZ-RAFEAA=+THLPHEE K&
B YUk A ZE Z) B #54,829,000,000 7T » EEEF
MEARBRIEFEE - EFNRLM23EEIHE
23.2%  TEARNERARBABREANE
FEg - BLENHEEAEREERERE -
It REBESERIEMNS1%ZE B % 303,000,000
5o

RBEERFHER

RZBE-FEAAZ=1TAH AEERSEH
AB78%1,916,000,000 T (ZE W& : B
1,706,000,0007t) c EFH45%MNEER AR
M 2% RETK23% B o

AHAEBRFAZRAERN2RBITHRER=-S
—HEFANA=1+HABEY589,000,000T(=ZF
— & : E#585,000,0007T) °

AEBRAERETFEEMERERMEES -
ERRTETANEAZIARHRE » WET
RAREERREKERE 5 A A A mERE R
BEEmk o

R-IBE-RHFEAA=1TH FEFEHH AE81H
(ZE-WF :67RH) - EZEWFEFEA
24B(ZZF 4 1 24H) »

ERAEERENREBLERR BB - EF
BHREASEEXZZERBENARLEERES
FSORIEIRR o

' FERABREN ERAREHBBRUA3E
A RETHHEMABRUINRK o

2 5 BRURNEAEXR BT EERRRERE
BRABT3ME A R HIRABRLUITR -

MIE(EB)BRAR | — 2 _HFF® 15



16

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
EH O

400045818 RAMER MR EC R
asRE o B EiEiRE

Lam Soon (Hong Kong) Limited | Annual Report 2025



REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

E 3 E1 -

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Foreign Currency Exposure

The Group has operations in Mainland China, Hong Kong and
Macau. Local costs and revenue are primarily denominated in
Renminbi, Hong Kong dollars, and Macau Patacas.

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through sales
and purchases, which give rise to receivables, payables and
cash balances that are denominated in a foreign currency, i.e. a
currency other than the functional currency of the operations to
which the transactions relate. The Group monitors its exposure by
considering factors including, but not limited to, exchange rate
movement of the relevant foreign exchange currencies as well
as the Group's cash flow requirements to ensure that its foreign
exchange exposure is kept at an acceptable level. Details of the
foreign currency exposure of the Group are set out in note 25(d) to
the financial statements.

Net exchange gains for the year is set out in note 6 to the financial
statements.

Capital Expenditure
During the year ended 30 June 2025, the Group invested a total

sum of HK$59 million (2024: HK$40 million) on acquisition of
plant equipment and other fixed assets.

Details of the capital expenditure commitments are set out in note
26(a) to the financial statements.
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

E 3 E1 -

Human Resources

As at 30 June 2025, there were 1,478 employees in the Group.
Annual increment and year-end performance bonus mechanism
were incorporated in the Group’s remuneration policy to retain,
reward and motivate individuals for their contributions to the
Group. In addition, the Company also operates a share scheme for
granting of share options and/or free shares to eligible employees.

Relation with Shareholders and
Investors

The Company encourages two-way communication with its
stakeholders. Extensive information about the Group’s activities
is provided in the Annual and Interim Reports published by
the Company. The Group also maintains a number of websites
to provide a wide range of information on the Group and its
businesses.
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CORPORATE HIGHLIGHTS

FY25/26 Lam Soon Home Care Distributor Conference in Guangzhou

2526 FEMEIBEZARERADEHBAZ

11 September 2025
2025F9A11H
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CORPORATE HIGHLIGHTS

2025 China International Baking Exhibition
2025 EIBREERES
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19 to 22 May 2025
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CORPORATE HIGHLIGHTS

Lam Soon Highland Barley Flour Premix Launch Event 20 May 2025
FIESREHDRGHE 2025%5H820H
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CORPORATE HIGHLIGHTS
SELE

i

Honour & Awards

REERRRIE

Lam Soon (Sichuan) Food Company Limited was awarded the title
of Demonstration Processing Enterprise under the National Safe
Grain and Oil Demonstration Project

FANE (P9I & f B PR 2 B) SR 4 2 B /O i R 85 T A2 /R 8000 T (36 A8 5%

Shekou Lam Soon Flour Mills Company
Limited “Golden Statue” Highland
Barley Bread Premix and Artisan Series
Flour for Pastry were awarded the
Innovative Product Award at the 27th
China International Baking Exhibition
CAMIEEHERAT [E6GE IFRAE
RO REFERBX AN RESE27EPE
B EERESRAINERR

AN

K k U OB 4 5 b ok R
Sk EAntmx et Shekou Lam Soon Flour Mills Company Limited “Golden
e Ena Statue” was awarded the title of “Shenzhen Top Brand”
ZBE B WORIEENERA R [ SEE 158 DRYIDERE]
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CORPORATE HIGHLIGHTS
SELE

AN

Shenzhen Lam Soon Edible Oils Company, Limited and its brand
“Knife” were honoured with two distinguished awards at the 14th
Top of China National Grains — the “Most Influential Enterprises in
China’s Grain and Oil Industry” and the “Most Influential Brand in
China’s Grain and Oil Industry”

Y EEHBE B PR A B R H fm b [ 7] B |58 5 + PU & 7 BlAE i 4% Il R %R
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Four peanut oils under the “Knife”
brand were awarded the 2025 Superior
Taste Award of the International Taste
Institute
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CORPORATE HIGHLIGHTS

AN

Shenzhen Lam Soon Edible Oils Company, Limited was
awarded the National (Shenzhen) Excellent Enterprises
with Foreign Investment Excellent Tax-Payment and
Turnover (2023)
FYEIEHEERARAKELZECRINESFIBRELESE
BHR(2023FEF)

“AXE" was awarded the Superior Brand
Award under the Super Brands Award
activity held by PARKNnSHOP (HK) Limited
[FHEM IKEFEEEmBRE 2 ERED

an &

“AXE" was awarded the Top Popularity Award of Hong
Kong Pharmacies 2024-2025
[ FORME |8852024- 2025 FERZEBEEE MERE
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CORPORATE HIGHLIGHTS
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Lam Soon Cleaning & Caring Laboratories (Hong Kong)
Company Limited was awarded The Pharmacy Partner
Excellence 2024
MIEEZRERER R (EB)ERAAEE2024FEEHEKE
BIERH

“Knife” was awarded the Superior
Brand Award, Outstanding
Partner Award and Outstanding
Supermarket Brand under the
Super Brands Award activity held
by PARKNSHOP (HK) Limited

[T | KEFEEEmBREZER
Bhme -  ZEEFEBHRREGHE
™ b

'.

N\

“Knife"” was awarded the Top Favourite Brands under
the Supreme Brand Awards activity held by Wellcome
[T | REERFEREREZEARMME
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EESREREREEAER

Mr. KWEK Leng Hai
Age: 72
Tenure as director: ~28 years

Mr. Kwek is the Chairman of the Company since October 2006
and has been a Non-executive Director of the Company since
appointment to the Board in 1997. Mr. Kwek is also the Chairman
of Board Nomination Committee and a member of Board
Remuneration Committee of the Company.

Mr. Kwek is a director and shareholder of GuoLine Capital Assets
Limited (“GCAL"), the ultimate holding company of the Company.
He is the executive chairman of Guoco Group Limited (“GGL"),
a subsidiary of GCAL and listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”). He is also
a non-executive director of GuocoLand Limited (“GuocolLand”,
GGL's subsidiary listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited ("SGX-ST")). He serves as a non-executive director
of Hong Leong Bank Berhad (“HLBB”, a listed subsidiary of
Hong Leong Financial Group Berhad (“HLFG"”, GGL's associated
company listed on Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa
Malaysia”))) and Bank of Chengdu Co., Ltd. (an associated
company of HLBB and listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange).

Mr. Kwek qualified as a chartered accountant of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. He has extensive
experience in various business sectors, including but not limited
to finance, investment, manufacturing and real estate. He is the
brother-in-law of Dr. WHANG Sun Tze, a Non-executive Director of
the Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EESREREREEAER

Mr. LIM Shueh Hann
Age: 37
Tenure as director: ~1 year

Mr. Lim is an Executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer
("CEQ") of the Company since May 2025. Mr. Lim is also currently
the acting General Manager of the Edible Oils and Home Care
Divisions of the Company.

Mr. Lim holds a Bachelor of Laws (Hons) and Bachelor of
Commerce, majored in Finance, from the University of Melbourne,
Australia. Mr. Lim joined the Company in 2014. Before assuming
the CEO position, he was the General Manager of the Company’s
e-Commerce Division, where he led the growth of the Company’s
Home Care, Edible Oil, and Flour brands on major e-Commerce
and 020 platforms in Mainland China. Prior to that, he worked
in the Managing Director’s Office as Manager of Special Projects,
where he was involved in the Company’s major growth and
corporate development initiatives across all business divisions of
the Group.

Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Lim was a senior analyst at
Morgan Stanley’s Asia Pacific Financial Institutions Group in Hong
Kong, where he focused on the origination and execution of
bank and insurance M&A transactions. Prior to that, he was also
involved in the execution of US and Hong Kong equity capital
market transactions across various industries.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEENEEEEAR

Mr. Christian Karl NOTHHAFT

Age: 60
Tenure as director: ~1 year

Mr. Nothhaft is a Non-executive Director of the Company since
appointment to the Board in April 2024. He is a member of Board
Audit and Risk Management Committee of the Company.

Mr. Nothhaft serves as an executive director and the chief
executive officer of GGL and a non-executive director of The Rank
Group Plc (GGL's subsidiary listed on London Stock Exchange).

Mr. Nothhaft graduated from Munich University of Applied
Science in Germany with a Bachelor of Arts Degree in Hospitality
and Tourism Management and also holds a Human Resources/
Payroll Management Degree from DGFP (German Association
for Human Resource Management). He has also attended the
Harvard University Young Presidents Organisation (YPO) Program.
Mr. Nothhaft has extensive experience in business management
and advisory, strategic planning, retail, consumer products,
network rollouts, e-commerce, digital transformation, people
management, ESG and compliance.

Mr. Nothhaft was the chief executive officer of Watsons Personal
Care Stores, China and the managing director of Watsons
Wine and Fortress Hong Kong. Before that, he was the regional
managing director of Movenpick (Asia Restaurants Group). He
is an independent non-executive director and a member of the
remuneration and nominations committees of DFI Retail Group
Holdings Limited, with primary listing on London Stock Exchange
and secondary listings in Singapore and Bermuda.

Dr. WHANG Sun Tze, rh.n.
Age: 81
Tenure as director: ~41 years

Dr. Whang is a Non-executive Director of the Company since
appointment to the Board in 1984.

Dr. Whang is a director and a shareholder of each of SGR
Investment Company, Limited and T.C. Whang & Company
(Private) Limited, the shareholders of the Company. He holds a
Doctorate Degree in Chemical Engineering. He is the brother-in-
law of Mr. KWEK Leng Hai.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEENEEEEAR

Mr. Lester Garson HUANG, sss, Jp
Age: 65
Tenure as director: ~12 years

Mr. Huang is an Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company since November 2013. Mr. Huang is the Chairman of the
Board Remuneration Committee and a member of the Board Audit
and Risk Management Committee of the Company.

Mr. Huang is a practicing solicitor and notary public, and is
currently the managing partner and co-chairman of P. C. Woo &
Co., a solicitor firm in Hong Kong. Mr. Huang became a qualified
solicitor of Hong Kong in 1985 and has over 30 years of post-
qualification experience. Mr. Huang graduated with a Bachelor
of Laws Degree from the University of Hong Kong in 1982 and a
Master of Education Degree from the Chinese University of Hong
Kong in 2006. He has extensive experience in legal industry and
public services.

He is a director of Lei Foundation Limited, a Steward of The
Hong Kong Jockey Club (“HKJC") and a director of certain group
companies of HKJC.

In 2002, the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region of the People’s Republic of China (“the HKSAR
Government”) appointed Mr. Huang as a Justice of the Peace. In
2018, the HKSAR Government awarded him a Silver Bauhinia Star
for his public services.

Mr. Huang is an independent non-executive director of GGL
and Kidsland International Holdings Limited (listed on the Stock
Exchange).

Mr. Huang was admitted to the Roll of Honour of the Law Society
of Hong Kong (“Law Society”) in 2021. Previously, he was the
President of the Law Society from 2007 to 2009. He was also a
non-executive director of the Securities and Futures Commission
of Hong Kong (”SFC”) and chaired the Investor and Financial
Education Council (a subsidiary of the SFC). Mr. Huang was a
member of the Hospital Authority and the Hong Kong Monetary
Authority’s Exchange Fund Advisory Committee as well as a non-
executive director of the Urban Renewal Authority. He also served
as the chairman of each of the Council of City University of Hong
Kong and Social Welfare Advisory Committee of the Labour and
Welfare Bureau, a member of the Standing Committee on Judicial
Salaries and Conditions of Service, a director of Pacific Basin
Economic Council Limited as well as other public positions.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
ESENRGEEERAER

Ms. HO Yuk Wai, Joan
Age: 60
Tenure as director: ~6 years

Ms. Ho is an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company
since appointment to the Board in November 2019. She is the
Chairman of the Board Audit and Risk Management Committee
and a member of the Board Nomination Committee of the
Company.

Ms. Ho is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a member of the Chartered Professional
Accountants of Canada. She is also a Chartered Financial Analyst
and a member of the CFA Institute. Ms. Ho graduated from
Queen’s University, Canada with a Bachelor’'s Degree (with
honours) in Commerce.

Ms. Ho has over 30 years of experience in auditing and advisory
services. She was an audit partner of KPMG China financial
services group between 2000 and 2015 and was also in charge of
the firm’s internal audit, risk and compliance services for financial
institutions and the accounting advisory services. Ms. Ho has
extensive experience in capital market transactions and conducting
operational reviews of banks in Hong Kong and the People’s
Republic of China.

Ms. Ho is currently an independent non-executive director of other
non-listed companies.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
ESENRGEEERAER

Ms. CHEUNG Man Ying
Age: 59
Tenure as director: ~1 year

Ms. Cheung is an Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company since appointment to the Board in November 2024. She
is a member of each of the Board Remuneration Committee and
Board Nomination Committee of the Company.

She graduated from Queen’s University of Belfast with a Bachelor’s
Degree in Economics and also holds a Master of Financial
Management Degree from the London School of the Economics
and Political Science.

Ms. Cheung has over 25 years of experience in retail and consumer
products, finance and accounting, business management and
advisory, digital transformation and e-commerce and people
management. She previously held various senior executive
positions with multinational consumer goods companies, including
Henkel Group and Adidas, Greater China.

Ms. Cheung is currently an independent director of Shanghai Lily
and Beauty Cosmetics Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange. She is the owner and chief executive officer of
DIEM International Limited and the owner and director of SLO
International Limited.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERWMES

Corporate Governance Practices

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) has adopted
a new Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”, effective up
to 30 June 2025), based on the principles as set out in Appendix
C1 (the "HKEX Code”) of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules ”). The CG Code is reviewed from time to time and
updated as appropriate to align with the revised provisions of the
HKEX Code.

The Hong Kong Exchange and Clearing Limited (the "HKEX")
revised the HKEX Code (the “Amended HKEX Code”) which took
effect from 1 July 2025, Accordingly, the Company has revised
the CG Code to align with the Amended HKEX Code which is
applicable to the Company from the financial year commenced
from 1 July 2025 and onwards.

Continuous efforts are made to review and enhance the
performance of the Board as well as the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems, disclosure practices
and communication with investors and stakeholders in light of
changes in regulations and developments in best practices. To us,
maintaining high standards of corporate governance practices is
not just complying with the letter of the provisions but also the
intent of the regulations to enhance corporate performance and
accountability.

The Board is of the opinion that the Company has complied with
the applicable HKEX Code throughout the financial year ended 30
June 2025, save for the deviation as disclosed herein.

Pursuant to code provision C.6.2 of the HKEX Code, a board
meeting should be held to discuss the appointment of the
company secretary and the matter should be dealt with by a
physical board meeting rather than a written resolution. The
appointment of proposed company secretary of the Company
(the "Proposed Company Secretary”) were dealt with by a written
resolution of the Board in January 2025. Prior to the execution
of the written resolution, the directors of the Company were
informed of the proposed change of company secretary and were
satisfied that the Proposed Company Secretary possessed the
required qualification and expertise for the position. All directors
of the Company agreed that the matter be dealt with by way of a
written resolution and a physical meeting was not necessary.
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A. CORPORATE VISION & PURPOSE, A. t¥EERTE H EBHE

34

VALUES, CULTURE AND

STRATEGY
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Group Vision & Purpose

The Group’s vision is for its businesses to be long-
term competitive and sustainable enterprises; and in
doing so, create prime value and achieve long-term
sustainable growth for its shareholders.

The strategic intent is to transform the businesses
in the Group, to focus on core businesses, to build
brands and develop competencies. It would include
strategies and action plans to achieve sustainable
global competitiveness and to deliver consistent
compound annual growth in revenue, profits
and free cash flow. This is carried out through
integrating entrepreneurialism with professional
business management as well as strong discipline
and governance.

Group Values

Our Group values below underpin our culture and
serve as a compass in all we do.

Honour To conduct business with honour
=8 IPYEEFi—F 3

Human Resources

SEESRZRE

AEENESRITEAERER
FHARAFHEABRROLE K&
ARRAEREAEE  BRRY
AEHEER -

REENKBERZHEDERE
B EEROER  BYRER
BRBEED  KIMBERBR
TEEFE  NERAFENSIR
BEN > ALHEREA - HEMREB
HRASREFENESFER
R CEREBRELEREHHE
EECEEENBRNLENS
HEmMELT -

SEEER
THEMNEEEEREERMAL

EXWER  BBFABEM—
PIATEI VIS Ra S ¢

To enhance the quality of human resources — as the essence of management

excellence

ABENR RAANDEREZERAEHMERNERE

Entrepreneurship To pursue management vision and foster entrepreneurship

ERBWY BREEESREELERY

Innovation To nurture and be committed to innovation

=k EBERMONEIF

Quality To provide products and services that consistently exceed customers’
expectations

BZx RHE-—EBLEFHENER KRS

Progress To continuously improve existing operations and to position for expansion
and new business opportunities

L TENEREEEENURBBARER B ERBETER

Unity To ensure oneness in purpose, harmony and friendship in the pursuit of

prosperity for all

] BARAABBE -2 MEAFERER

Social Responsibility
HEEE REEM E USRS
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Group Culture 3. HKEXt
Group culture serves as the basis of our business EENIEREMEBLENE
operation. The Board plays a leading role in WeoBEBSeEBELEIE
shaping the corporate culture and reviews this EEEEAG  WAEELET
from time to time. With the Board's oversight, we Wi e EESEMEET » &M
promote compliance and ethical behavior across EEBHEESRREEZITA R
the Group, as well as strict adherence to the code BREIFTRATARDERR
of conduct and corporate policies, together with a N [E) AF I TE 7 ERERAE SR o
whistleblowing framework.
Furthermore, the quality of our people forms the o ETEZRERMELRE
bedrock of our business strategies. The Group HWER AEBRNHEBEERIE
commits to create an inclusive workplace for our BRAMIRE  ERBEXRE
employees which values open communication B REEEAR - RPIEEE
to foster growth. Employees are encouraged to EEOCIDERLRBZ B
collaborate towards shared objectives, seeking EREBHATER > BEER -
win-win solutions and taking ownership of their
progress.
Innovation, creativity, and dedication to continuous SHREZERNEZTS @ 48
improvement are vital qualities for a progressive HAERBIORNEENEAH
organisation. Consequently, we expect all businesses EERE - Bt AMBELE
within the Group to be forward-thinking, adaptable, B EXEIEBREME T
and receptive to new technologies amidst the MONBIRIBINAE L TE - I8
evolving environment. It is through transformation ATEEERBEMTBE - ER
that the Group is able to achieve sustainable global BRER . AEBARERTE
competitiveness and to deliver consistent growth. ENRBEE I RISEER
HIBE(EB)BRAA | ZE_AFFR 35
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CORPORATE VISION & PURPOSE,
VALUES, CULTURE AND
STRATEGY (continued)

4. Group Strategy

With a strong heritage of value creation, the
Group’s entrepreneurial vision guides our operating
businesses to remain relevant, trustworthy,
competitive and sustainable in pursuit of growth
and creation of prime value. We also seek to
advance our development through incorporating
digital technology as part of our Group’s business
strategy. With the growing importance of
environmental, social and governance ("ESG"),
we are also incorporating this in our business
operations and strategic decision-making to derive
sustainable solutions that benefit our stakeholders.
This is all underpinned by achieving a strong and
healthy financial position through strict adherence
to prudent financial disciplines that enhance the
resilience and sustainability of our businesses.

In summary, taking into account the vision, values and
strategy of the Group, the Board considers that they are in
alignment with the Group’s culture.

DIRECTORS
1. Role of the Board

The Board assumes responsibilities for directing the
Company and enhancing its value for shareholders
in accordance with good corporate governance
principles. The main role and responsibilities of the
Board broadly cover, among others, overseeing
the corporate mission, value, culture and broad
strategies; directing and evaluating the conduct and
performance of the Group’s businesses; identifying
principal risks and ensuring the implementation
of appropriate systems to manage these risks;
reviewing and approving key matters such as
financial results, investments and divestments and
other material transactions.

A.

TtEBESERRE F BEE
B - bR KB @)

4. KEKBE

REREBENRESSR &%
BHEXERESIZFRMNEE
EBRISHEBY  EERERR
RIEMEBEENBRTHMIAES
R BFEHE - - REBRFIR
AEFEN - RATSREHB
AR DN JE T VE B3
EBRE -BERE HERE
BIERE #HERERDARE
o BT EMAKMNER
BEFORET - LHIERRRE
MENTRFERRTR - T3
BERETEEMBRANER
RN BRI - RMEARM
EBNME D R ATEN o

BEMS  BERULAL  EXERA
AEENES  EEBRRBEAKH
BISAEA—2 o

EE
1. EEEgCAR

BERRFEXERRA  EFE
BEEERRARBRREAR
AEE BEXS2IEAGRE
EEZHBRE (BREM) BEBERX
BE BEH XLREEX
B EERFGEARERE2E
ERRR BRI ETERE - XE
REBEHERBRZBEERREA
BT R REMERER -
M EE RE - HHRER
HPEARS -
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Role of the Board (continued)

The Board recognises its corporate governance
duties as an ongoing commitment and has
monitored and reviewed the relevant CG Code,
policies, standards and practices of the Company on
corporate governance as well as legal and regulatory
compliance during the year. It has delegated relevant
aspects of the functions to the board committees
and management, where appropriate, to assist it
in discharging its duties. In addition, the Board
has reviewed the Company’s compliance with the
applicable HKEX Code and the disclosure in the
corporate governance report. Through the Board
Nomination Committee, the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior
management was reviewed and monitored.

The Board has overall responsibility for the ESG
matters of the Group and is accountable for setting
forth the sustainability mission and related reporting
framework, and oversees significant policies which
guide the relevant ESG strategies at the business
group level. The Board Audit and Risk Management
Committee is assigned to assist the Board in
monitoring the ESG reporting progress, reviewing
the ESG report as well as managing the related ESG
risks and issues.

The Board has delegated the day-to-day
management and operation of the Group’s
businesses to the management of the Company and
its subsidiaries.

MIE(EB)BRAR | 2=
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Board Composition

The Board during the year and up to the date of this
report comprised the following members:

Chairman
KWEK Leng Hai

Executive Directors
LIM Shueh Hann — Chief Executive Officer o'
CHIU Chao Hsiang, James — Chief Executive Officer "ote?2

Non-executive Directors
Christian K. NOTHHAFT
WHANG Sun Tze

Independent Non-executive Directors
Lester G. HUANG, sBs, JP

HO Yuk Wai, Joan

CHEUNG Man Ying Nete3

LO Kai Yiu, Anthony Nete4

Notes:

1. Mr. LIM Shueh Hann (“Mr. Lim") was appointed as
an executive director and Chief Executive Officer of
the Company with effect from 1 May 2025.

2. Mr. CHIU Chao Hsiang, James (“Mr. Chiu")
resigned as an executive director and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company with effect from
1 May 2025.

3. Mr. CHEUNG Man Ying (“Ms. Cheung”) was
appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company after the conclusion of
annual general meeting held on 8 November 2024
(the "2024 AGM").

4. Mr. LO Kai Yiu, Anthony (“Mr. Lo") retired as
an independent non-executive director of the
Company by rotation at the conclusion of the 2024
AGM and did not offer himself for re-election.

Lam Soon (Hong Kong) Limited | Annual Report 2025
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Board Composition (continued)

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the
Company (the "Articles of Association”) and the
CG Code, not less than one-third of the directors
shall retire from office by rotation at each annual
general meeting. The directors to retire in every
year shall be those who have been longest in office
since the last election but as between persons who
became directors on the same day shall (unless they
otherwise agree between themselves) be determined
by lot.

Non-executive directors are not appointed for a
specific term. They are subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at the annual general
meetings pursuant to the Articles of Association and
the CG Code.

The Company received confirmation of
independence from each of the independent non-
executive directors (“INEDs”) for the year pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board is of
the view that Mr. Lester G. HUANG, sss, Jp,, Ms. HO
Yuk Wai, Joan and Ms. CHEUNG Man Ying remain
independent.

The brief biographies of the current directors,
including their length of tenure and the family
relationships among the Board members, if any,
are disclosed in the “Board of Directors and Senior
Management” section of this annual report.
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Chairman, Executive Director and Chief
Executive Officer (“CEO")

Currently, Mr. KWEK Leng Hai is the Chairman of the
Company. The Chairman sets the vision and strategic
direction of the Group, leads the Board and ensures
its smooth and effective functioning.

Mr. LIM Shueh Hann is the Executive Director
and CEO of the Company and is responsible for
implementing policies and Board decisions, initiating
business ideas and corporate strategies, setting the
benchmark and targets for operating companies,
overseeing the day-to-day operations and tracking
compliance and business progress.

The roles of the Chairman and the CEO are separate
with clear division of responsibilities.

Board Process

The Board meets regularly, at least four times a
year. Additional board meetings are held whenever
warranted. For the year ended 30 June 2025, a total
of four board meetings were held.

The directors are at liberty to propose matters as
appropriate to be included in the meeting agendas.
Board agenda items are reviewed by the Chairman
and/or CEO of the Company. Board papers are
circulated prior to board meetings on a timely
manner, which include, among others, financial and
corporate information, significant operational and
corporate issues and business performance of the
Group as well as material or notable transactions
which require the approval of the Board.

Where appropriate, decisions are also taken by
way of circulated resolutions with supporting
explanations and materials, supplemented by
additional verbal or written information from the
Company Secretary or other executives as and when
needed. Monthly updates on the Group's business
are provided to the directors of the Company to
allow their assessment of the Group’s financial
performance and position.
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All directors have separate and independent access
to senior management and also have access to the
advice and services of the Company Secretary and
internal auditor, and upon reasonable request,
independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company'’s expense, if any.

Details of directors’ attendance at the board
meetings and 2024 AGM held during the year are as

ExgiRrF@E)

FEEEAUSARBLMERS
BEEAE  XAMBSARARSE
RAMSZHANERNER - U
REGEERT  TREENE
MEBRBUBXZR - EAHEAN
DA (WA) °

RAFE ESHEEEEER
E-ZE_MNERRBFEFEZH

follows: RSN
Board
Meetings 2024 AGM
attended/ attended/
eligible to eligible to
attend attend
—E-ME
EZE8E BRRBEFEES
HERE HERE
Tl R E Tl ERE
Chairman: FE
KWEK Leng Hai BLE 4/4 171
Executive Directors: HITESE .
LIM Shueh Hann et TRE 171 N/A T3
CHIU Chao Hsiang, James Nete2 Jiilf=—F<en 3/3 11
Non-executive Directors: EHITESE :
Christian K. NOTHHAFT Christian K. NOTHHAFT (Z&&R1=) 4/4 11
WHANG Sun Tze H5EE 4/4 1/1
Independent Non-executive BYFHTES
Directors:
Lester G. HUANG, sss, Jp BERfl #eHeEs  ATVHL 4/4 171
HO Yuk Wai, Joan EE 4/4 171
CHEUNG Man Ying Nete? R B 2/2 N/A i
LO Kai Yiu, Anthony Note 4 ERENE 212 171
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Board Process (continued)

Notes:

1. Mr. Lim was appointed as an Executive Director
and CEO of the Company with effect from 1 May
2025. One board meeting was held and no general
meeting was held during the period from 1 May
2025 (his date of appointment) to 30 June 2025.

2. Mr. Chiu resigned as an Executive Director and the
CEO of the Company with effect from 1 May 2025.
Three board meetings and the 2024 AGM were
held during the period from 1 July 2024 up to 1
May 2025 (his date of resignation).

3. Ms. Cheung was appointed as an INED after the
conclusion of the 2024 AGM. Two board meetings
were held and no general meeting was held during
the period from 8 November 2024 (her date of
appointment) up to 30 June 2025.

4. Mr. Lo retired as an INED by rotation at the
conclusion of the 2024 AGM and did not offer
himself for re-election. Two board meetings and
the 2024 AGM were held during the period from
1 July 2024 up to 8 November 2024 (his date of
retirement).

Board Independence

Pursuant to the CG Code, the Company has put in
place mechanisms within our governance framework
to ensure that independent views and input are
available to the Board.

During the year, the Board had reviewed
the implementation and effectiveness of the
mechanisms and is of the view that such
mechanisms are effective. The key mechanisms
under the Company’s governance framework are
summarised below:
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Board Independence (continued)

Composition of the Board and Board
Committees

The Board comprises more than one-third of INEDs.
The Board Audit and Risk Management Committee,
Board Remuneration Committee and Board
Nomination Committee comprise a majority of INEDs
with the former two committees chaired by INEDs.

The composition of the Board is reviewed by the
Board Nomination Committee annually to ensure
that the number of INEDs meets or exceeds the
independence requirements under the Listing Rules.

Directors’ Responsibilities

As set out in the terms of reference of the Board, it
is the responsibility of the directors (including INEDs)
to make positive contribution to the development
of the Company’s strategy and policies through
independent, constructive and informed comments.
Directors with different views are encouraged
to voice their concerns so as to ensure that
independent views and input are available to the
Board.

The Chairman encourages a culture of openness and
debate by facilitating the effective contribution of
non-executive directors in particular and ensuring
constructive relations between executive and non-
executive directors.

Criteria to Assess Independence of INEDs on
Appointment and Re-election

The suitability of the candidates for appointment
and the directors subject to re-election as an INED
is assessed based on the assessment criteria and
guidelines as set out in the Company’s Nomination
Policy, including among others, their independence
and potential/actual conflicts of interest that may
arise if the candidate is appointed/re-elected.
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Board Independence (continued)
Annual Review of Independence of INEDs

Annual review of independence of INEDs is
conducted by the Board Nomination Committee
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

INED’s Remuneration

None of the INEDs receive remuneration based on
performance of the Group.

Independent Professional Advice

External independent professional advice is
available to all directors, including INEDs, whenever
considered appropriate.

Meetings with INEDs

The Chairman at least annually meets with INEDs
without the presence of other directors to facilitate
INEDs to express their views.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company had adopted the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules (the
“Model Code”) as the code of conduct governing
directors’ securities transactions.

All directors during the year, following specific
enquiry by the Company, have confirmed that they
have complied with the required standard set out in
the Model Code throughout the year.
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7. Dividend Policy

Pursuant to the HKEX Code, the Board has adopted
a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) which is set
out as follows:

o The Company intends to create long
term value for its shareholders through
maintaining a balance between dividend
distribution, preserving adequate liquidity
and reserve to meet its working capital
requirements, and capturing future growth
opportunities.

o Pursuant to the Dividend Policy, the
Board may propose/declare the payment
of dividend(s) after taking into account
the current financial performance of the
Company, the future financial requirements
of the Company and any other factors the
Board may deem relevant.

o The Board may also decide on the frequency
of dividend payment and further declare/
recommend any special distributions.
Dividend(s) may be in the form of cash,
shares, distribution in-specie or any other
form as the Board may determine.

The Board reviews the Dividend Policy from time to
time and update, amend, modify and/or cancel the
Dividend Policy at any time in the interest of the
Company and its shareholders.
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8.

Whistleblowing Policy

To foster a productive workforce and maintain high
standards of business ethics, we have established
a whistleblowing policy that outlines confidential
and anonymous channels for reporting concerns
and actual or suspected misconduct, malpractice
or non-compliance by any staff and/or external
parties in any matter related to the Group. A
whistleblower will be protected from retaliation,
adverse employment action or legal action by the
Group where the report is made in good faith. The
Whistleblowing Policy is reviewed annually by the
Board Audit and Risk Management Committee to
ensure its effectiveness.

More details on the Whistleblowing Policy
are disclosed in the "Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” of the Company
which is available at the Company’s website at
www.lamsoon.com.

All information received shall be handled by the
Group Internal Audit or other relevant investigation
departments, with the findings reported to
senior management and the Board Audit and
Risk Management Committee of the Company.
Management may take disciplinary action against
any persons found to have committed misconduct,
malpractice or non-compliance, and the matter
may be reported and information may be provided
to the police or relevant authorities/governing or
professional bodies as the findings may call for.

Our whistleblowing channels are:

Email: whistleblowing@lamsoon.com
Letter: Group Internal Audit

Hong Kong

Lam Soon (Hong Kong) Limited

21 Dai Fu Street, Tai Po Industrial Estate,
Tai Po, New Territories,

Hong Kong

Mainland China

Lam Soon Group

18th Floor, Lifeng Center,
Yuexiu District, Guangzhou,
Guang Dong Province,

The People’s Republic of China
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9.

10.

Anti-corruption Policy

The Group acknowledges the importance of anti-
corrupt behaviours in establishing itself as a
sincere and reputed industry player, the Group
has implemented policies on anti-corruption and
procedures concerning offering or accepting gifts
and gratuities, which require employees to consider
the appropriateness of the giving and receiving of
gifts and hospitality. Staff handbook and code of
conduct are disseminated to all employees, who are
required to become acquainted with and to abide by
these policies and procedures.

During the reporting period, we were not aware
of any material non-compliance with laws and
regulations regarding anti-corruption.

More details on the anti-corruption are disclosed in
the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report”
of the Company which is available at the Company’s
website at www.lamsoon.com.

Directors’ Continuous Training and
Development Programme

Pursuant to the HKEX Code, all directors should
participate in continuous professional development
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board
remains informed and relevant.

The Company has put in place training and
development programmes for directors which
includes (1) induction/familiarisation programme
for newly appointed directors; and (2) on-going
training and professional development programme
for directors.
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10.

Directors’ Continuous Training and
Development Programme (continued)

Ms. Cheung, who was appointed as INED of the
Company after the conclusion of the 2024 AGM
attended a training session conducted by an external
legal advisor from a firm of solicitors and obtained
legal advice pursuant to Rule 3.09D of the Listing
Rules on 21 October 2024. She confirmed that
she understood her obligations as a director of the
Company.

Mr. Lim, who was appointed as Executive Director
and CEO of the Company with effect from 1 May
2025 attended a training session conducted by an
external legal advisor from a firm of solicitors and
obtained legal advice pursuant to Rule 3.09D of the
Listing Rules on 24 April 2025. He confirmed that
he understood his obligations as a director of the
Company.

During the year ended 30 June 2025, all directors
namely, Messrs. KWEK Leng Hai, LIM Shueh Hann
(appointed on 1 May 2025), CHIU Chao Hsiang,
James (resigned on 1 May 2025), Christian K.
NOTHHAFT, WHANG Sun Tze, Lester G. HUANG,
sBs, Jp, Ms. HO Yuk Wai, Joan, Ms. CHEUNG Man
Ying (appointed on 8 November 2024) and Mr. LO
Kai Yiu, Anthony (retired on 8 November 2024)
received regular briefings and updates on the
Group's business, operations, risk management,
corporate governance and ESG matters. Materials
on new or changes to salient laws and regulations
applicable to the Group were provided to the
directors. They also attended regulatory update
sessions and seminars on relevant topics. All
directors are requested to provide the Company with
their respective training record pursuant to the CG
Code.

Lam Soon (Hong Kong) Limited | Annual Report 2025

B. £

10.

ESHEBIIRBRRERE@)

RZZ_NERRBEEEER
BEZEBARQTBILFEBITE
ENRZLITENR=ZZ-_WE+A
—+—BHFRIMBEEEHT
KL EREREAE 2 > WRE
EHBEBE3 0D IRERERER
B FRIATHEERERQTE
EHBE -

R-ZB_HA5HR-BREBZEEAR
RRATHATESRITHARMOM
EEER-E-HEFEHA=+E
A HFERMBEMER TR AR
BB ZEZ > YRE TR
BIZE3.09DIREHUEERR - KiE
RTBEERTRRESHRE -

RIE_RFEARNA=Z+THLEEE
A ERES(BLFELE M2
BEE(RZ-E-_HEFHB—H
Z) BEHFEE(KR=-Z=H
FHAB—HEE)  Christian K.
NOTHHAFT(ZE®8Z) £4% - E L
IhAE  ERMALE  puemes.
Aemr  AEELZ T REHRL

T(R=ZZE-MFE+—-—ANHZ
FIRERMBEE(RZEZNF
+—BNBEE)) EHEWEE
AEFER L€ EARER
ﬂé%%/n &Iﬁtﬂ ?ié&%:/ﬁg
B EHEARRHER - EE
TEREBEAREAEBZEXE
BRER2EBHIREEE
Bo-HETHEEEAREZEE
FHERERMTAE - REGET
BTH AAREREBESIR
ML ER B 2T o



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERWMES
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C. EEH

Board Remuneration Committee (“BRC")

The Company established the BRC on 1 July
2005 with specific written terms of reference in
accordance with the requirements of HKEX which
deal clearly with its authority and duties.

The principal role and functions of the BRC are to
make recommendations to the Board on the policy
and structure for the remuneration of directors and
senior management, as well as to determine, with
delegated responsibility from the Board as described
under Code E.1.2(c) of the HKEX Code, the
individual remuneration packages of all executive
director and senior management, including benefits
in kind, pension rights and compensation payment,
which may include any compensation payable for
loss or termination of their office or appointment.
It is also responsible to review and approve matters
relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules. Detailed terms of reference of
the BRC is accessible on the Company’s website
at www.lamsoon.com and HKEX's website at
www.hkexnews.hk.

Membership and attendance
For the year ended 30 June 2025, the members of

the BRC and their attendance at the meetings are set
out below:
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(continued)

1. Board Remuneration Committee (“BRC")
(continued)

Membership and attendance (continued)

Notes:

1.

Ms. Cheung was appointed as a member of the
BRC after the conclusion of the 2024 AGM. One
BRC meeting was held during the period from 8
November 2024 (her date of appointment) to 30
June 2025.

Mr. Lo retired as an INED by rotation at the
conclusion of the 2024 AGM and did not offer
himself for re-election and ceased to be a member
of the BRC on even date. Two BRC meetings were
held during the period from 1 July 2024 to 8
November 2024 (his date of retirement).

Work done during the year

reviewed and recommended directors’ fees
for non-executive directors for the financial
year 2023/24,

reviewed and approved the discretionary
bonuses for executive director and senior
management for the financial year 2023/24;

conducted annual review of the remuneration
packages of executive director and senior
management for the calendar year 2025;

reviewed and approved the remuneration
package of the executive director and CEO
of the Company and senior management
appointed during the year;

reviewed and approved the proposed new
executive share scheme 2024 (the "ESS
2024") of the Company and recommended
the Board to submit for shareholders’
approval at the 2024 AGM,;
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(continued)

Board Remuneration Committee (“BRC")
(continued)

Work done during the year (continued)

- reviewed the matters relating to Executive
Share Option Scheme (expired) and the ESS
2024,

- reviewed the remuneration policy for
directors and senior management;

- reviewed the terms of reference of the
BRC and recommended proposed changes
thereto; and

- deliberated the statement relating to the BRC
for inclusion in the Corporate Governance
Report.

Level and Make-up of Remuneration

The Group’s remuneration policy for executive
director and senior management is linked to
performance, service seniority, experience and scope
of responsibility and is based on the provisions in
the Group’s Human Resources Manual, which is
reviewed from time to time to align with market/
industry practices.

The level of remuneration of non-executive directors
reflects the level of responsibilities undertaken by
them. The fees of directors, including non-executive
directors, are recommended and endorsed by the
Board for shareholders’ approval at the Company’s
annual general meetings. Details of directors’
remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2025 are
provided in note 9 to the Financial Statements in this
annual report.
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Board Nomination Committee (“BNC")

The Company established the BNC on 1 April
2012 with specific written terms of reference in
accordance with the requirement of HKEX which
deal clearly with its authority and duties.

The principal role and functions of the BNC is
to make recommendations to the Board on the
structure, size and composition and skills matrix of
the Board, to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy, to review the independence of INEDs, the
suitability of directors who will stand for re-election
and directors’ continuous training and development
programme, to assess directors’ time commitment
and contribution to the Board, to formulate, review
and implement a policy for the nomination of
directors (including nomination procedures) and to
formulate policies concerning board and workforce
diversity, monitor the implementation of such
policies and to review the same, as appropriate,
as well as to support regular evaluation of the
Board’s performance. Detailed terms of reference
of the BNC is accessible on the Company’s website
at www.lamsoon.com and HKEX's website at
www.hkexnews.hk.

Membership and attendance

For the year ended 30 June 2025, the members of
the BNC and their attendance at the meetings are
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(continued)

1. Board Nomination Committee (“BNC")
(continued)

Membership and attendance (continued)

Notes:

1. Ms. Cheung was appointed as a member of the
BNC after the conclusion of the 2024 AGM. One
BNC meeting was held during the period from 8
November 2024 (her date of appointment) up to 30
June 2025.

2. Mr. Lo retired as an INED by rotation at the
conclusion of the 2024 AGM and did not offer
himself for re-election and ceased to be a member
of the BNC on even date. Two BNC meetings were
held during the period from 1 July 2024 up to 8
November 2024 (his date of retirement).

Work done during the year

- assessed the suitability of 1) a candidate
for appointment as an executive director
and the CEO of the Company; and 2) a
candidate for appointment as an INED and
board committee members of the Company
pursuant to the Nomination Policy and the
Board Diversity Policy;

- reviewed the structure, size, composition and
diversity of the Board (including the mix of
skills, knowledge, experience, competences
of directors, and the balance between
executive directors, non-executive directors
and INEDs) annually and determined the
target and timeline for achieving the Board'’s
gender diversity, if required;

- reviewed and accessed the independence of
INEDs of the Company;
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(continued)

1. Board Nomination Committee (“BNC")
(continued)

Work done during the year (continued)

reviewed and assessed the suitability of
the directors who stood for re-election at
the annual general meeting pursuant to
the process and criteria as set out in the
Nomination Policy;

reviewed the continuous training and
development programmes undertaken by
directors to ensure that an appropriate
program is in place;

reviewed the terms of reference of the
BNC and the Board Diversity Policy and
recommended proposed changes thereto;

reviewed the Nomination Policy;

reviewed and recommended establishment
of the workforce diversity policy of the
Company; and

deliberated the statement relating to the BNC
for inclusion in the Corporate Governance
Report.
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(continued)

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted the Board Diversity
Policy. Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the
Company recognises and embraces the benefits
of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality
of its performance. The Company maintains that
selection of candidates for Board appointments
will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service
and the ultimate decision will be based on merit and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring
to the Board. The BNC reviews the implementation
and effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy on
annual basis.

Assessment and selection of candidates for Board
succession will be made pursuant to the objectives
of the Board Diversity Policy. While conscious
efforts are being taken to achieve board diversity,
new appointments are ultimately made on a merit
basis taking into account available and suitable
candidates. With a view to achieving a sustainable
and balanced development, the BNC reviews
annually the structure, size, composition and
diversity of the Board and the Board confirms that
its composition complies with the Listing Rules and
reflects an appropriate mix of education disciplines,
professional experiences and skill set.
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Board Diversity Policy (continued)

The Company is committed to enhancing gender
diversity at Board level. As at 30 June 2025, the
Company has two female directors representing
28.6% of the Board. The Company targets to
maintain at least the current level of female
representation on the Board. The Company will
continue to monitor the need for appointing
members of particular gender in order to maintain/
enhance diversity, if desired or necessary. The
Company will identify suitable candidates by way of
referral from directors, shareholders, management
or advisors of the Company, etc. and may seek
assistance from external executive search firms as
and when required.

During the year, Mr. LIM Shueh Hann, who was
appointed Executive Director and CEO of the
Company and Ms. CHEUNG Man Ying, who was
appointed INED of the Company, enhanced the
board diversity by bringing to the Board their
professional knowledge and experience in retail
and consumer products, business management
and advisory, finance and accounting, sales and
marketing, people management, e-commerce and
digital transformation, etc. The extensive education
background and professional experience of the
Board members facilitate effective decision-making
process with each director providing constructive
advice and contribution to the Board.

The Board is currently diversified in terms of age,
gender, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service. The directors possess various
skills and professional experience ranged from,
amongst others, finance, accounting, legal, business
management & advisory, people management and
merger & acquisition. The implementation of the
Board Diversity Policy is considered to be effective
and appropriate.
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(continued)

Nomination Policy

The Board has adopted the Nomination Policy which
serves as a guiding mechanism and framework
for the BNC on the process for new appointments
of directors, CEO and board committee members
as well as the re-appointment and assessment of
directors.

Under the Nomination Policy, the BNC will assess
potential candidates based on various assessment
criteria, including the candidate’s age, skills,
knowledge, experience, expertise, professional and
educational qualifications, potential/actual conflicts
of interest with the Group and time commitments
as well as the overall desired Board composition
and the mix of expertise and experience of the
Board as a whole. In case of appointment and re-
appointment of INEDs, the BNC will also assess the
independence of the candidates pursuant to the
criteria set out in the Listing Rules. The BNC will
make recommendations to the Board in respect of
the appointment and re-election.

The BNC reviews annually the Nomination Policy
to ensure its effectiveness and application, and will
update, amend and modify as appropriate to ensure
it continues to be relevant to needs of the Company
and is consistent with regulatory and corporate
governance requirements.

The Nomination Policy is accessible on the
Company’s website at www.lamsoon.com.

MIE(EB)BRAR | 2=

D. EEZER®

hFFk

REBR

EZSCRMBEREE  WMER
REZSEZAHES THER
NESEREERE  URER
K EESRFNESHGI RE

o

RBEEEER  REZSRESE
AHEREFREEIREA 0 B
RBANFR  KEE--AF &
BER EXNEMERE - A
EEELT BRENRNBFERERR
ANBE URBEEEENES
SHRNEEESSNEXNH
RERNES  REREEBY
FHTESH  BEETFERE
WA E R R EAR
Byt REEEMEENER
MESSRHES -

REZSSFRAREEEE - UE
FREBREMBE A - EAE
EENER BT MER - M
REEBEBRS QT HFERAGEA -

HEEENMEEERER -

REBRRATRAQAE ZH4

www.lamsoon.com L &R °

57


www.lamsoon.com

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

A\ vy " \\
TERERRES

D. DIRECTORS' NOMINATION

(continued)

58

4,

Workforce Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted the Workforce Diversity
Policy of the Company (the “Workforce Diversity
Policy”) effective from 1 July 2025. The Workforce
Diversity Policy aims to set out the Company’s
commitment and approach to achieving diversity
and inclusion within the workforce. The Group
seeks to diversify its workforce across all levels
by welcoming individuals of different expertise,
cultures, backgrounds, genders, languages and
experiences. All employees are provided with equal
opportunities without discriminatory biases and
are evaluated solely according to their capabilities,
competencies and potentials. The BNC will review
the Workforce Diversity Policy from time to time to
ensure its effectiveness.

As at 30 June 2025, the Group had a total of around
1,470 employees. The gender ratio of male to female
in the workforce (including senior management)
is approximately 61% and 39% respectively. The
Board is of the view that appropriate balance of
gender diversity in workforce has been achieved
taking into account the operational needs of the
Group as well as the industry norms, the geography,
local demography and availability of labor of
particular gender of where the Group operates. The
Company will continue to take gender diversity into
consideration during recruiting process.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Board Audit and Risk Management
Committee (“"BARMC")

The Company established the Board Audit
Committee on 29 December 1998 with specific
written terms of reference in accordance with the
requirements of HKEX which deal clearly with its
authority and duties. On 17 February 2016, the
Board has resolved to rename the Committee as
Board Audit and Risk Management Committee.

The BARMC oversees the financial reporting
process, assesses the adequacy and effectiveness
of the Company's financial reporting, risk
management and internal control systems, oversees
the Company’s ESG matters including, among
others, monitoring the ESG reporting progress
and reviewing the ESG report as well as the ESG-
related risks and issues. The BARMC meets with
the Company’s external and internal auditors,
and reviews their audit plans, the internal audit
programmes, and the results of their examinations
as well as their evaluations of the risk management
and internal control systems. The BARMC reviews
the Group’s and the Company’s financial statements
and the auditors’ report thereon and submits its
views to the Board. Detailed terms of reference
of the BARMC are accessible on the Company’s
website at www.lamsoon.com and HKEX's website
at www.hkexnews.hk.
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E. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT E. BEMNEZ @
1.  Board Audit and Risk Management EEgERREREEZES
Committee (“BARMC") (continued) (l&Z=g]) (&)
Membership and attendance HEHEE
For the year ended 30 June 2025, the members of BE_ZE_AF~A=1+HLE
the BARMC and their attendance at the meetings are E BESsRERKE 2SS
set out below: HEZRMT :
BARMC
Meetings
attended/
eligible to
attend
EEZEER
HERE,
] R E
Ms. HO Yuk Wai, Joan* MEE L~ 5/5
— Chairman of the BARMC Note — HFEZEEENE
Mr. Christian K. NOTHHAFT® Nete 2 Christian K. NOTHHAFT 3/3
(FBERZ) et amiz2
Mr. Lester G. HUANG, sBs, JP* ERMASNE  wunes AFHLr 5/5
Mr. LO Kai Yiu, Anthony* ERUBSEAE 2/2
— Chairman of the BARMC Note 3 — HEEEENE
@ Non-executive Director ° FHITEE
*  Independent Non-executive Director BUHBITEE

Notes:

1.

60

Ms. HO Yuk Wai, Joan was re-designated as the
chairman of the BARMC after the conclusion of the
2024 AGM.

Mr. Christian K. NOTHHAFT was appointed as a
member of the BARMC after the conclusion of the
2024 AGM. Three BARMC meetings were held
during the period from 8 November 2024 (his date
of appointment) to 30 June 2025.

Mr. Lo retired as an INED by rotation at the
conclusion of the 2024 AGM and did not offer
himself for re-election and ceased to be the
chairman of the BARMC on even date. Two BARMC
meetings were held during the period from 1
July 2024 up to 8 November 2024 (his date of
retirement).
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E. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

(continued)

1. Board Audit and Risk Management
Committee ("BARMC") (continued)

Membership and attendance (continued)

The CEO, CFO and Group Head of Internal Audit
are normal attendees of the BARMC meetings.
Representatives of the external auditor are invited to
attend the BARMC meetings to present their audit
plan, significant audit and accounting matters which
they noted in the course of their audit.

Work done during the year:

- reviewed the fees charged by external
auditors for audit and non-audit services;

- reviewed the nature and scope of external
audit, the independence of external auditor
and effectiveness of the audit process and
approved the external audit fee and the
engagement terms;

- reviewed the external auditor's management
letter, any material queries raised by the
auditor to management about accounting
records, financial accounts or systems of
control, as well as management’s response
thereto;

- reviewed the interim financial report, the
interim results announcement, the annual
accounts and the final results announcement;

- reviewed and discussed with the
management the effectiveness of the risk
management, including among others,
material ESG and climate risks, and internal
control system;

- reviewed the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting
functions, as well as those relating to the
Company's ESG performance and reporting;

- reviewed the Group’s accounting policies and
practices;
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Board Audit and Risk Management
Committee ("BARMC") (continued)

Work done during the year: (continued)

reviewed and approved the annual internal
audit plan;

reviewed major findings of internal
audit assignments and the progress of
implementation of remedial measures on
control issues identified;

reviewed the effectiveness of the processes
for financial reporting and Listing Rules
compliance of the Company;

reviewed connected transactions entered into
by the Group or subsisting during the year;

reviewed the proposed additional ESG
consultancy services;

reviewed the Group Internal Audit Charter,
ERM Policy Manual and Climate Risk
Management Policy and approved proposed
changes thereto;

reviewed the terms of reference of the
BARMC and recommended proposed
changes thereto; and

deliberated the statement relating to the
BARMC for inclusion in the Corporate
Governance Report.
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ERERWMES

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

(continued)

Financial Reporting

The Listing Rules require listed companies to prepare
annual financial statements which shall provide
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
companies and of the results of their operations and
cash flows.

The Board is responsible for ensuring the
maintenance of proper accounting records of the
Group. It has also acknowledged its responsibility for
preparing the financial statements.

The Board approves the financial statements after
taking into account the BARMC’s comments on
specific accounting matters.

The Board is satisfied that appropriate accounting
policies have been used in preparing the financial
statements, consistently applied and complied with
the relevant accounting standards.

The statement of the auditor about their reporting
responsibilities is included in the Independent
Auditors’ Report on pages 87 to 97 of this annual
report.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The risk management and internal control system is
designed to facilitate the effectiveness and efficiency
of operations, safeguard assets against unauthorised
use and disposition, ensure the maintenance of
proper accounting records and the truth and fairness
of the financial statements, and ensure compliance
with relevant legislation and regulations. It provides
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss and manages rather
than eliminates risks associated with its business
activities.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

(continued)

Risk Management and Internal Control
(continued)

The Board, recognising its responsibilities in ensuring
that appropriate and effective risk management and
internal control systems are in place for the purpose
of dealing with identifying risks, safeguarding the
Group's assets, preventing and detecting fraud,
misconduct and loss, ensuring the accuracy of the
Group’s financial reports and achieving compliance
with applicable laws and regulations, has developed
a set of Enterprise Risk Management framework
("ERM Framework"”) for the Group and set forth in
its policy and procedures to assist in:

- identifying the enterprise risks faced by
the Group in the operating environment as
well as evaluating the impact of such risks
identified;

- developing the necessary measures for
managing these risks; and

- monitoring and reviewing the effectiveness
and adequacy of such measures.

The Board has entrusted the BARMC with the
responsibility to oversee the implementation of the
ERM Framework of the Group. In discharging this
responsibility, the BARMC, assisted by the Group
Internal Audit Department (“GIAD"):

- ensures the Group's risk management and
internal control systems are appropriate and
effective;

- ensures that new and emerging enterprise
risks are promptly identified by management;

- assesses the adequacy of action plans and
control systems developed to manage these
risks;
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

(continued)

Risk Management and Internal Control
(continued)

- monitors the implementation of the action
plans and the effectiveness and adequacy of
the control systems; and

- ensures the Group’s risk universe is up-
to-date and risk reports are furnished by
management for the BARMC's review.

The ERM Framework comprises interactive
processes, including risk identification, risk
assessment, risk treatment, risk monitoring, and risk
reporting. These processes enable each business unit
to continuously identify and assess risks in terms of
their potential impact and likelihood of occurrence.
Additionally, they facilitate the establishment and
implementation of relevant procedures and internal
controls for risk mitigation, ongoing monitoring,
and periodic reporting by management. This ensures
that residual risks, after considering risk-mitigating
measures, remain within the Group’s risk appetite/
tolerance.

These on-going processes have been in place, and
reviewed periodically by the BARMC to ensure
their effectiveness, supplemented by other reports
from GIAD on the Group’s internal control and risk
management findings.

The controls built into the risk management
framework are intended to manage and not
expected to eliminate all risks of failure to achieve
business objectives. These controls provide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement of management and financial
information or against financial losses and fraud.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

(continued)

Risk Management and Internal Control
(continued)

The Board, through the BARMC, has conducted
an annual review on the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems for the year ended 30
June 2025 and considers that it is adequate and
effective, covering all material controls, including
financial, operational and compliance controls.
The resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Group’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions, as well as those relating to the Company’s
ESG performance and reporting has been reviewed
and confirmed adequate. The extent and frequency
of communication of the monitoring results to the
BARMC and the Board have also been reviewed and
considered sufficient. The Board is satisfied that the
Group has fully complied with the provisions on risk
management and internal controls as set out in the
CG Code.

Handling and Dissemination of Inside
Information

The Company has established and implemented
relevant procedures and internal controls for the
handling and dissemination of inside information,
including restricting employee access to inside
information on a need-to-know basis and ensuring
that those who need to know understand the
obligation of keeping the information confidential
and refrain in dealing in the relevant securities. All
inside information is disclosed to the public pursuant
to the requirements under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance and the Listing Rules and kept strictly
confidential before disclosure.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

(continued)

4,

Auditors’ Remuneration and Auditor
Related Matters

The fees charged by the Group’s external auditors
for the year in respect of annual audit services
amounted to HK$2,143,000 and those in respect of
non-audit services (tax and other services) amounted
to HK$478,000.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Communication with Shareholders

The Company encourages two-way communication
with both its institutional and private investors.
Extensive information about the Group’s activities is
provided in the interim and annual reports published
by the Company.

The annual general meeting of the Company
provides an opportunity for its shareholders to seek
clarification and to obtain a better understanding
of the Group’s performance. Board members and
representatives from the external auditor will attend
the annual general meetings to answer shareholders’
questions. Shareholders are encouraged to meet and
communicate with the Board at the annual general
meetings and to vote on all resolutions.

In order to promote effective communication, the
Company maintains a website at www.lamsoon.com
to provide:

- latest news, announcements, financials
including interim and annual reports;

- other corporate communication materials,
e.g. notices of meetings, circulars, proxy
forms, etc.;

- details of the arrangements on electronic
dissemination of corporate communications
of the Company and for requesting printed
copies of corporate communications;
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|NVESTOR RELATI O N S (continued)

Communication with Shareholders
(continued)

- corporate calendar for important
shareholders’ dates for current financial year;

- constitutional documents of the Company;

- corporate governance information including
composition and terms of reference of board
committees, corporate governance reports
and various governance policies adopted by
the Company;

- ESG reports and highlights of the Company’s
community care efforts; and

- other information relating to the Group and
its businesses.

Enquiries from individuals on matters relating to
the business of the Group are welcome and are
dealt with in an informative and timely manner.
Shareholders can make any query in respect of
the Group or to make a request for the Group’s
information to the extent such information is
publicly available. The designated contact details are
as follows:

By Post:  Lam Soon (Hong Kong) Limited
21 Dai Fu Street, Tai Po Industrial Estate
Tai Po, New Territories, Hong Kong

By Email: comsec@lamsoon.com

Shareholders’ questions about their shareholdings
are dealt with by Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited, the Company’s share
registrar and transfer office, at Shops 1712-16, 17th
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong.
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|NVESTOR RELATI O N S (continued)

Communication with Shareholders
(continued)

The Company has in place a shareholder
communication policy which sets out the provisions
to ensure that the Company's shareholders are
provided with access to material information about
the Company in a timely manner. The Board has
conducted a review of the implementation and
effectiveness of the shareholder communication
policy during the year ended 30 June 2025
and, having considered the various channels of
communication in place, was satisfied that the
implementation of the policy was effective.

Shareholders’ Rights

The Company has only one class of shares, all shares
have the same voting rights and are entitled to the
dividends declared.

(a)  Rights and procedures for shareholders
to convene extraordinary general
meetings ("EGM")

Subject to the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), the directors shall on the requisition
of shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholder(s)”) representing at least 5% of
the total voting rights of all the shareholder(s)
having a right to vote at general meetings
of the Company, forthwith proceed duly to
convene an EGM of the Company.

The requests must state the general nature of
the business to be dealt with at the meeting
and may include the text of a resolution that
may properly be moved and is/are intended to
be moved at the meeting. The request must
be signed by the requisitionists and deposited
at the registered office of the Company for
the attention of the Company Secretary in
hard copy form.
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F. INVESTOR RELATIONS (continued)

2. Shareholders’ Rights (continued)

(b) Rights and procedures for shareholders
to make proposals at general meetings

(i)

(i)

70

Rights and procedures for a
shareholder to propose a person for
election as a director are as follows:

Pursuant to Article 94 of the
Company’s Articles of Association,
shareholder(s) may send a notice in
writing of the intention to propose
a person for election as a director
and notice in writing by that person
of his willingness to be elected shall
have been delivered to the Company’s
registered office provided that the
minimum length of the period during
which such notices are given, shall be
at least seven days and that the period
for lodgement of the notices shall
commence no earlier than the day
after the despatch of the notice of the
meeting appointed for such election
and end no later than seven days prior
to the date of such meeting.

Rights and procedures for proposing
resolution to be put forward at a
general meeting are as follows:

Shareholder(s) can submit a written
requisition to move a resolution at an
annual general meeting ("AGM") if
they:

- represent at least 2.5% of
the total voting rights of all
shareholders who have a right
to vote on the resolution at the
AGM; or

- at least 50 shareholders who
have a right to vote on the
resolution at the AGM.

F. REZBBER
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(b) BRERRRASLIELZ
BHZEFREF

(i)

(ii)
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|NVESTOR RELATI O N S (continued)

Constitutional Documents

The Articles of Association was amended and the
Company adopted a set of amended and restated
new Articles of Association during the year ended
30 June 2025 in order to (i) bring the Articles in line
with the latest regulatory requirements, including
the Companies Ordinance, the expanded paperless
listing regime and other relevant amendments
made to the Listing Rules which took effect on 31
December 2023; (ii) allow general meetings to be
convened and held as electronic or hybrid meetings;
and (iii) make consequential changes in line with
the aforesaid amendments and other house-keeping
revisions. For further details of these amendments,
please refer to the circular of the Company dated 14
October 2024.

Save for the aforesaid, during the year ended 30
June 2025, there was no significant amendment
to the Company’s Articles of Association, and such
document was published on the websites of the
Company and HKEX.
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) present their
report together with the audited financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 30 June 2025.

Principal Activities

The Company is an investment holding company and the principal
activities of the subsidiaries are set out on pages 205 to 207.

Business Review

A fair review of the business of the Group, a discussion and
analysis of the Group’s performance during the year, financial
key performance indicators, description of the principal risks
and uncertainties facing the Group, particulars of important
events affecting the Group that have occurred since the end
of the financial year (if any) as well as an indication of likely
future development in the business of the Group are provided
throughout this annual report, particularly in the sections headed
Financial Highlights, Chairman’s Statement, Review of Operations,
Corporate Highlights, as well as the Segment Reporting, and
Financial Risk Management and Fair Values in the notes to the
financial statements. A discussion on the Group's compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the Group and an account of the Group’s key relationships with
its stakeholders as well as the Group’s environmental policies
and performance are provided in the “Corporate Governance
Report” in this annual report and the “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” which is available at the Company’s website
at www.lamsoon.com. All such discussions form part of this Report
of the Directors.

Subsidiaries

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out on
pages 205 to 207.

Financial Statements

The profit of the Group for the year, the state of affairs of the
Company and of the Group as at 30 June 2025 and the Group’s
cash flows and statement of changes in equity for the year ended
are set out in the financial statements on pages 98 to 204.
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Dividends

The Directors are recommending a final dividend for the financial
year ended 30 June 2025 of HK$0.33 per share (2024: HK$0.27
per share) totaling approximately HK$80,307,000 (2024:
HK$65,706,000) at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.
In addition to the interim dividend of HK$0.15 per share (2024:
HK$0.13 per share) paid earlier this year, total dividend for the
year amounts to HK$0.48 per share (2024: HK$0.40 per share)
totaling approximately HK$116,810,000 (2024: approximately
HK$97,342,000). Subject to shareholders’ approval, the final
dividend will be payable on Thursday, 4 December 2025 to the
shareholders whose names appear on the register of members on
Wednesday, 19 November 2025.

Closure of Register of Members

For ascertaining shareholders’ right to attend and vote at the
forthcoming annual general meeting:

Closure dates of Register of
Members (both days inclusive)

7 November 2025 (Friday)
to 12 November 2025 (Wednesday)

Latest time to lodge transfers 4:30 p.m. on
6 November 2025 (Thursday)
Record date 12 November 2025 (Wednesday)

Annual General Meeting 12 November 2025 (Wednesday)

For ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement to the proposed final
dividend*:

Closure dates of Register of Members 19 November 2025 (Wednesday)

Latest time to lodge transfers 4:30 p.m. on
18 November 2025 (Tuesday)
Record date 19 November 2025 (Wednesday)

Proposed final dividend payment date 4 December 2025 (Thursday)

(*subject to shareholders” approval at the annual general meeting)

During the periods of the closure of Register of Members, no
share transfers will be registered. For registration, all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the Company’s Share Registrars and Transfer
Office — Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at
Shops 1712-1716, 17/F, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong before the relevant latest time to lodge
transfers.
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Major Customers and Suppliers

Total sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for less
than 30% of the Group’s revenue for the year.

The percentage of total purchases attributable to the Group’s
major suppliers for the year are as follows:

- the largest supplier 10%
- five largest suppliers combined 32%

None of the directors, their close associates or any shareholders of
the Company (which to the knowledge of the directors own more
than 5% of the Company’s issued shares) had an interest in the
major suppliers or customers noted above.

Share Capital

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during
the year are set out in Note 22 to the financial statements.

Reserves

Movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during
the year are set out in note 23 to the financial statements and the
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity on pages 102 to 103
of this annual report respectively.

Equity-Linked Agreements

Other than the Executive Share Scheme 2024 of the Company as
disclosed in this Report, no equity-linked agreement was entered
into by the Company subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year ended 30 June 2025.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of The
Company’s Listed Shares

During the year, the trustee (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company) of the trust set up for the Company’s Executive Share
Option Scheme (with all options lapsed on 8 November 2024) and
the Executive Share Scheme (effective from 13 November 2024),
purchased 75,000 shares of the Company on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited at a total consideration of approximately
HK$657,000 pursuant to the rules and the trust deeds of the
aforesaid schemes.

Save as disclosed above, during the year, neither did the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed shares (including sale of treasury shares, if any).
As at 30 June 2025, the Company did not hold any treasury shares.
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Directors
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are:

KWEK Leng Hai, Chairman*

LIM Shueh Hann, Chief Executive Officer** Note1

CHIU Chao Hsiang, James, Chief Executive Officer** Nete2
Christian K. NOTHHAFT*

WHANG Sun Tze*

Lester G. HUANG, s8s, sPt

HO Yuk Wai, Joan*

CHEUNG Man Ying#Note3

LO Kai Yiu, Anthony#Note4

* Non-executive Director

*x Executive Director

L Independent Non-executive Director

Notes:

1. Mr. LIM Shueh Hann was appointed as an executive director (“ED")

and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO") of the Company with effect
from 1 May 2025.

2. Mr. CHIU Chao Hsiang, James resigned as an ED and CEO of the
Company with effect from 1 May 2025.

3. Ms. CHEUNG Man Ying was appointed as an independent non-
executive director (“INED") after the conclusion of the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 8 November 2024 (the
“2024 AGM").

4. Mr. LO Kai Yiu, Anthony retired as an INED by rotation at the
conclusion of the 2024 AGM and did not offer himself for re-
election.

In accordance with Article 92 of the Company’s Articles of
Association and Code B.2.2 of the Corporate Governance Code
of the Company (the “CG Code”), Mr. Lester G. HUANG, s8Ss, Jp
and Ms. HO Yuk Wai, Joan shall retire from office by rotation at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be
held on 12 November 2025 (the “2025 AGM"). Ms. HO Yuk Wai,
Joan, being eligible, will offer herself for re-election at the 2025
AGM. Mr. Lester G. HUANG, sss, /e has indicated his intention of
retirement and not to offer himself for re-election at the 2025
AGM.

Pursuant to Article 97 of the Company’s Articles of Association,
Mr. LIM Shueh Hann, who has been appointed as an ED and CEO
of the Company with effect from 1 May 2025 and Ms. CHEUNG
Man Ying, who has been appointed as an INED of the Company
after the conclusion of the 2024 AGM, shall hold office until the
2025 AGM and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election
at the 2025 AGM.
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Directors of Subsidiaries

The names of all directors who have served on the boards of
the subsidiaries of the Company during the financial year ended
30 June 2025 or during the period from 1 July 2025 up to
the date of this report is available on the Company’s website
(http://www.lamsoon.com).

Directors’ Service Contracts

No director proposed for re-election at the 2025 AGM has a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries, within
one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

Directors’ Material Interests in
Transactions, Arrangement or
Contracts

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company or any of its
holding company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party,
and in which a director of the Company or an entity connected
with a director had directly or indirectly, a material interest
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

Permitted Indemnity

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, every Director
shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company against all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain
or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his/her office
or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company maintains directors
and officers liability insurance, which gives appropriate cover for
any legal action brought against its directors.
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Directors’ Interests and Short
Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures

As at 30 June 2025, the interests and short positions of the Directors
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) as recorded in the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or
as otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (”Listing Rules”) were disclosed as follows in accordance
with the Listing Rules.

Long positions in shares of the Company and
associated corporations of the Company
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(A) The Company (A) AxndF
Number of ordinary shares
EBERRAEE

Approx. %

of total

number of

shares in

issue

Personal  Corporate Family Total {EERTRA

Director Capacity interests interests interests interests “agy

Bz ) BARE AREH EQ3Eo ERAE #HEst

KWEK Leng Hai Beneficial owner 2,300,000 - - 2,300,000 0.95%
EIEy BEHEA

LIM Shueh Hann Beneficial owner 258,000 - - 258,000 0.11%
HEH BEREBA

WHANG Sun Tze Beneficial owner 27,523,743 - -

BHE ERERA

Interests of controlled - 19,326 - 27,543,069 11.32%

corporations (Note 1)
SERENR 2 ER (Hft1)

Lester G. HUANG, s8s, /P Interests of spouse - - 150,000 150,000 0.06%

R pzgs v BREZED
Note: BEE -
1. The interests disclosed represent the corporate interests 1. FEEzRERRELEELES

of Dr. WHANG Sun Tze in 18,457 ordinary shares and 869
ordinary shares in the Company held by SGR Investment
Company, Limited (“SGR") and T.C. Whang & Company
(Private) Limited (“T.C. & Co.") respectively. Dr. WHANG
Sun Tze holds 95.41% and 59.52% interests in SGR and
T.C. & Co. respectively.
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Directors’ Interests and Short
Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures (ontinued)

Long positions in shares of the Company and
associated corporations of the Company (continued)

(B)

78

Associated corporations

EECHES
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(B) HHEZHE

Number of ordinary shares

ERRRAEE

Approx. %

of total

number of

shares in

issue

Personal Family Total AEBTRH

Associated corporation Director Capacity interests interests interests “ayy

HELE Bz g BARES RIEER EREE #HEst

Guoline Capital Assets Limited KWEK Leng Hai Beneficial owner 841,000 - 841,000 2.62%
U208 ERBEEA

Guoco Group Limited KWEK Leng Hai Beneficial owner 3,800,775 - 3,800,775 1.16%
EEEEERAR U208 ERBEEA

LIM Shueh Hann Beneficial owner 13,000 - 13,000 0.00%
MEH ERBEEA

Guocoland Limited KWEK Leng Hai Beneficial owner 35,290,914 - 35,290,914 2.98%
EERHERRAR U208 ERBEEA

LIM Shueh Hann Beneficial owner 33,000 - 33,000 0.00%
MEH ERBEEA

WHANG Sun Tze Interests of spouse - 66,600 66,600 0.01%
HEE BBz ER

Guocoland (Malaysia) Berhad ~ KWEK Leng Hai Beneficial owner 226,800 - 226,800 0.03%
P28 ERBEEA

The Rank Group Plc KWEK Leng Hai Beneficial owner 1,026,209 - 1,026,209 0.26%

EiEy =S BRAEAA

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2025, none of the
Directors had any interests or short positions in shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register maintained by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.
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Share Scheme

Executive Share Scheme 2024 (the "ESS 2024")

The ESS 2024 was approved by the shareholders of the Company
at the annual general meeting held on 8 November 2024 (the
"ESS Approval Date”) and took effect on 13 November 2024 (the
"ESS Effective Date"”) for grant of options and/or free shares (share
grants) over newly issued and/or existing shares of the Company
to executives or directors of the Company or any of its subsidiaries
(the "ESS Eligible Executives”) from time to time.

The purpose of the ESS 2024 is to (i) align the long term interests
of the ESS Eligible Executives with those of the Company’s
shareholders and encourage the ESS Eligible Executives to assume
greater responsibility for the performance of the businesses that
they manage; (ii) motivate the ESS Eligible Executives towards
strategic business objectives; (iii) reward the ESS Eligible Executives
with an equity stake in the success of the Group; and (iv) make the
total compensation package more competitive in order to attract,
retain and motivate high calibre executives.

A trust (the "ESS Trust”) is in place for the purpose of acquiring
and holding existing shares of the Company from time to time to
satisfy the exercise of options and vesting of share grants which
may be granted under the ESS 2024. A wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company as the trustee is responsible for administering the
ESS Trust.

The maximum number of new shares of the Company that may be
issued upon exercise of share options and vesting of share grants
pursuant to the ESS 2024 shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of
the shares of the Company in issue as at the ESS Approval Date,
i.e. 24,335,416 which represents 10% of the shares in issue of
the Company (excluding treasury shares, if any) as at 30 June
2025 and the date of this Report. The maximum entitlement for
an ESS Eligible Executive in respect of the total number of shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of options granted and to be
granted as well as share grants vested and to be vested in any 12
months period up to the date of the latest grant shall not exceed
1% of the shares of the Company in issue (excluding treasury
shares, if any) as at any date of grant.

Except where it is otherwise specifically allowed under the ESS
2024, the share options and/or share grants offered to the ESS
Eligible Executives are exercisable/will be vested only during his/her
employment or directorship with the Group and the vesting period
of the share options and/or share grants shall not be less than 12
months from the date of offer.
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SHARE SCH EM E (continued)

Executive Share Scheme 2024 (the "ESS 2024")
(continued)

The Board Remuneration Committee of the Company (the “BRC")
may at its discretion determine the exercise price of the options
provided that the exercise price so fixed must be at least the higher
of (a) the closing price of a share of the Company as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of offer of
such option, which must be a business day; (b) the average closing
price of a share of the Company as stated in daily quotations
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of offer of such option; and (c) the
nominal value of a share of the Company.

Share options and/or share grants offered under the ESS 2024 to
an ESS Eligible Executive must be accepted by the offeree within
thirty (30) days from the date of offer (or such longer period of
time as may be permitted by the BRC at its absolute discretion) by
way of a written notice of acceptance and in such manner as may
be prescribed by the BRC and accompanied by a payment of HK$1
as consideration. The exercise period of the share options offered
shall not be more than ten (10) years from the date of offer.

The life of the ESS 2024 is 10 years from the ESS Effective Date.
The ESS 2024 shall remain valid and effective till 12 November
2034.

No share option or share grant had ever been granted to any ESS
Eligible Executives pursuant to the ESS 2024 since its adoption and
up to 30 June 2025.

Others

Certain other subsidiaries of Guoline Capital Assets Limited
("GCAL"), the ultimate holding company of the Company,
maintain share schemes or plans or arrangements which subsisted
at the end of the year or at any time during the year, under which
eligible Directors of the Company may be granted free shares or
share options for acquisition of shares of respective companies
concerned. No person, being a director of the Company during
the year, held shares acquired in pursuance of any aforesaid share
schemes or plans or arrangement.

Save for above, at no time during the year was the Company,
its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party
to any arrangements to enable the Directors of the Company to
acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in or debentures
of the Company or any other body corporate.
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Interests and Short Positions of
Substantial Shareholders

S
~

RZZBZHAFAA=ZTH  BEFRBEKRH
EIMEANA B 2ELMALE  HAEX
RACBITRAES%HU L2 R0 REBERD

As at 30 June 2025, the persons who had interests or short
positions in the shares and underlying shares of 5% or more in
the Company’s issued share capital as recorded in the register

maintained by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO are as

follows:

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of

the Company

ZRBIXBIALTIOT ¢

REXTRGREERD 2HFR

Number of shares/underlying shares

B4, HHERDEE

Approx. %

of total

number of

Interests shares in

under equity issue

Interests in derivatives e BTRE

Shareholder Capacity shares BARLTE Total ok

B=R 54 BHOER ITETHER g BAEI

QUEK Leng Chan ("QLC") Interest of controlled 146,789,659 9,325,000 156,114,659 64.15%
corporations (Note 1)
SR SEHATzER (KraE1)

GCAL Interest of controlled 146,789,659 9,325,000 156,114,659 64.15%
corporations (Notes 2 & 3)
FEHATZER (HaE2K3)

Hong Leong Investment  Interest of controlled 146,789,659 9,325,000 156,114,659 64.15%
Holdings Pte. Ltd. corporations (Notes 3 & 4)
("HLInvt") ZEENEzER (KtaE3K4)

Davos Investment Interest of controlled 146,789,659 9,325,000 156,114,659 64.15%
Holdings Private corporations (Notes 3 & 5)
Limited ("Davos”) FEHARZER (KtaE3K5)

KWEK Leng Kee ("KLK") Interest of controlled 146,789,659 9,325,000 156,114,659 64.15%
corporations (Notes 3 & 6)
FEHATZER (HaE3K6)
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Interests and Short Positions of
Substantial Shareholders (continued)

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company (continued)

Notes:

The interest of controlled corporations of QLC comprised
146,789,659 ordinary shares of the Company and 9,325,000
underlying shares of other unlisted derivatives, and were directly
held by:

Number of shares/
underlying shares

GuolLine International Limited (“GIL") 140,008,659
Richly Choice Development (PTC) Limited

("RCD") 6,781,000
Oceanease Limited (“OEL") 9,325,000

RCD was wholly owned by the Company. The Company was
57.53% owned by GIL. OEL was wholly owned by GuocoEquity
Assets Limited which in turn was wholly owned by Guoco Group
Limited (“GGL"). GGL was 71.88% owned by GuoLine Overseas
Limited (“GOL"). GIL and GOL were wholly owned by GCAL. GCAL
was 49.11% owned by QLC.

The interests of GCAL comprised 146,789,659 ordinary shares of
the Company and 9,325,000 underlying shares of other unlisted
derivatives, and were directly held by GIL, RCD and OEL as set out
in Note 1 above.

The interests of GCAL, HLInvt, Davos and KLK are duplicated.
HLInvt was deemed to be interested in these interests through its
controlling interests of 34.49% in GCAL.

Davos was deemed to be interested in these interests through its
controlling interests of 33.59% in HLInvt.

KLK was deemed to be interested in these interests through his
controlling interests of 41.92% in Davos.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2025, the Company had not
been notified by any person (other than directors of the Company)
who had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company of 5% or more which should be disclosed
pursuant to the Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the register
maintained by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.
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Interests in Contracts and
Connected Transactions

Continuing Connected Transactions
Master Services Agreement

A master services agreement (the “Master Services Agreement”)
dated 30 June 2023 was entered into by the Company
(together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) with Guoline
Group Management Company Pte. Ltd. (“GGMC", a wholly-
owned subsidiary of GCAL), the ultimate holding company and
a substantial shareholder of the Company) for the provision
by the latter of management services including, among other
things, overview and/or oversight of businesses and operations,
investment management and financial management disciplines,
treasury and risk management, key managerial recruitment and
retention as well as other operating practices and procedures,
accounting, corporate advisory, legal, company secretarial and
other services (the “Services”).

(GGMC or other Hong Leong Group company(ies) as may be
agreed by the parties from time to time are referred to as “Service
Provider”; the Company and its subsidiaries are referred to as
“Service Recipients”).

The Master Services Agreement is for a term of three financial
years from 1 July 2023 to 30 June 2026. The fee payable under the
Master Service Agreement comprise:

1. a monthly fee (the “Monthly Fee”) as agreed from time
to time between such Service Recipient and the Service
Provider and is currently agreed to be approximately
HK$100,000 per month; and

2. an annual fee (the “Annual Fee”) equal to 3% of the annual
profit before tax of such Service Recipient as shown in its
audited profit and loss account for the relevant financial
year, subject to appropriate adjustment (for example, to
avoid double counting of profit, if any).

The yearly total fees (the “Total Services Fees”), being the sum of
the Monthly Fee, the Annual Fee and the total amounts of any fees
paid or payable by the Group to any Hong Leong Group companies
for services of a similar nature as the Services, are subject to the
annual cap of HK$28 million (the “Annual Cap"”) for each of the
three financial years ending 30 June 2026.
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Interests in Contracts and
Connected Transactions (continued)

Continuing Connected Transactions (continued)
Master Services Agreement (continued)

GGMC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of GCAL, the ultimate
holding company and a substantial shareholder of the Company,
and thus GGMC was an associate of a connected person of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Mr. Quek Leng
Chan, being a controlling shareholder of GCAL and Hong Leong
Company (Malaysia) Berhad (“HLCM?"), is regarded as a substantial
shareholder of the Company. Subsidiaries under HLCM and GCAL
which may become Service Providers under the Master Services
Agreement are regarded as associates of connected persons
of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The
transactions contemplated under the Master Services Agreement
constitute continuing connected transactions for the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and the relevant disclosure
requirements have been complied with.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company had
reviewed the transactions under the Master Services Agreement
during the year and confirmed that:

(1 the transactions under the Master Services Agreement for
the year was entered into:

- in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

- on normal commercial terms or better; and

- according to the agreement governing them and
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the shareholders of the Company as a
whole.

(2) the Total Services Fees paid and payable by the Group
under the Master Services Agreement for the year
amounted to approximately HK$12,222,000 which did not
exceed the Annual Cap of HK$28 million as disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 30 June 2023.
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Interests in Contracts and
Connected Transactions (continued)

Auditor’'s Review

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Company’s
auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing
connected transactions regarding the Master Services Agreement
mentioned above in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information”
and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing
Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The Company’s auditor has issued an unqualified
letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions disclosed above in accordance
with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, there are no other transactions of
the Company which require disclosure in the annual report in
accordance with the Listing Rules.

Management Contracts

No contract, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the business of the Group was entered into or subsisted
during the year.

Directors’ Interests in Competing
Business

None of the directors is interested in any business apart from the
Group’s business, which is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group.
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Change in information of directors

Saved as disclosed in this annual report, there was no change to
any of the information required to be disclosed in relation to any
Director pursuant to paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of Rule 13.51(2)
of the Listing Rules for the year ended 30 June 2025.

Sufficiency of Public Float

According to the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the
Company maintained sufficient public float as at the date of this
Report.

Auditor

A resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as auditor of the
Company is to be proposed at the 2025 AGM.

By Order of the Board
KWEK Leng Hai
Chairman

Hong Kong, 16 September 2025
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KPMG

Independent auditor’s report
to the members of Lam Soon (Hong Kong) Limited
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Lam
Soon (Hong Kong) Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries
(“the Group”) set out on pages 98 to 204, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2025,
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended and notes,
comprising material accounting policy information and other
explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 30 June 2025 and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs"”) as issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“the Code”) and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key audit matters

FASEFSE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional BEEETEEERERMANEZEALE  AEEAR
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the B A SRRV BT RAEEMNSEIE - 5=
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These EEARME T REESBRREEEZRE
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the EITEEY REFTSHESEEEEHERNS
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our =

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Revenue recognition

Refer to note 5 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on pages 130 to 132

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Sales of flour, edible oil and home care products are
recognised as revenue when the control of the products
is transferred to the Group’s customers according to the
terms of the sales agreements entered into between the
Group and its customers.

The Group trades mainly with distributors and
supermarkets and has a large volume of individual
transactions which increases the risk of error in
recognising revenue.

We identified revenue recognition as a key audit
matter because revenue is one of the key performance
indicators of the Group which could create an incentive
for management to record revenue inappropriately to
meet targets or expectations and because the large
transaction volume increases the possibility of errors in
recognising revenue.

Our audit procedures to assess the recognition of revenue
included the following:

o gaining an understanding of and assessing the
design, implementation and operating effectiveness
of key internal controls over revenue recognition;

o challenging the revenue recognition policies
adopted by the Group by making inquiries of
management and inspecting a sample of sales
agreements to understand the terms of the
transactions with reference to the requirements of
the prevailing accounting standards;

o inspecting underlying documentation for revenue
transactions meeting specific risk-based criteria, if
any;

o comparing a sample of revenue transactions

recorded during the year with relevant underlying
documentation, which included sales invoices and
goods delivery notes with evidence of the customers’
receipt of the goods and the date of receipt of the
goods by the customers;
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Key audit matters (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

FARENTEE @

Refer to note 5 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on pages 130 to 132

(continued)

The Key Audit Matter (continued)

How the matter was addressed in our audit (continued)

Our audit procedures to assess the recognition of revenue
included the following: (continued)

identifying sales returns from the sales ledger after
the year end on a sample basis and inspecting
the underlying documentation in relation to these
sales returns to assess if the related adjustments to
revenue had been accounted for in the appropriate
accounting period; and

assessing, on a sample basis, whether specific
revenue transactions around the financial year end
had been recognised in the appropriate financial
period in accordance with the terms of sale as set
out in the sales agreements by comparing details
of these transactions with sales invoices and goods
delivery notes with evidence of the customers’
receipt of the goods and the date of receipt of the
goods by the customers.
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Key audit matters (continued)

FARENTEE @

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment (“PP&E")

Refer to note 12 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on pages 114 and 115

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

The carrying amount of the Group’s PP&E as at 30 June
2025 was HK$706 million, representing 19% of the
Group's total assets.

Management has determined cash-generating unit
(“CGU") as the smallest identifiable group of assets that
generates cash inflows that are largely independent of
the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets.
Management reviews the performance of individual
CGU to identify if there are any impairment indicators
on the allocated assets of the CGUs. Where impairment
indicators are identified, management assesses the
value in use of the CGUs by preparing a discounted cash
flow forecast to determine the recoverable amount of
the CGUs, and then comparing the carrying value of
the CGUs with the recoverable amount. Based on the
impairment assessment performed by management, no
impairment losses on PP&E was recognised in profit or
loss for the year ended 30 June 2025.

We identified the impairment assessment of PP&E
as a key audit matter because of the significance of
the carrying amount of PP&E to the consolidated
financial statements and because of, for the value in
use assessment, the determination of key assumptions
used in the discounted cash flow forecasts, including
future revenue growth rates, future materials costs
growth rates and discount rates are subject to a
significant degree of judgement and could be subject to
management bias.

Our audit procedures to assess the impairment of PP&E
included the following:

o assessing and challenging the management’s
impairment assessment, which included evaluating
the indicators of impairment and the allocation of
assets to CGUs with reference to the requirements
of the prevailing accounting standards, and;

o relating to the CGU in food business segment;

= challenging the reasonableness of the future
revenue growth rates and future materials
cost growth rates adopted by management
in the discounted cash flow forecasts
and comparing to the historical financial
performance of the CGU and management’s
budgets and forecasts;

= with the assistance of our internal valuation
specialists, evaluating the appropriateness of
the methodology applied in the preparation
of discounted cash flow forecasts with
reference to the requirements of the
prevailing accounting standards and
assessing the reasonableness of the discount
rates adopted in the discounted cash flow
forecasts by benchmarking against the
companies in the same industry and external
market data; and

] obtaining a sensitivity analysis of the key
assumptions adopted in the discounted cash
flow forecasts prepared by management, and
assessing the impact of changes in the key
assumptions to the conclusion reached in the
impairment assessment and whether there
were any indicators of management bias.
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Key audit matters (continued)
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Key audit matters (continued) BRETSEHmw
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BURBENHRES

Key audit matters (continued)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYRHBENHRES

Information other than the
consolidated financial statements
and auditor’s report thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

Responsibilities of the directors
for the consolidated financial
statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the
HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Board Audit and Risk
Management Committee in discharging their responsibilities for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BURBENHRES

Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial
statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is
made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's
internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BURBENHRES

Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial
statements (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also: (continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the
Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Board Audit and Risk Management
Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the Board Audit and Risk Management Committee
with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence and communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYRHBENHRES

Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial
statements (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Board Audit and Risk
Management Committee, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter
or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected
to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lam Leong Wai (practising certificate number:
P07793).

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

16 September 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
PROFIT OR LOSS

- A LS 32
%R::Eﬁﬁﬁ%%
For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE
2025 2024
—E-REF —E-NE
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Kt B F T BEF T
Revenue WA 5 4,829,184 4,837,585
Cost of sales THERK (3,710,654) (3,824,687)
Gross profit EF 1,118,530 1,012,898
Other income HibUg A 6 70,246 58,127
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHER (601,587) (625,049)
Administrative expenses THEHR (225,693) (201,165)
Profit from operations FEg =gl 361,496 244,811
Finance costs BhE KA 7 (424) (254)
Profit before taxation RRBEAT SRR 7 361,072 244,557
Taxation 18 8(a) (58,119) (43,958)
Profit for the year REEREF 302,953 200,599
Earnings per share BREF
Basic and diluted BERREHE 11 HK$#E¥1.297T1 HK$EH0.857T

FIRE106HEEFE204B 2 BB F AR R
K2 —ED o B FAQBREREGNEREEF
IR E 2 EEYIAMEE10 ©

The notes on pages 106 to 204 form part of these financial
statements. Details of dividends payable to equity shareholders of
the Company attributable to the profit for the year are set out in
note 10.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GeEaRkREMEEKER

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

2025 2024
—E-REF —E_ME
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
profitfortheyear  KEEWA 302953 200599
Other comprehensive income for AEEHMEEWE (NBREH
the year (net of nil tax and BREHSERAER)
reclassification adjustments)
Item that will not be reclassified to BIrEEHIEE
profit or loss: BHER2ER
Equity investments at FVOCI — net movement BRAFEES A 2 ERE
in fair value reserve (non-recycling) RIS ERE - A EERE
L8 FE (A EeE) 6,180 3,377
Remeasurement of long service REBREEBEZEHT2
payment liabilities 404 116
6,584 3,493
Items that may be reclassified HEWEHFIER
subsequently to profit or loss: ERER2IER
Exchange differences on translation of BREEBLUINE D B8
financial statements of subsidiaries outside WMREEZENES
Hong Kong 30,291 (7,090)
Other comprehensive income AEEHMEHEE
fortheyear ] 36,875 . (3.597).
Total comprehensive income AEELHRGEEE
for the year 339,828 197,002
The notes on pages 106 to 204 form part of these financial FINEE106EZEF 2048 2 FEM AR B3R
statements. Rz2—E °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION
e BRI R

At30June 2025 R=Z-HFA=1+H

2025 2024
—E-RE —E-NE
Note HK$'000 HK$°000
Kt B F T BEF T
Non-current assets FREBEE
Leasehold land and property, HETHEYE  BER
plant and equipment B 12 705,807 737,745
Intangible assets and goodwill B EENDE 13 9,871 8,530
Other financial assets HittemEE 14 272 52,364
Deferred tax assets BERIBEEE 21 11,942 11,897
Other non-current assets HibEREEE 36,439 1,702
764,331 812,238
Current assets REEE
Inventories =7E 15(a) 745,081 637,948
Trade and other receivables B REMEWERT 16 381,386 367,935
Other financial assets HihemEE 14 - 22,032
Cash and deposits HERFEM 17(a) 1,915,615 1,706,444
3,042,082 2,734,359
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables g 5 R HEAESIRR 18(a) 595,908 581,018
Contract liabilities sEAEE 18(b) 20,893 17,173
Tax payables FEATRL TR 8(c) 26,797 17,389
Lease liabilities HERE 19 3,297 2,615
o 646895 618,195
_Netcurrentassets =~~~ #aB®®E 2,395,187 2,116,164
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBEE 3,159,518 2,928,402
Non-current liabilities ERBAE
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEE G 21 8,419 20,903
Lease liabilities HEERE 19 9,046 1,333
Long service payment liabilities RHRBEERE 20 1,827 1,943
19,292 24,179
NET ASSETS FEE 3,140,226 2,904,223
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION
e BRI R

At 30 June 2025 R=ZZE=-RFXHA=+H

2025 2024
—E-REF —E-NE
Note HK$’000 HK$°000
Kt B F T BEF T

CAPITAL AND RESERVES EEREE
Share capital %N 22(a) 672,777 672,777
Reserves == 2,467,449 2,231,446
TOTAL EQUITY Pl 3,140,226 2,904,223

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on RHESEN_Z-_AFhA T BHERIRRE

16 September 2025. Fz -

LIM Shueh Hann HEH Christian K. NOTHHAFT &&=

DIRECTOR EE DIRECTOR EZE

The notes on pages 106 to 204 form part of these financial FINRE106EEE204E 2 BB E AR R
statements. Rz2—E °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

REEREER

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

KAARRELR
Fair value
Share reserve
Share Surplus Esop option  Exchange (non- Revenue
capital reserve reserve reserve reserve  recydling) reserve Total
fiBAR Kt
BUEL L EL LVEERRE

Br BRBE  PRER B EXEE  (FUEE)  GEdE it
lote  HKSOOO  HKSOO0  HKSO00  HKSOOD  HKSOO0  HKSO00  HKSOOO  HKSOO0
W EFn ERfn EBTn BT B MR MM BT

At 1 July 2024 ZECMELR-R 672,777 187,830 (89,690) 4,586 (142,090) (6,283)  2.217,093 2,904,223
Proftfo the year KEERA - > - - - - WM 30
Equity investments at FVOC! - net EOTEEA b2 ANE
movement i fai value reserve WiERE- L TEER
(non-recycing) R9RE(T7ER) - > - - - 6180 - 6180
Transfer of los on disposals of BRHERNTRETAZE
equity investments at FVOCl to hEnhERE 2 BR
revenue reserve - - - - - 103 (103) -
Remeasurement of long service L S\ PEE D
payment liabilties - - - - - - 404 404
Buchange differences on translation of ~ BEFBMNEAT
financil tatements of subsidiaries BB ERMEL
outside Hong Kong EiZE - - - - 30291 - - 3091
Total comprehensive income for the year - AEE2EURER - - - - 30,291 6,283 303,254 339,828
Fquity settled share-based transactions ~ EREE 2 HRHA
LY 7 - - - (4,586) - - - (4,586)
Purchase of ordinary shares of EREE T HE]E
the Company for share option scheme ~ AAFZEER 20) - - (657) - - - - (657)
Transfer from revenue reserve to HUGREEAERGHE
surplus reserve - 4,814 - - - - (4.814) -
Finaldividend paid in respect of FEEEEARARE
prior year 10(b) - - - - - - (63,376) (63,376)
Interm dividend paid in respect of FAREREARARE
current year 10(8) - - - - - - (35,206) (35,206)
77777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777 Y TR Y - - w1
At 30 June 2025 ZECREARSTH 672,111 192,644 (90,347) - (111,799) - 2,476,951 3,140,226
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HE—Z_HAF<A=THLEEE

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

ROARRELR
Fair value
Share Teserve
Share Surplus Esop option Bxchange (non- Revenue
capital reserve feserve reserve feserve recycling) feserve Total
fiBAR Kt
BUEL L EL LVEERRE

Br BRBE  PRER B EREE  (FUEE)  LEdE it
Mot HKSOD  HKSOD  HKSOOD  HKSO0D  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKSOOO  HKSOO0
WE ERTn EBTn BBTn o BT BRTn MR BT M

At 1 July 2023 ZRCZELR-R 672,771 184913 (88,246) 4733 (135,000) (7979 215515 2786313

Profit for the year REERA - - - - - - N05%9 200599

Equity investments at FVOC - net RATEET AR ENE
movement i fair value reserve HMRERE- )T EESR

(non-tecycling) FOER(TTEE) - - - - - 337 - 337
Transfer of gain on disposals of equity ~ BRHERATEEFAZE

investments at FYOCIto revenue reserve WRNMBERE & - - - - - (1,681) 1,681 -
Remeasurement of long service RERKcat B8

payment liabilties - - - - - - 116 116

Buchange differences on translation of ~ BEFBMNEAT
finandial statements of subsidiares BHERIAEL

outside Hong Kong ERZE - - - - (7.090) - - (7.000)
Total comprehensive income for the year - AEE2EURER - - - - (7.09) 1,69 202,3% 197,002
Equity settled share-based transactions ~ kEREE ZNRHA

2R S 7 - - - (147) - - - (147)
Purchase of orinary shares of EEE T HE]E

the Company for share option scheme ~~ AAFZ LR 20 - - (1,.444) - - - - (1.444)
Transfer from revenue reserve to HIRREERZERGE

Surplus reserve - 2917 - - - - 2917) -
Finaldividend paid i respect of REFECARERE

prior year 10b) - - - - - - (46,976) (46,976)
Interm cividend paid in respect of FREERARERE

current year 1003) - - - - - - (30,525) (30,529)

T W ew o e - - Ay (508
At 30 June 2024 —E-MERA=TH 672,777 187,830 (89.690) 4,586 (142,000) (6283 2277093 2904223
The notes on pages 106 to 204 form part of these financial HRE106ER F 2048 2 B IEM T AR IE R

statements. RZ2—EH o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

GERERER

CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HZE-ZE_RFEAA=1HILEE

104
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2025 2024
—EB-REF —EBUF
Note HK$'000 HK$°000
BtaE BEFT BHEF T
Operating activities RETEE
Profit before taxation BRF AT R F 361,072 244,557
Adjustments for: JHE
Depreciation and amortisation E K 7 73,205 72,401
Write-down/(reversal of write-down) FERECRERR)
of inventories 15(b) 1,513 (2,319)
Loss allowance recognised for EBEWIRRZ
trade receivables EEREER 7 868 10
Finance costs RLE AR 7 424 254
Interest income on financial assets REERATESREE
measured at amortised cost Z R EUA 6 (48,716) (44,659)
Dividend income from equity securities REFHFH 2 IREWA 6 (3,795) (5,087)
Fair value loss on club membership SR AT EEESE 6 = 600
Net (gains)/losses on disposals of HEHSE LR E -
leasehold land and property, BEREEZF
plant and equipment (W) BB 6 (287) 2
Share-based payment forfeiture, net PRAEESZ AR U 7 (4,586) (147)
Net unrealised exchange (gains)/losses REBRE L F
(W), B8 (3,982) 632
Net unrealised losses/(gains) on derivative £T4€mTHEZ
financial instruments KRBT FER (k&) 854 (772)
Changes in working capital: EELSHEE
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FEZEmM SR (97,169) 31,202
Decrease/(increase) in trade and B REMBEWIRRZ
other receivables WL, () 1,509 (20,755)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and B REMEFIRRZ
other payables 2, Of4) 5,970 (8,298)
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities SRABZEMm CFd) 3,394 (3,565)
Increase in long service payment liabilities RHEIRBE S A G 21N 288 2,059
Cash generated from operations REXEBABHRS 290,562 266,115
Taxation: Big .
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid ENEBAES (3.306) (4,401)
Tax paid outside Hong Kong BB IE (57,992) (23,024)
Net cash generated from RETHMBRSFRE
operating activities 229,264 238,690



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

For the year ended 30 June 2025 EHZEZE—-Z

CASH FLOWS

GERERER

“HFEARNAZTHLFE

2025 2024
—EZHF —ENEF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
BtaE BEFT BHEF T
Investing activities REEE
Decrease/(increase) in fixed deposits EFERZISAEAE=1EAR
held at banks with original maturity DA EBVERITEBER
over three months ZRD (g ) 443,174 (211,330)
Payment for the purchase of property, BEYE BMERRBUR
plant and equipment and BILEEZIR
intangible assets (59,371) (40,419)
Net proceeds from disposals of leasehold HEHRE TR YE - BE
land and property, plant and equipment %ﬁﬁﬁﬁ?%?kﬁf‘%%‘;ﬁ 1,199 658
Proceeds from: FRiSFRIE
— maturity of debt securities ﬁi%?é%‘?@]ﬂﬂ 21,585 69,305
- sales of equity securities —HERZFES 58,272 18,775
Interest received B FE 38,927 43,667
Dividends received from investment in REREFZFESWRE
equity securities 3,795 5,087
Net cash generated from/(used in) RETEFE(FTA)
investing activities HE&EHE 507,581 (114,257)
Financing activities REEE
Purchase of ordinary shares of MR RERETEEE
the Company for share option scheme AR ZEBIR 22(a) (657) (1,444)
Capital element of lease rentals paid E’f‘ﬁﬂ%ﬁﬂ%ZﬁﬂK*‘Bﬁ 17(b) (2,789) (4,316)
Interest element of lease rentals paid 2fEEREeZRET D 17(b) (424) (254)
Dividends paid to equity shareholders of {$FAATRERZRE
the Company (98,582) (77,501)
Net cash used in financing activities MEEE AR S FEE (102,452) (83,515)
Net increase in cash and RERREEH
cash equivalents FERIZ 634,393 40,918
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July REtR—BA2Z
HERELSERE 768,457 730,182
Effect of foreign exchange Exgm s oe
rate changes 17,952 (2,643)
Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June RXA=+HZ
HENBEESERE 17(a) 1,420,802 768,457

The notes on pages 106 to 204 form part of these financial FIRFE 106 B EE204H 2 BB 5 BB 3R
statements. Rz —ED o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HZE-ZE_RFEAA=1HILEE

General information

Lam Soon (Hong Kong) Limited (the “Company”) is a
limited liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. The
registered office and the principal place of business of the
Company is located at 21 Dai Fu Street, Tai Po Industrial
Estate, Tai Po, New Territories, Hong Kong.

The Company is a holding company and its principal
activity is investment holding. The principal activities of
the Company’s subsidiaries include manufacturing, trading
and processing of edible oil, flour products and home care
products in Hong Kong, the People’s Republic of China
("PRC") and Macau.

Material accounting policies
(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable HKFRS Accounting
Standards, which collective term includes all
applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs"”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and the requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. These financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Listing Rules”). Material accounting policies
adopted by the Company and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Group”) are disclosed
below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments
to HKFRS Accounting Standards that are first
effective or available for early adoption for the
current accounting period of the Group. Note 2(c)
provides information on any changes in accounting
policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant
to the Group for the current accounting period
reflected in these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 30 June 2025 comprise the Company and its
subsidiaries.

The measurement basis used in the preparation
of the financial statements is the historical cost
basis except that the following assets and liabilities
are stated at their fair value as explained in the
accounting policies set out below:

- club membership;

- investments in equity securities (see note
2(f)); and

- derivative financial instruments (see note
2(9)).

The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with HKFRS Accounting Standards
requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of policies and reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and various other factors
that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis
of making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.
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BB R AR M

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HZE-ZE_RFEAA=1HILEE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

(b)

(c)

Basis of preparation of the financial
statements (continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRS Accounting Standards that have significant
effect on the financial statements and major sources
of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 3.

Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following amended
HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the HKICPA
to these financial statements for the current
accounting period:

- Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of
financial statements — Classification of
liabilities as current or non-current (“2020
amendments”) and amendment to HKAS 1,
Presentation of financial statements — Non-
current liabilities with covenants (“2022
amendments”)

- Amendments to HKFRS 16, Leases — Lease
liability in a sale and leaseback

- Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of cash

flows and HKFRS 7, Financial instruments:
Disclosures — Supplier finance arrangements

None of these developments have had a material
effect on how the Group’s results and financial
position for the current or prior periods have been
prepared or presented. The Group has not applied
any new standard or interpretation that is not yet
effective for the current accounting period.

Lam Soon (Hong Kong) Limited | Annual Report 2025
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

(d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing
whether the Group has power, only substantive
rights (held by the Group and other parties) are
considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into
the consolidated financial statements from the date
that control commences until the date that control
ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions and cash
flows and any unrealised profits arising from intra-
group transactions are eliminated in full in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised
losses resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains
but only to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to
the Company, and in respect of which the Group has
not agreed any additional terms with the holders of
those interests which would result in the Group as
a whole having a contractual obligation in respect
of those interests that meets the definition of a
financial liability.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HZE-ZE_RFEAA=1HILEE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

(d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to
the equity shareholders of the Company. Non-
controlling interests in the results of the Group are
presented on the face of the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as
an allocation of the total profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between non-
controlling interests and the equity shareholders of
the Company.

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made
to the amounts of controlling and non-controlling
interests within consolidated equity to reflect the
change in relative interests, but no adjustments are
made to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in
that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained
in that former subsidiary at the date when control
is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a
financial asset (see note 2(f)) or, when appropriate,
the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate or a joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see note 2(k)(ii)).

Lam Soon (Hong Kong) Limited | Annual Report 2025
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

(e)

(f)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on acquisition of businesses is
measured at cost less accumulated impairment
losses and is test annually for impairment (see note

2(k)(i)).
Other investments in securities

The Group’s policies for investments in securities,
other than investments in subsidiaries, are set out
below.

Investments in securities are recognised/
derecognised on the date the Group commits to
purchase/sell the investment. The investments are
initially stated at fair value plus directly attributable
transaction costs, except for those investments
measured at fair value through profit or loss
("FVPL") for which transaction costs are recognised
directly in profit or loss. For an explanation of
how the Group determines fair value of financial
instruments, see note 25(f). These investments are
subsequently accounted for as follows, depending
on their classification.

(i) Non-equity investments

Non-equity investments classified into one of
the following measurement categories:

- amortised cost, if the investment is
held for the collection of contractual
cash flows which represent solely
payments of principal and interest.
Expected credit losses, interest
income calculated using the effective
interest method (see note 2(t)(iv)),
foreign exchange gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss. Any gain
or loss on derecognition is recognised
in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

(f)

Other investments in securities (continued)

(i)

Non-equity investments (continued)

fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI") -
recycling, if the contractual cash flows
of the investment comprise solely
payments of principal and interest
and the investment is held within
a business model whose objective
is achieved by both the collection
of contractual cash flows and sale.
Expected credit losses, interest income
(calculated using the effective interest
method) and foreign exchange gains
and losses are recognised in profit
or loss and computed in the same
manner as if the financial asset was
measured at amortised cost. The
difference between the fair value and
the amortised cost is recognised in
other comprehensive income (“OCI").
When the investment is derecognised,
the amount accumulated in OCl is
recycled from equity to profit or loss.

FVPL if the investment does not meet
the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVOCI (recycling).
Changes in the fair value of the
investment (including interest) are
recognised in profit or loss.

Lam Soon (Hong Kong) Limited | Annual Report 2025
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

(f)

(9)

Other investments in securities (continued)

(ii)

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified
as FVPL, unless the investment is not held for
trading purposes and on initial recognition
the Group makes an irrevocable election to
designate the investment at FVOCI (non-
recycling) such that subsequent changes
in fair value are recognised in OCI. Such
elections are made on an instrument-by-
instrument basis, but may only be made if
the investment meets the definition of equity
from the issuer’s perspective. If such election
is made for a particular investment, at the
time of disposal, the amount accumulated
in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) is
transferred to retained earnings and not
recycled through profit or loss. Dividends
from an investment in equity securities,
irrespective of whether classified as at FVPL
or FVOCI, are recognised in profit or loss as
other income (see note 2(t)(iii)).

Derivative financial instruments

The Group holds derivative financial instruments to
manage its foreign currency and interest rate risk
exposures. Embedded derivatives are separated from
the host contract and accounted for separately if
the host contract is not a financial asset and certain
criteria are met.

Derivatives are initially measured at fair value.

Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with
changes therein recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HZE-ZE_RFEAA=1HILEE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

(h)

Property, plant and equipment

Right-of-use assets arising from leases over
leasehold properties where the Group is not the
registered owner of the property interest and items
of property, plant and equipment, including right-
of-use assets arising from leases of underlying plant
and equipment, are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see note
2(k)(ii)). The cost of an asset comprises its purchase
price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its present working condition and
location for its intended use. Expenditure incurred
after an item of property, plant and equipment
has been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in
the period in which it is incurred. In situation where
it can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditure
has resulted in an increase in the future economic
benefits expected to be obtained from the use of
the property, plant and equipment, the expenditure
is capitalised as an additional cost of the property,
plant and equipment.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see note 2(k)(ii)). Cost comprises
direct costs of construction, capitalised borrowing
costs and exchange differences to the extent that
it is an adjustment to borrowing costs during
the periods of construction and installation.
Capitalisation of these costs ceases and the
construction in progress is transferred to property,
plant and equipment when substantially all the
activities necessary to prepare the assets for their
intended use are completed. No depreciation is
provided for in respect of construction in progress
until it is completed and ready for its intended use.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

(h)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

If significant parts of an item of property, plant
and equipment have different useful lives, then
they are accounted for as separate items (major
components).

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property,
plant and equipment is recognised in profit or loss.
Any related revaluation surplus is transferred from
the revaluation reserve to retained profits and is not
reclassified to profit or loss.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment less their
estimated residual value, if any, using the straight-
line method over their estimated useful lives and is
generally recognised in profit or loss.

The estimated useful lives for the current and
comparative periods are as follows:

Leasehold land is depreciated over the unexpired
term of lease.
Buildings and leasehold improvements  2-25 years

Machineries, equipment, furniture and
motor vehicles

3-20 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual
values are reviewed annually and adjusted if
appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

()

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets, including patents and trademarks,
that are acquired by the Group and have finite
useful lives are measured at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses (see note 2(k)(ii)).

Expenditure on internally generated goodwill and
brands, is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Amortisation is calculated to write off the cost of
intangible assets less their estimated residual values
using the straight-line method over their estimated
useful lives, if any, and is generally recognised in
profit or loss.

The estimated useful lives for the current and
comparative periods are as follows:

— Enterprise planning resources system 5 years
("ERP")
— Trademarks 5 years

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual
values are reviewed at each reporting date and
adjusted if appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HZE-ZE_RFEAA=1HILEE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

()]

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. This is
the case if the contract conveys the right to control
the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed
where the customer has both the right to direct the
use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially
all of the economic benefits from that use.

(i)

As a lessee

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability, except for leases that have a short
lease term of 12 months or less, and leases
of low-value items. When the Group enters
into a lease in respect of a low-value item, the
Group decides whether to capitalise the lease
on a lease-by-lease basis. If not capitalised,
the associated lease payments are recognised
in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the
lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease
liability is initially recognised at the present
value of the lease payments payable over the
lease term, discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot
be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial
recognition, the lease liability is measured
at amortised cost and interest expense
is recognised using the effective interest
method. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or rate are not included
in the measurement of the lease liability, and
are charged to profit or loss incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

()]

2

BEARESFTBEE @)

Leased assets (continued)

(i)

As a lessee (continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a
lease is capitalised is initially measured at
cost, which comprises the initial amount
of the lease liability adjusted for any
lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, plus any initial direct
costs incurred and an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset
or to restore the underlying asset or the
site on which it is located, less any lease
incentives received. The right-of-use asset is
subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see
notes 2(h) and 2(k)(ii)).

The lease liability is remeasured when there
is a change in future lease payments arising
from a change in an index or rate, or there
is a change in the Group’s estimate of the
amount expected to be payable under a
residual value guarantee, or if the Group
changes its assessment of whether it will
exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured
in this way, a corresponding adjustment is
made to the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has
been reduced to zero.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

()]

2

BEARESFTBEER @)

Leased assets (continued)

(i)

As a lessee (continued)

The lease liability is also remeasured
when there is a lease modification, which
means a change in the scope of a lease or
the consideration for a lease that is not
originally provided for in the lease contract,
if such modification is not accounted for
as a separate lease. In this case, the lease
liability is remeasured based on the revised
lease payments and lease term using a
revised discount rate at the effective date
of the modification. The only exceptions are
rent concessions that occurred as a direct
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic
and met the conditions set out in paragraph
46B of HKFRS 16 Leases. In such cases, the
Group has taken advantage of the practical
expedient not to assess whether the rent
concessions are lease modifications, and
recognised the change in consideration as
negative variable lease payments in profit
or loss in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the rent concessions
occurred.

In the consolidated statement of financial
position, the current portion of long-term
lease liabilities is determined as the present
value of contractual payments that are due
to be settled within twelve months after the
reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

2 BAESTHER@®

Material accounting policies

(continued)

() Leased assets (continued)

(i)

As a lessor

The Group determines at lease inception
whether each lease is a finance lease or
an operating lease. A lease is classified as
a finance lease if it transfers substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to the
ownership of an underlying assets to the
lessee. Otherwise, the lease is classified as an
operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-
lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone selling
price basis. The rental income from operating
leases is recognised in accordance with note

2(t)(i).

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i)

Credit losses from financial assets

The loss allowance of trade receivables is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime
expected credit losses (“ECLs"), which are
those losses that are expected to occur over
the expected life of the trade receivables. The
loss allowance is estimated using a provision
matrix based on the Group's historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors and an assessment
of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions at the reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

(k)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

2

BEARESFTBEER @)

(k) FEEBEREEREE)

(i)

Credit losses from financial assets
(continued)

For other financial assets measured at
amortised cost (including cash and deposits,
investments in debt securities and other
receivables), the Group recognises a loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless
there has been a significant increase in
credit risk of the financial assets since initial
recognition, in which case the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs.

Other financial assets measured at fair value,
including club membership, investments
in equity securities and derivative financial
assets, are not subject to the ECL assessment.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting
date with any changes recognised as an
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The
Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss with a corresponding adjustment to the
carrying amount of financial assets through a
loss allowance account.

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset
is written off (either partially or in full) to the
extent that there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. This is generally the case when the
Group determines that the counterparties
does not have assets or sources of income
that could generate sufficient cash flows to
repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a
reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the
period in which the recovery occurs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

(k)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i)

Impairment of other non-current assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its non-financial
assets (other than property carried at
revalued amounts, investment property,
inventories and other contract costs,
contract assets and deferred tax assets) to
determine whether there is any indication of
impairment. If any such indication exists, then
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
Goodwill is tested annually for impairment.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped
together into the smallest group of assets
that generates cash inflows from continuing
use that are largely independent of the cash
inflows of other assets or cash-generating
units ("CGU"s). Goodwill arising from a
business combination is allocated to CGUs or
groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is
the greater of its value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal. Value in use is based on
the estimated future cash flows, discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognised if the
carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds
its recoverable amount.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BB R AR M

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

2

BEARESFTBEER @)

(k)

U

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(ii)  Impairment of other non-current assets
(continued)

Impairment losses are recognised in profit
or loss. They are allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated
to the CGU, and then to reduce the carrying
amounts of the other assets in the CGU on a
pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is
not reversed. For other assets, an impairment
loss is reversed only to the extent that the
resulting carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have
been determined, net of depreciation or
amortisation, if no impairment loss had been
recognised.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is calculated using the
weighted average cost formula and comprises all
costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition. In the case of work
in progress and finished goods, cost comprises
direct materials, direct labour and an attributable
proportion of production overheads.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

U

(m)

Inventories (continued)

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.
The amount of any write-down of inventories to
net realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-
down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal
of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised
as an expense in the period in which the reversal
occurs.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays non-refundable consideration before the
Group recognises the related revenue (see note
2(t)). A contract liability would also be recognised
if the Group has an unconditional right to receive
non-refundable consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. In such latter cases,
a corresponding receivable would also be recognised
(see note 2(n)).

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest
accrued under the effective interest method (see
note 2(t)(iv)).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

(n)

(o)

(p)

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration and only
the passage of time is required before payment of
that consideration is due.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit
losses (see note 2(k)(i)).

Cash and deposits

Cash and deposits comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other
financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash and
deposits are assessed for ECL in accordance with the
policy set out in note 2(k)(i).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at
fair value and are subsequently stated at amortised
cost unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at invoice
amounts.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

(q)

Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

Short term employee benefits and
contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

Short-term employee benefits are expensed
as the related service is provided. A liability
is recognised for the amount expected to
be paid if the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation to pay this amount
as a result of past service provided by
the employee and the obligation can be
estimated reliably.

Obligations for contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans are expensed as
the related services is provided.

Defined benefit plan obligations

The Group has LSP under the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance as the defined benefit
plan.

The Group’s net obligation in respect of
defined benefit plans is calculated separately
for each plan by estimating the amount
of future benefit that employees have
earned in the current and prior periods and
discounting that amount. For LSP obligations,
the estimated amount of future benefit is
determined after deducting the negative
service cost arising from the accrued benefits
derived from the Group’s MPF contributions
that have been vested with employees, which
are deemed to be contributions from the
relevant employees.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

(q)

Employee benefits (continued)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Defined benefit plan obligations
(continued)

Remeasurements arising from defined
benefit plans, which comprise actuarial gains
and losses, are recognised immediately in
OCI. Net interest expense for the period
is determined by applying the discount
rate used to measure the defined benefit
obligation at the beginning of the reporting
period to the then net defined benefit
liability, taking into account any changes
in the net defined benefit liability during
the period. Net interest expense and other
expenses related to defined benefit plans are
recognised in profit or loss.

Share-based payments

The grant-date fair value of equity-settled
share-based payments granted to employees
is measured using the Black-Scholes model.
The amount is generally recognised as an
expense, with a corresponding increase in
equity, over the vesting period of the awards.
The amount recognised as an expense is
adjusted to reflect the number of awards
for which the related service conditions are
expected to be met, such that the amount
ultimately recognised is based on the number
of awards that meet the related service
conditions at the vesting date.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the
earlier of when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits and
when it recognises costs for restructuring.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HZE-ZE_RFEAA=1HILEE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

(r)

Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and
deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that it relates to a business
combination, or items recognised directly in equity
or in OCI.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or
receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year
and any adjustments to the tax payable or receivable
in respect of previous years. The amount of current
tax payable or receivable is the best estimate of the
tax amount expected to be paid or received that
reflects any uncertainty related to income taxes. It
is measured using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date. Current tax also
includes any tax arising from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if
certain criteria are met.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and
the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred
tax is not recognised for:

- temporary differences on the initial
recognition of assets or liabilities in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and that affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss and does not give rise
to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences;

- temporary differences related to investment
in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture to
the extent that the Group is able to control
the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that they will
not reverse in the foreseeable future;

- taxable temporary differences arising on the
initial recognition of goodwill; and

- those related to the income taxes arising from
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
to implement the Pillar Two model rules
published by the Organisation for Economic
Co-operation and Development.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HZE-ZE_RFEAA=1HILEE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

(r)

(s)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax
losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against
which they can be used. Future taxable profits
are determined based on the reversal of relevant
taxable temporary differences. If the amount of
taxable temporary differences is insufficient to
recognise a deferred tax asset in full, then future
taxable profits, adjusted for reversals of existing
temporary differences, are considered, based on
the business plans for individual subsidiaries in the
group. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each
reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will
be realised; such reductions are reversed when the
probability of future taxable profits improves.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if
certain criteria are met.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Generally provisions are determined by discounting
the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that
reflects current market assessment of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the liability.

A provision for warranties is recognised when the
underlying products or services are sold, based on
historical warranty data and a weighting of possible
outcomes against their associated probabilities.

A provision for onerous contracts is measured at
the present value of the lower of the expected
cost of terminating the contract and the expected
net cost of continuing with the contract, which
is determined based on the incremental costs of
fulfilling the obligation under that contract and an
allocation of other costs directly related to fulfilling
that contract. Before a provision is established, the
Group recognises any impairment loss on the assets
associated with that contract (see note 2(k)(iii)).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

(s)

(t)

Provisions and contingent liabilities
(continued)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the amount
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required
to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed
by another party, a separate asset is recognised
for any expected reimbursement that would be
virtually certain. The amount recognised for the
reimbursement is limited to the carrying amount of
the provision.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when
it arises from the sale of goods, the provision of
services or the use by others of the Group’s assets
under leases in the ordinary course of the Group’s
business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product
or service is transferred to the customer, or the
lessee has the right to use the asset, at the amount
of promised consideration to which the Group is
expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue
excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is
after deduction of any trade discounts.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

(t)

Revenue and other income (continued)

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other
income recognition policies are as follows:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Sale of goods

Sales of the Group’s products are recognised
when control of the products has transferred,
being when the products are passed to
the customer. If the products are a partial
fulfilment of a contract covering other goods
and/or services, then the amount of revenue
recognised is an appropriate proportion of
the total transaction price under the contract,
allocated between all the goods and services
promised under the contract on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis.

Rental income from operating leases
Rental income from operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the term of the lease.

Dividends

Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss

on the date on which the Group’s right to
receive payment is established.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

(t)

Revenue and other income (continued)

(iv)

(v)

Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method. The “effective
interest rate” is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial
asset to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset. In calculating interest income,
the effective interest rate is applied to the
gross carrying amount of the asset (when
the asset is not credit-impaired). However,
for financial assets that have become credit-
impaired subsequent to initial recognition,
interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset. If the asset is no
longer credit-impaired, then the calculation
of interest income reverts to the gross basis.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position
initially when there is reasonable assurance
that they will be received and that the Group
will comply with the conditions attaching to
them.

Grants that compensate the Group for
expenses incurred are recognised as income
in profit or loss on a systematic basis in the
same periods in which the expenses are
incurred.

Grants that compensate the Group for
the cost of an asset are deducted from
the carrying amount of the asset and
consequently are effectively recognised in
profit or loss over the useful life of the asset
by way of reduced depreciation expense.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

2 Material accounting policies

(continued)

(u)

Translation of foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated
into the respective functional currencies of group
companies at the exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated into the functional
currency at the exchange rate at the reporting
date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that
are measured at fair value in a foreign currency
are translated into the functional currency at the
exchange rate when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured based on historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated at the exchange rate at the
date of the transaction. Foreign currency differences
are generally recognised in profit or loss.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations,
including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising
on acquisition, are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates at the reporting date.
The income and expenses of foreign operations are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates at the dates of the transactions.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in OCl
and accumulated in the exchange reserve, except to
the extent that the translation difference is allocated
to non-controlling interests (“NCI").
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

2 Material accounting policies

(continued)

(u)

(v)

134

Translation of foreign currencies (continued)

When a foreign operation is disposed of in its
entirety or partially such that control, significant
influence or joint control is lost, the cumulative
amount in the exchange reserve related to that
foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss as
part of the gain or loss on disposal. On disposal of
a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, the
cumulative amount of the exchange differences
relating to that foreign operation that have been
attributed to the NCI shall be derecognised, but
shall not be reclassified to profit or loss. If the Group
disposes of part of its interest in a subsidiary but
retains control, then the relevant proportion of the
cumulative amount is reattributed to NCI. When the
Group disposes of only part of an associate or joint
venture while retaining significant influence or joint
control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative
amount is reclassified to profit or loss.

Related parties

(i) A person, or a close member of that
person’s family, is related to the Group if
that person:

(a) has control or joint control over the
Group;

(b) has significant influence over the
Group; or

(0) is @ member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group'’s
parent.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BB R AR M

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

(v) Related parties (continued)

(ii)  An entity is related to the Group if any of
the following conditions applies:

(a)

The entity and the Group are members
of the same group (which means that
each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a member
of a group of which the other entity is
a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a
third party and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment
benefit plan for the benefit of
employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (i).

A person identified in (i)(a) has
significant influence over the entity or
is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 #HZE—

Material accounting policies

(continued)

(v)

(w)

Related parties (continued)

(ii)  An entity is related to the Group if any
of the following conditions applies:
(continued)

(h) The entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are
those family members who may be expected
to influence, or be influenced by, that person
in their dealings with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the financial statements,
are identified from the financial information
provided regularly to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes of
allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group's various lines of
business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless
the segments have similar economic characteristics
and are similar in respect of the nature of products
and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to
distribute the products or provide the services, and
the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may be
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

Accounting estimates and
judgement

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made various estimates based on
past experiences, expectations of the future and other
information. Note 24 contains information about the
assumptions and their risk factors relating to fair value of
share options granted. Other key sources of estimation
uncertainty that may significantly affect the amounts
recognised in the financial statements are disclosed below:

(a) Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a
straight line basis over their estimated useful lives,
after taking into account of their estimated residual
value. The determination of the useful lives and
residual value involve management'’s estimation.

The Group assesses annually the residual value and
the useful life of the property, plant and equipment
and if the assessment result differs from the
original estimate, such a difference may impact the
depreciation for the year. The details of property,
plant and equipment are disclosed in note 12.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

Accounting estimates and
jUdgement (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(b)

(c)

Impairment of leasehold land and property,
plant and equipment, intangible assets and
goodwill

Determining whether leasehold land and property,
plant and equipment, intangible assets and goodwill
are impaired requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating units to which the
leasehold land and property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets and goodwill have been allocated.
The calculation of value in use requires the Group
to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise
from the CGU and a suitable discount rate in order
to calculate the present value. If the estimation
of value in use is different, any reversal or further
impairment will impact the profits or losses of the
Group. The details of leasehold land and property,
plant and equipment and goodwill are disclosed in
notes 12 and 13 respectively.

Income taxes

At 30 June 2025, deferred tax assets of
HK$20,138,000 (2024: HK$20,287,000) in
relation to unused tax losses were recognised
as set out in note 21. No deferred tax asset was
recognised in respect of the remaining tax losses
of HK$325,560,000 (2024: HK$301,341,000) and
temporary differences of HK$62,909,000 (2024:
HK$61,522,000) arising from impairment of certain
leasehold land and property, plant and equipment
due to the unpredictability of future taxable profit
streams. The realisability of the deferred tax assets
mainly depends on whether sufficient future profits
or taxable temporary differences will be available
in the future. In cases where the future profits
generated are less or more than expected, a write
down or further recognition of deferred tax assets
may arise, which would be recognised in the profit
or loss for the period in which such a write down or
further recognition takes place.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HZE-ZE_RFEAA=1HILEE

4 Segment reporting

In a manner consistent with the way in which information
is reported internally to the Group’s most senior executive
management, the Group has two reportable segments,
as described below. Businesses in each reporting segment
have similar operating and currency risks, class of customer
for products, distribution channels and safety regulation.
The following summary describes the operations in each
segment:

Food: manufacture and distribution of a wide
range of food products including flour,
edible oils and specialty fats.

Home Care:  manufacture and distribution of household
and institutional cleaning products.

(a) Segments results, assets and liabilities

The Group’s most senior executive management
monitors the results, assets and liabilities
attributable to each reportable segment on the
following basis:

The measure used for reporting segment profit
is “profit from operations”. To arrive at “profit
from operations”, the Group's earnings are further
adjusted for items not specifically attributed
to individual segments, such as head office or
corporate administration costs.

Segment assets include all tangible assets, intangible
assets and current assets with the exception of
deferred tax assets and other corporate assets.
Segment liabilities include tax payables, all trade and
other payables and contract liabilities attributable
to the manufacturing and sales activities of the
individual segments, lease liabilities and long service
payment liabilities with the exception of deferred tax
liabilities and other corporate liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

4 Segment reporting (continued) 4 DEERE @@
(a) Segments results, assets and liabilities (a) HEE BEERABEBE#E)
(continued)

BWARIBE I B2 REEF
BENKA - AREAFEEES
BiTHEBEASRHZAEET

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers by the timing of revenue recognition, as
well as information regarding the Group's reportable

140

segments as provided to the Group’s most senior EFRpIERESINT
executive management is set out below:
2025 2024
il L
Segment Segment
Food  Home Care Total Food  Home Care Total
R e 31 AR R FEER o)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
BETr BETR BETT B8R BETT B8R
Disaggregated by timing of BREREERRA
revenue recognition on RANEE
point in time
Revenue from external customers — #9MER 2L 3,946,585 882,599 4829184 4,029,653 807,932 4,837,585
Inter-seqment revenue PR 2B - - - - 1,907 1,907
Reportable seqment revenue NEFHHZUA 3,946,585 882,599 4,829,184 4,029,653 809,839 4,839,492
Reportable segment profit from Bl kP
operations &l 293,066 87,547 380,613 189,650 83,280 272,930
Interest income on financial assets ~ IEEEHA B4R
measured at amortised cost BEZFIZHA 14,800 411 18,911 17,074 5,567 22,641
Finance costs BEHAK (210) (165) (375) (153) (56) (209)
Depreciation and amortisation WEREH (60,447) (4,904) (65,351) (60,838) (4.89) (65,730)
Other material profit or loss items: ~ EfZEIEAEER :
- Net exchange gains -ER R 259 103 362 1512 625 2137
- Loss allowance recognised for -BSRUERZER
trade receivables BEER (868) - (868) (10) - (10
Taxation biihi) (29,349) (14,839) (44,188) (21,147) (14,920) (36,067)
Reportable segment assets NERIHEE 2,216,307 330,122 2546429  2,525838 381,447 2,907,285
Reportable segment liabilities BEE VA 483,551 153,164 636,715 502,800 138,976 641,776
Additions to non-current EMNABEREEE
segment assets 19,486 7,076 26,562 33,853 2,346 36,199
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4 Segment reporting (ontinued) 4 DIIRE
(b) Reconciliations of reportable segment (b) TEHRIF2ZWA - BREEK -
revenues, profit or loss, assets and liabilities EENEENYEE
2025 2024
—E_RF —E-ME
HK$’000 HK$°000
BEFIT JBEF T
Revenue WA
Reportable segment revenue EIE=S: S Al ON 4,829,184 4,839,492
Elimination of inter-segment revenue 2B YT A = 3K 8 - (1,907)
Consolidated revenue (note 5) mEWA (KES) 4,829,184 4,837,585
Profit gl
Reportable segment profit from o] 2026 2 LR A
operations 380,613 272,930
Unallocated exchange gains Ko bz EH U 13,593 15
Unallocated net realised and *ﬁ}EEZﬁEﬁ@IE?
unrealised (losses)/gains on derivative ~ EE#RRABIF(F
financial instruments 18) i (540) 823
Unallocated interest income on financial K7 2R R AT E
assets measured at amortised cost EHMEEZFEWA 29,805 22,018
Dividend income from equity securities BRZEE4 2R EWA 3,795 5,087
Unallocated head office and AoBZ2BRAER
corporate expenses TEEH (65,770) (56,062)
Finance costs RE AR (424) (254)
Consolidated profit before taxation RERBAER 361,072 244,557
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets 2R B2EE 2,546,429 2,907,285
Elimination of inter-segment receivables %3 FEUWFIE 2 K 84 (10,438) (38,705)
2,535,991 2,868,580
Deferred tax assets RERIBEE 11,942 11,897
Unallocated head office and AOBZBATR
corporate assets TEEE 1,258,480 666,120
Consolidated total assets mEREE 3,806,413 3,546,597
Liabilities 8E
Reportable segment liabilities EIEX:5: 174N 636,715 641,776
Elimination of inter-segment payables 2 3B FE{TFIE 2 K $H (10,438) (38,705)
626,277 603,071
Deferred tax liabilities EEREEE 8,419 20,903
Unallocated head office and AOEZBATR
corporate liabilities TEER 31,491 18,400
Consolidated total liabilities pe e =R 666,187 642,374
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For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 Segment reporting (continued) 4 DERE @
() Geographical information () HEER
The following table sets out information about TREIHHEBNBEEREHE()
the geographical location of (i) the reportable AZ2|oMBEHIEFZBA T K
segment’s revenue from external customers and (VFEENHEL R - K
(ii) the Group's leasehold land and property, plant ENFZE EFEENRBERY
and equipment, intangible assets and goodwill and ¥ BERRBEAMNRE(EE
prepayments for property, plant and equipment FREBEE]) cBEFWABHE
(“specified non-current assets”). The geographical TIRIERFIEHREYEZE 2
location of customers is based on the location at IMEBE -HELTHRYE K
which the services were provided or the goods ERFRENIEHNERRERE
delivered. The geographical location of the leasehold WME - ME - MERRERE
land and property, plant and equipment is based NRENFIBEIRIEEEE
on the physical location of the assets, in the case of WE o MEBRNEERBENE
prepayments for property, plant and equipment, the wERIGREEED BRI NEE
location of operations and in the case of intangible BEME
assets and goodwill, the location of the operation to
which they are allocated.
2025 2024
“gCEE e Lk
Hong Kong  Mainland Hong Kong Mainland
and Macau China Total  and Macau China Total
EERAA HEKE &it  EBRAEM E AR aif
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETn  BEFR BT BETn BEFT  BEfR
Revenue from external customers #5085 ZlA 699,008 4,130,176 4,829,184 722,568 4115017 4,837,585
Specified non-current assets EEERBEE 78,036 674,081 752,117 83,101 664,876 747,977
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

Revenue

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out
on pages 205 to 207.

Revenue represents the amounts receivable for the goods
sold in the normal course of business, net of discounts,
value added tax and other related taxes to external
customers.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

WA

AABE—BEREZERAR  HEXEMH
BRAAMEEEKFINE20HES
207H ©

5

BARKELERBBREAETHIE
B HIBRITH - BEBRMEMEEHIE
BV EWRE ©

BEXIREMAMBLIBZRERTFEME

by major products or service lines is as follows: HWRAEI DT :
2025 2024
—E_RF —E-NE
HK$'000 HK$°000
BEFT BT T
Revenue from contracts with BERUERELENETRE
customers within the scope of BERNZEEEFEEN
HKFRS 15 LN
Disaggregated by major products or EEEERBRBEED
service lines
— Sales of goods - HEER 4,829,184 4,837,585

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
by the timing of revenue recognition and by geographical
markets is disclosed in notes 4(a) and 4(c) respectively.

During the years ended 30 June 2025 and 2024, there was
no single external customer that contributed 10% or more
of the Group's total revenue from external customers.

— g —
=
—_—

MIE(ER)ARQA |

BRRARIAREREEDSE 2 2RE
BEFE SR A D B R M EE4(a) R 4(0)H

IHEE ©
BE-Z-_HAFRZZE-NFEARA=T
HEFE AEEREESEHEENS
AREBHIIEZEFBKRANEI ZTH
B-EFo
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2025 #HZE—

6 Other income

144

BB R AR M

ZECRFARA=ZTHLEEE

6 HAWA

entered into various foreign exchange forward contracts to

manage its foreign currency risk exposures.

Lam Soon (Hong Kong) Limited | Annual Report 2025

2025 2024
—B-RF —ENF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Sales of scrapped materials HERER 456 455
Income from food supply reservation BEmEEAERA 522 457
Net gains/(losses) on disposals of leasehold HEHRELHRYE BER
land and property, plant and equipment RIEFWE,(EE) 287 (2)
Interest income on financial assets BEHEAATESREEZ
measured at amortised cost FEWA 48,716 44,659
Dividend income from equity REFFHRE
securities (note (i) WA (BiEEG)) 3,795 5,087
Net exchange gains BB S R WaR 13,955 2,152
Net realised and unrealised (losses)/gains on $TE ST EZEE#BER
derivative financial instruments (note (i) KRBT (ERE), WS
(Baz i) (540) 891
Fair value loss on club membership SE AT EEEE - (600)
Government grants BURFfEEY 903 2,980
Others Hith 2,152 2,048
70,246 58,127

Notes: Miat -

(i) The Group recognised dividend income of HK$3,795,000 0) EEHEERAFTEEEAEME
(2024: HK$5,087,000) from the equity securities AR ENRERELEEIARE
designated at FVOCI, of which HK$3,795,000 (2024: WA BE#3 795000 (= FE =M
HK$1,511,000) related to investment disposed during the £ 1 #B#5087,0007T) ¢ HRAEIEE
year. During the year ended 30 June 2024, HK$3,576,000 3795000 T (Z B PN4E © B
related to investments held at 30 June 2024. 1,511,000 EEERERE HEZ R

B -HE_T-_WFEXA=TAHLE
E - EREWABREE¥3,576,0007T
FRAR-—Z-_NEXA=THERZ
RE -

(ii) During the years ended 30 June 2025 and 2024, the Group (ii) BE-_E-_FHFER-_ZFE_-_NWEXA

=THREFE  AEBMIT LT HETIH
WERHERE - UEEMEHENIMNER
m o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BB R AR M

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

Profit before taxation 7 BREADER

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

BRBADER SR (GTA) THI&E

2025 2024
—E-RE —E-ME
HK$'000 HK$°000
BT T BEF T
Finance costs RE R
Interest on lease liabilities (note 17(b)) HEaEzFE(HF170) 424 254
Staff costs (including directors’ BIXS(BREEEHE
emoluments - note 9) )
Salaries, wages and other benefits TE  HFEeREMER 452,354 431,196
Share-based payment forfeiture, net PRAE ST AR IR (4,586) (147)
Expenses recognised in respect of BFEREBRBEEZ
long service payments (note 20) SR E R (MaE20) 306 2,062
Contribution to defined contribution EREHFCEMRETEIZ
retirement plans HER 38,168 36,523
486,242 469,634
Auditors’ remuneration ZEE S
Audit services ZERTE 2,143 2,191
Tax and other services B R H bR 478 379
2,621 2,570
Depreciation and amortisation EREH
Leasehold land and property, HELHENE BER
plant and equipment B 70,892 71,072
Intangible assets BEEE 2,313 1,329
73,205 72,401
Other items Hitig g
Loss allowance recognised for B SRR 2 BERE
trade receivables T’ 868 10
Cost of inventories (note 15(b)) FERA(FIFE150)) 3,710,654 3,824,687
HIE(EB)BERARA | ZE R FF® 145



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

8 Taxation 8 ®HiE

(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or (a) NAReBEBRRZHES:
loss represents:

2025 2024
—ECZhREF —E-ME
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax ZREFHIE - HEFEBH
Provision for the year REFERHME 12,445 10,311
Over-provision in respect of prior years I 2 BEEERE (55) (509)
12,390 9,87(?% |
Current tax - Outside Hong Kong REHIE - FHB U
Provision for the year REERE 57,831 26,308
Under/(over)-provision in respect of AEEZARR/(HBE)
prior years B 199 (154)
58,030 2767,717547 |
Deferred tax (note 21) EERIE (A F21)
Origination and reversal of temporary ~ ERMEEWNEER
| differences . S =10 - 8,002
58,119 43,958

146 Lam Soon (Hong Kong) Limited | Annual Report 2025



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HZE-ZE_RFEAA=1HILEE

8 Taxation (continued)

(a)

Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss represents: (continued)

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year
ended 30 June 2025 is calculated at 16.5% (2024:
16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the
year, except for one subsidiary of the Group which is
a qualifying corporation under the two-tiered Profits
Tax rate regime.

For this subsidiary, the first HK$2 million of
assessable profits are taxed at 8.25%, and the
remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%.
The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for this
subsidiary was calculated at the same basis in 2024.

Taxation outside Hong Kong represents income
tax charge on the estimated taxable profits of
certain subsidiaries operating in Mainland China
and Macau, calculated at the rates prevailing in the
respective regions.

All entities engaged in the primary processing
of agricultural products in Mainland China are
exempted from PRC corporate income tax (“CIT").
As a result, the profits from flour mill operations
are exempted from CIT for the years ended 30 June
2025 and 2024.

Other subsidiaries operating in Mainland China are
subject to CIT tax rate of 25% (2024: 25%).

In addition, the Group is subject to withholding
tax at the applicable rate of 5% on distribution of
profits generated after 31 December 2007 from
the foreign investment enterprises established in
Mainland China. Deferred tax liabilities have been
provided for in this regard based on the expected
distributable dividends by its subsidiaries established
in Mainland China in respect of profits generated
after 31 December 2007.

8 MIEw

(a)

MIB(EB)BRAR | —F-_RFF®

RERSBRBERZBIAR © (F)

BE-_Z-AFAA=1HLHE
ENEBANEHBENRZEE
B L s ERFERA16.5% (==
ZMNE D 16.5%) 5 E - HEAREE
H—EHELTERMRFSHRB
HITHEEEATRI

BEMBARMS BB¥ -8
BTHERB AR LL8.25% &

B -R-ZZTE_NEFE > ZHEBEL
ANEBANEBHRBEDNRERE
HEEE o

BB LU IR 15 A i B K BE AR
FEEzETHEARMMGTE
ARBENRZBER ZHERTE
HIBLIASTH ©

FrEETBEREELEZRDMN
IEERRPEADLEMS
B RERBHD - Fit - BE
EZE_RAFERZZEZNFEARA
=+ B 1k F 4R 5 B P BRER
ZmAAERRPEAE B
FriS®t o

RPEARELEE CHMBHE A
T FRALEREHBTER25%
(ZEZMHHF : 25%) °

BEoh » AEEARE T EARRER
VAN ELER—ZFTLFE+=
B=+t - HEMEENERNEL
ZAK BB AR % MR TE
BBt AH  EREBEEPEK
BERIMNMELER-ZTZLF
tT-A=+t—-RERELZHFNAE
HafkzREFRELEHRIES
& o
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8 Taxation (continued) 8 @EIE (#&)
(b)  Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting (b) HBEZHESHEINIZREARBE
profit at applicable tax rates: ZEROT ¢
2025 2024
—E_RF —ECOEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BEF T BHEF T
Profit before taxation FRFL AT &R 361,072 244,557
Notional tax on profit before taxation,  1ZiE RN E b FTEH
calculated at the rates applicable to PR ERBAT
profits in the tax jurisdictions concerned %%z Z&EHiIE 85,821 56,950
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses — Fi#_ £ A HIE B X
ZRBEE 5,046 1,410
Tax effect of non-taxable revenue BERBMA K E (8,822) (5,301)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised & F LAMEFE T ILE 18
2R E 5,574 3,882
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not {& AR LLAI FE A F LA
previously recognised REBEEHEETE (756) (636)
Effect of tax concessions BEERzgE (43,024) (18,957)
Under/(over)-provision in respect of AFEEZTR/(HB5E)
prior years BE 144 (663)
Withholding tax on dividend and 2R ERRER
royalty received and receivable SR 2 FENFR 13,794 7,613
Others Hith 342 (340)
Actual tax expenses EMRBIEXH 58,119 43,958
(c)  Current taxation in the consolidated statement of (c) TEHEYBRRRAPNWEPHE
financial position represents: K&k :
2025 2024
—BCEHE B
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BHEF T
Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax REEFBRNESHEE
for the year 12,445 10,311
Balance of Hong Kong Profits Tax AFEZEBFE ’Tﬁ
payable/(receivable) relating to FE1S, (FEWR) = 48k
prior years 6,803 (146)
19,248 10,165
Provision for profits tax outside BB UIIERE
Hong Kong 7,549 7,224
Tax payables FEAT TR 26,797 17,389

148

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BB R AR M

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

Lam Soon (Hong Kong) Limited | Annual Report 2025



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HZE-ZE_RFEAA=1HILEE

8 Taxation (continued)

(d)

Pillar Two income taxes

The ultimate holding company (“UHC"), Guoline
Capital Assets Limited, and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “UHC Group”) of which the Group
is a part of, is within the scope of the Organisation
for Economic Co-operation and Development
("OECD") Pillar Two model rules whereby top-up tax
on profits is required in any jurisdictions in which it
operates when the blended effective tax rate in each
of those jurisdictions is lower than the minimum
effective tax rate of 15%.

Jersey, the jurisdiction of the UHC, will be
implementing the Pillar Two model rules effective
from the financial year beginning on or after 1
January 2025.

The Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes:
International tax reform — Pillar Two model rules
introduce a temporary mandatory exception to
the accounting for deferred taxes arising from the
jurisdictional implementation of the Pillar Two model
rules as well as disclosure requirements on the
exposure to Pillar Two income taxes upon adoption.
Accordingly, the Group has applied the temporary
mandatory exception in Amendments to HKAS 12,
Income taxes: International tax reform — Pillar Two
model rules retrospectively and is not accounting for
deferred taxes arising from any top-up tax due to the
Pillar Two model rules in the consolidated financial
statements.

The UHC Group continues to monitor Pillar Two
legislative developments and evaluate the potential
exposure to the Pillar Two income taxes for all of its
subsidiaries that operate in the same jurisdictions as
the Group.

MIE(FB)ERAR | =T =

8 MIEw

(d)

hFFk

BoXHEREH

B #& % Bk X 3 Guoline Capital
Assets Limited R B A T (518
BRAERER)BRKESEEER
BAS([EEAS]) AR
HEE SN LEEENSR
BREEREREN15% @ EHEE
HEREBENZEALEEEHNK
R o

EAS  IRKRERQBNEE
EBRE BR-ZB-HF -8 -
ARZ2EFAENTRFERL &
HBSE = STAEFTE ©

BB ERNE 125 2B [ A
oW BRI E -
AR JBIAT — IR RS R M
% SHHRERBERE - AERRA
AIMEENEERIRETEE
B WERERAKREHE
XAEFEHRERER o Bt -
rEBCEYERAE RS ER
SB12SRZAERT [ P8 - BB
K E - X EER N R R
FEHR  WEERSHBHRERP
TEHRF-ARRRAMmE
ENEMHEBETEERAS
TR o

RAEREESERIE -
MOEREE - WRHEHMAEHE
KEER-AEZEEEELEN A
B ERASE - A EH AR
B
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

9 Directors’ and senior executives’ 9 EBEZERSHITHAS M

emoluments &
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) E=E&
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section RIEEBCA THEMYEIZI(MNER
383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and (REI(FEESFRER) RH)
Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information F2NBECEESHEWT -
about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as
follows:
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors' and benefits schemes
fees in kind Bonuses contributions 2025
(Note (viif))
g
ERR Bff
Bz ENAE 4 Fif 25 Sk 1:3
(Hiek(vii)
HKS$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000

e Ve R Ve ERTr

Executive directors UfEe

CHIU Chao Hsiang, James (Notes (J&(il) SR MEEIR() - 5,931 539 98 6,568
LIM Shueh Hann (Notes (i) EB &) - 669 - 19 698
Non-executive directors FHTES

KWEK Leng Hal (Note (}) BRI - = = - -
WHANG Sun Tze EIE 240 - - - 0

Christian K. NOTHHAFT (Note (i) ERCE)) - = - - -

Independent non-executive directors B EHTES

LO Kai Yiu, Anthony (Note (vi) EREMHW) 136 - - _ 136
Lester G. HUANG, s8s, /p BEM payes g 350 = - - 350
HO Yuk Wai, Joan ig 353 - - - 353
CHEUNG Man Ying (Note () REB (Wat) 180 - = o 180
Year ended 30 June 2025 HE-ECREAACTR

JI%:354 1,259 6,600 539 117 8,515
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HE-—ZBE_FFAA=TBHLFE

Directors’ and senior executives'’

9 ESERERITHAEMH

emoluments (continued) ﬁ(,{é‘g)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (a) EE=EMe#E)
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
and benefits schemes
Directors' fees in kind Bonuses contributions 2024
(Note (viii)
E¥R i
L Eils i HEL: 3
(Wetui)
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BETR BT BEFT
Executive directors YES
WONG Cho Fai (Notes (i)&(iv)) ERABWHIR() - 3,185 600 15 4,400
CHIU Chao Hsiang, James (Notes (J&(il) BRI - 390 - 8 398
Non-executive directors HirES
KWEK Leng Ha (Note (J) B - - - - -
CHEW Seong Aun (Notes (&) BRR RN - - - - -
WHANG Sun Tze gL 240 - - - 240
Christian K. NOTHHAFT (Notes ()&(vi) — BRIZ(HzH) k() - - - - -
Independent non-executive directors B35
L0 Kai Yiu, Anthony EHE 380 - - - 380
Lester G. HUANG, sas, p ER puyee trsr 350 - - - 350
HO Yuk Wai, Joan nig 340 - - - 340
Year ended 30 June 2024 H2-E-MEAA=TH
LLEE 1310 4175 600 bE| 6,108
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 #HZE—

Directors’ and senior executives’
emoluments (continued)

(a)

Directors’ emoluments (continued)

Notes:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

No directors’ fees have been paid to any salaried
directors employed by the Company or its related
corporations.

Mr. CHIU Chao Hsiang, James (“Mr. Chiu”) was
appointed as an executive director of the Company
with effect from 3 June 2024. He has resigned as
an executive director of the Company with effect
from 1 May 2025.

Following the resignation of Mr. Chiu, Mr. LIM
Shueh Hann is appointed as an executive director
of the Company with effect from 1 May 2025.

Mr. WONG Cho Fai has retired as an executive
director of the Company with effect from 18 April
2024.

Mr. CHEW Seong Aun has retired as non-executive
director of the Company with effect from 15 May
2024.

Mr. Christian K. NOTHHAFT was appointed as non-
executive director of the Company with effect from
18 April 2024.

Mr. LO Kai Yiu, Anthony (“Mr. Lo"”) has retired
as an independent non-executive director of the
Company with effect from 8 November 2024.
Following the retirement of Mr. Lo, Ms. CHEUNG
Man Ying is appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company with effect from
8 November 2024.

Bonuses paid/payable for the year were
performance-related.

There was no arrangement under which a director
had waived or agreed to waive any emoluments.

ZECRFARA=ZTHLEEE

9 EERSH
€@

(a) E=M=#)

TN E A

Hret -

@ BMEEEHSEINTALH
o HARR A B A= #
Ex-

(ii) EREERE A (TEREE NR=
“MEFEARAZBERERER
AYTES - R =T =AaF
AR -—BBREALRBTES
_H!& °

(iii) REBEAERHER - MEEELE
REZ-HFHEA—HEZEME
RBAREHIITES -

(iv) EHEBEAENR_T_WFMNA
TNBEERDBAHITESE—
Hggo

v) BHEREER-"ZB-NFHA
THEARERDRFHITES
—5g o

(vi) Christian K. NOTHHAFT ( Z& %
C)EER-ZZT-_NFMA
TNAEZEARQATFEHT
EEo

(vii) ERREE(BEEDRZ
—HE+—BNBREERLT
BYFHTES B - BEE
BREE RERZLIR=-ZF
—HE+-BNBEZEEAEK
DNEBIFHTES -

i)  AFEZBMNEARATR
REETE -

(ix) W] L EEHRRE TR
WERE B &R 2 5 -
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9 Directors’ and senior executives’ 9
emoluments (continued)

(b)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BB R AR M

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

EERSNITHAEMH
€@

Individuals with highest emoluments (b)

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments,
one (2024: one) is a director whose emolument is
disclosed in note 9(a) above. The aggregate of the
emoluments in respect of the other four (2024: four)

EEBANES

EESEEFMERALH 5 —
B(ZE-WE : —R)IARAQFH
ZEE - HM & TR ElKiEEa)
FIFE - HhW R (=T NE

individuals are as follows: WE)ALTZBESEZEMT -
2025 2024
—E_REF —E-NE
HK$'000 HK$°000
BEF T BT T
Salaries and other benefits HFe R EMER 10,211 10,715
Discretionary bonuses BB TE AL 1,270 1,174
Retirement schemes contributions RIRGTEMHRR 212 260
11,693 12,149
Share-based payments REXNER = 925
11,693 13,074
The numbers of individuals whose emoluments fall MEEBTHEER 2 ASNT :
within the following bands are:
2025 2024
—E-REF —E-NE
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
HKS$E ¥ T AE AE
2,000,001 - 2,500,000 1 -
2,500,001 - 3,000,000 2 1
3,000,001 - 3,500,000 - 1
3,500,001 - 4,000,000 - 2
4,000,001 - 4,500,000 -
4 4
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

10 Dividends

(a) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the
Company (excluding the amount paid to shares held
by the Group under the ESOP reserve) attributable to

10 KRR

(a)

FARMFARDFARRKRE (MR
ENFARERITHRAERTDR
BESRRBETEEZRONE

the year: B) -
2025 2024
—E-hF —ZTEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BEF T BHEF T
Interim dividend declared and paid of ~HFHIRESRKEENER
HK$0.15 (2024: HK$0.13) per LB BY0.157T
ordinary share (ZE-m4E
BHE0.137T) 35,206 30,525
Final dividend proposed after the end of HIFREEIRE 2 REARE
the reporting period of HK$0.33 BREBERBE033T
(2024: HK$0.27) per ordinary share (ZEZF -
7B#0.277T) 77,450 63,388
112,656 93,913

The final dividend proposed after the end of the
reporting period has not been recognised as a
liability at the end of the reporting period.

(b) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the
Company (excluding the amount paid to shares held
by the Group under the ESOP reserve) attributable
to the previous financial year, approved and paid
during the year:

(b)

RIEML B REIRE 2 RBR
ERBEMRAEAERLER
A—EEE-

FREMKC AR — @M BF
ERNAARDRRRRKRE RS M
FTAEBRTRABRMZERE
ARFHETHEEZRONER) :

2025 2024
—E_RE —E-ME
HK$’000 HK$'000
BEFT BEFT
Final dividend in respect of the previous BRI — A BFEERRE
financial year, approved and paid during NHHRERE  SRZEER
the year, of HK$0.27 (2024: HK$0.20) BE027 T (ZEZME -
per ordinary share HE#0.207T) 63,376 46,976
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

. ’=
11 Earnings per share 11 BREF
(a) Basic earnings per share () BRELXER
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based BRERERTIREARABRE
on the profit for the year of HK$302,953,000 & & F 78 # 302,953,000 7T ( =
(2024: HK$200,599,000) and the weighted average Y4 : B#%200,599,0007T)
number of 234,723,000 (2024: 234,854,000) ERAFEREEITZERZM
ordinary shares in issue during the year, calculated as REF3920234,723,000( =& =
follows: FF 1234,854,000) REBERETE -
2025 2024
—EREF —E_ME
‘000 ‘000
F F
Issued ordinary shares at the beginning &332 &TEER
of year 243,354 243,354
Effect of shares repurchased in EEERECEBRN
prior years ga (13,758) (13,584)
Effect of shares repurchased in AEELOEEZERY
current year e (48) (91)
(13808) (13675
Effect of share options exercised in FEETEZRSG
prioryears ] ki S = . 2175
Weighted average number of ordinary  FREERINEF I
shares at the end of year 234,723 234,854
(b) Diluted earnings per share (b) ER#EERR
The diluted earnings per share equalled the basic FREUBEHARBT2EEEEE
earnings per share as there were no dilutive B AHEBZE_Z-_HFERZ
potential ordinary shares outstanding during the Z_WERAZTHLEEEZSE
years ended 30 June 2025 and 2024. REERAEERSREREF]
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HE—Z_HAF<A=THLEEE

12 Leasehold land and property, 12 HEXTHRYE  BE

156

. e
plant and equipment RE&1E
(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (a) EREEZYER
Leasehold
Leasehold land and
land and buildings Machineries,
buildings and leasehold equipment,
and leasehold improvements furniture
improvements outside  Construction and motor
in Hong Kong ~ Hong Kong in progress vehicles Total
FEHE FENMAE
THRET THRET WE - RE
k&8 R&# ERIE  HKHRAE At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
BEFR BEFr BEFR BEFR BEFR
Cost; A
At 1 July 2023 RIZE-=F+A-A 146,936 1,110,335 2,618 1,049,350 2,309,239
Additions Em 404 9,805 9,223 21,560 40,992
Transfer between categories DEmER - 8,068 (10,680) 2,612 -
Disposals HE - (@,777) - (11,298) (16,075)
Exchange adjustments ERAZ - (3.422) ) (2,936) (6,360)
At 30 June 2024 R-B-MEXA=1A 147,340 1,120,009 1,159 1,059,288 2,327,796
At 1July 2024 R=Z-mEtA-A 147,340 1,120,009 1,159 1,059,288 2,327,196
Additions K210 487 16,232 2,730 12,445 31,894
Transfer between categories PEEER 1,598 - (1,614) 16 -
Disposals HE - (11,821) = (8,482) (20,303)
Exchange adjustments ERfE - 19,172 4 16,923 36,136
At 30 June 2025 R-ZZRFRA=TH 149,425 1,143,592 2316 1,080,190 2,375,523
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HE—Z_HAF<A=THLEEE

12 HELTHWRYE  BKE

12 Leasehold land and property,

(a)

. e
plant and eqUIPment (continued) &391%(55)
Reconciliation of carrying amount () FREEBEZHE®E)
(continued)
Leasehold
Leasehold land and
land and buildings Machineries,
buildings and leasehold equipment,
and leasehold improvements furniture
improvements outside  Construction and motor
inHong Kong ~ Hong Kong in progress vehicles Total
FEHE  EENMEE
THRET 1HREF HE R
k&8 R&# ERIR  HHRAE At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
BRI ¥ B¥Tr ¥R BRI
Accumulated depreciation, ZiE - BERRERE.
amortisation and
impairment loss:
At 1 July 2023 RZEZ=%+A-H 87,429 738,683 - 711,774 1,537,886
Charge for the year TEEEERINE 3,813 20,794 - 46,465 71,072
Written back on disposals HERRR - (3,972) - (10,406) (14,378)
Exchange adjustments Bz - (2,725) - (1,804) (4,529)
At 30 June 2024 RZB-WEAA=TH 91,242 752,780 - 746,029 1,590,051
At 1 July 2024 RZE-NELA-H 91,242 752,780 - 746,029 1,590,051
Charge for the year TEEBERITE 3,602 20,999 - 46,291 70,892
Written back on disposals HEARD - (10,566) - (7,593) (18,159)
Exchange adjustments ERfE - 15,384 - 11,548 26,932
At 30 June 2025 RZBZRERA=TH 94,844 178,597 - 796,275 1,669,716
Net book value: BHERE:
At 30 June 2025 RZZZRFRA=TH 54,581 364,995 2,316 283,915 705,807
At 30 June 2024 RZBZMEAA=1H 56,098 367,229 1,159 313,259 737,745
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HE—Z_HAF<A=THLEEE

12 Leasehold land and property, 12 HELTHRYE  BE
plant and equipment (ontinved) KB
(b) Right-of-use assets (b) FHEEE
The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use RHBEESE2FAEEEZ
assets by class of underlying asset is as follows: BREEESAOT -
2025 2024
“B-HF —ZTEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Leasehold land and buildings in EERET HRIETF
Hong Kong 10,514 10,991

Leasehold land and buildings outside EBLINMEE LR IETF

Hong Kong 61,571 55,244

Machineries, equipment, furniture Mees  R%1E - FMRRE
and motor vehicles 786 1,127
72,871 67,362
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 #HZE—

ZECRFARA=ZTHLEEE

12 Leasehold land and property, 12 HELTHRYE  BE
plant and equipment (continved) SES 1T
(b) Right-of-use assets (continued) (b) FFHREEEE)
The analysis of expense items in relation to leases EMNME R RER 2 HEHE 25
recognised in profit or loss is as follows: SIEESHAT :
2025 2024
—E-hEF —ZTEF
HK$’000 HK$°000
BEFT BT T
Depreciation charge of right-of-use REBEED B2 LAk
assets by class of underlying assets: EEZINEER
Leasehold land and buildings in HEHEEL HRESF
Hong Kong 477 477
Leasehold land and buildings outside BEBUNMNEE T K
Hong Kong gF 5,779 6,102
Machineries, equipment, furniture HEs - BB~ R
and motor vehicles kA= 339 343
6,595 6,922
Interest on lease liabilities (note 7) HEBBEZFE(ME7) 424 254
Expense relating to short-term leases ~ ARIEHHEE 2B 4,668 5,504

During the year ended 30 June 2025, additions to
right-of-use assets were HK$12,225,000 (2024:
HK$5,128,000). This amount primarily related to
the capitalised lease payments payable under new
tenancy agreements and adjustment due to lease
modification. During the year ended 30 June 2024,
it also included the purchase of machineries and
equipment of HK$1,146,000.

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the
maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set out in
notes 17(c) and 25(b) respectively.

MIE(ERB)BRLAR | —E-_HFFH

RBZE-ZE-FE~<A=+HL
FE /,J\Eiﬁﬁﬁﬁéﬁﬁs%,%ﬁ%
12,225,000t (ZE =5 : B
5,128,0007t)  FEREHFHHEE
MEETENMCBEESRRER
EETEENARER - REZE
—ENEANA=TRALEEE
EZRETNEEBEEEY1,146,000
THBEREERERME -

FEHECREREAREREE

BEZ D5 B &I A E
17(0) % 25(b) °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

13 Intangible assets and goodwill 13 BEFEEREGE
Goodwill  Trademarks ERP Total
TEER
kS [ TERS a5t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BEFT BEFT BEF T BETT
Cost: B
At 1 July 2023 RZE-=F+A—H 14,714 39,970 27,780 82,464
Additions =0 - - 5,235 5,235
Exchange adjustments EHAERE - - (4) (4)
At 30 June 2024 R-EBE-_MEAA=1H 14,714 39,970 33,011 87,695
At 1 July 2024 RIE-NFELA—H 14,714 39,970 33,011 87,695
Additions =0 - - 3,650 3,650
Disposals HE = = (42) (42)
Exchange adjustments R - - 27 27
At 30 June 2025 R-BE-_RFEARA=1H 14,714 39,970 36,646 91,330
Accumulated amortisation: Rt
At 1 July 2023 RZEZ=F+tH—H - 39,970 25,330 65,300
Charge for the year RNEEZEE - - 1,329 1,329
Exchange adjustments (R A% - - 3) (3)
At 30 June 2024 N-EBE-_MEAA=1H - 39,970 26,656 66,626
At 1 July 2024 R-E-_MELH—H - 39,970 26,656 66,626
Charge for the year TEEHH - - 2,313 2,313
Written back on disposals HEZER - - (42) (42)
Exchange adjustments fE 5 SR - - 23 23
At 30 June 2025 N-EBE-_RFEXA=1H - 39,970 28,950 68,920
Impairment loss: REEE :
At 1 July 2023, 30 June 2024, RZBEZ=FtH—H"

1 July 2024 and 30 June 2025 —E-MEXA=1AH -
“TCMELA-AK
—E-REXRA=1H 12,539 - - 12,539

Net book value: BREEE :
At 30 June 2025 R-EBE-HFEAA=1H 2,175 - 7,696 9,871
At 30 June 2024 R-EBE-_MEAA=1H 2,175 - 6,355 8,530
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

Intangible assets and goodwill

(continued)

The amortisation charge for the year is included in
“administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

Impairment test for cash-generating units
containing goodwill

The carrying amount of goodwill is allocated to edible
oil operations. The recoverable amount of the CGU is
determined based on value-in-use calculations. These
calculations use cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by management covering a three-year
period. The key assumptions of the cash flow projections
are the estimated weighted average growth rate and
the discount rate used. Cash flows beyond the three-
year period are extrapolated using an estimated weighted
average growth rate of 3% (2024: 3%) which does not
significantly exceed the long-term average growth rate for
the business in which the CGU operates. The cash flows are
discounted using a pre-tax discount rate of 13.4% (2024:
13.7%) which reflects specific risks relating to the relevant
CGU.

The results of the tests undertaken as at 30 June 2025
and 30 June 2024 indicated no further recognition of
impairment loss was necessary.

MIE(EB)BRAR | 2=
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REEZHHEBEACTARGEERER
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% KR TR EFTE A NFE ST INREF91E
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BB R AR M

ZECRFARA=ZTHLEEE

For the year ended 30 June 2025 #HZE—

14 Other financial assets

162

HibeMEE

2025 2024
—EB-RE —EomE
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
BtaF BT T BHEF T
Debt securities measured at REBERATEZER
amortised cost EH (i) = 22,032
Equity securities designated at FVOCI  I§EZR AT EEFT AEM
(non-recycling): ZEWE (FAEE) W
REHS
- Equity securities listed in Hong Kong —R&EB 2 REH (ii) - 52,092
Financial assets measured at FVPL: BAEEEFABR
FECEREE
— Club membership —S%E 272 272
272 74,396
Representing: HER :
— Non-current assets —FREBEE 272 52,364
— Current assets -nBEE = 22,032
272 74,396
Notes: Bt
(i) At 30 June 2024, the debt securities were unsecured, (i) RZBE-MEAA=1+H BHES

(i)

bearing fixed interest rates at 2.8% per annum. The debt
securities matured during the year ended 30 June 2025.

As at 30 June 2024, the equity securities designated at
FVOCI (non-recycling) include the listed equity securities
of companies engaged in banking and finance industry of
HK$52,092,000. The Group designated these investments
as equity securities at FVOCI (non-recycling), as the
investments were held for investment yield enhancement
purpose.

During the year ended 30 June 2025, the Group disposed
all of the equity securities for capital preservation purpose.
The fair value on the date of disposal was HK$58,272,000
(2024: HK$18,775,000).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HE—Z_HAF<A=THLEEE

15 Inventories 15 &E&
(a) Inventories in the consolidated statement () REEHBEMRRZTFEE
of financial position comprise: g
2025 2024
—EREF —E_ME
HK$'000 HK$°000
BT T BT T
Raw materials BEAR 491,812 416,618
Work in progress ¥R m 38,489 43,349
Finished goods B @ 160,865 153,742
Inventories in transit TEBREm 30,824 621
Packing materials R 23,091 23,618
745,081 637,948
(b) The analysis of amount of inventories (b) NESEERBERAZIHEZE
recognised as an expense and included in ESHEIMWT
the consolidated statement of profit or loss
is as follows:
2025 2024
—E-RE —E-ME
HK$’000 HK$°000
BET T BT T
Carrying amount of inventories sold EEFEZREE 3,709,141 3,827,006
Write-down/(reversal of write-down) FERECRERD)
of inventories 1,513 (2,319)
3,710,654 3,824,687
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

16 Trade and other receivables 16 BZNEMEIERR
2025 2024
“EC-HF —E-MF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Trade receivables, net of loss allowance HNBREEREZZ S EWERR 301,626 312,317
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments EftfEUR - RS R FESHIE 79,760 54,846
Derivative financial instruments: PTEERT A :
— Foreign exchange forward contracts —INEREAEE = 772
381,386 367,935
All of the trade and other receivables are expected to be FEZSS R HMERIRSYTERE —F
recovered or recognised as expense within one year. A ESHEZELH o
Ageing Analysis BRI O #7
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis RIBERARE » BIERXEFHRIIKBE
of trade receivables (which are included in trade and other ERME B S EWHREZER DT (B
receivables), based on the invoice date and net of loss AEBZRHMEWIES)MT :

allowance, is as follows:

2025 2024
—2CEHF —2omE
HK$°000 HK$000
BETT BETT
Within 3 months =EAR 295,953 309,892
3 to 6 months =&EXEA 5,455 2,406
Over 6 months ANEAME 218 19
301,626 312,317

Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk REBCEERERESEWESEE

arising from trade receivables are set out in note 25(a). HEE RS AMEE25() ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

17 Cash and deposits and other 17 B4 RGEHEEMIES
cash flow information mEER
(a) Cash and deposits comprise: (a) BEREFEE:
2025 2024
—E_-EREF —E-NE
HK$'000 HK$°000
BT T BT T
Deposits with banks IRITEHFR 1,486,996 1,480,200
Cash at bank and on hand BITFERRRE 428,619 226,244

Cash and deposits in the consolidated  4ZREMBMRRRZBELER

statement of financial position FEE 1,915,615 1,706,444
Fixed deposits held at banks with FFERIEBEAR=EA
original maturity over three months LA ERER1T EHRTF R (494,813) (937,987)
Cash and cash equivalents in the GERERERZEER
consolidated statement of cash flows HEZE5E 1,420,802 768,457
Cash at bank carries interest at floating rates based RITERERESRBRTERZ
on daily bank deposits rates. Deposits with banks TR R EMBEEFE o 81T
include time deposits which are matured within EHEREEEHERIR=AE
three months and earn interest at the respective BRZEE  URIREB 2R
short term deposit rates, and fixed deposits with HAER=@AU LN ERFER
original maturity over three months. BREVR 2 o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

17 Cash and deposits and other 17 REeERERERHEMEAE

cash flow information (continued) "EER @)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) METBREEZEEYHER
financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group's TRFINAEERETREE
liabilities from financing activities, including both 2EERH  ETEREReRHE
cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from Re®s  mETBMEEZE
financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows BEREEREREENIARES
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the REBNEAKERERSEESRE
Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as AL EARMETHIHESRE o

cash flows from financing activities.

Lease liabilities (note 719)

HESEHTI19)
2025 2024
—E-hF —ETEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BEFT BHEF T
At 1 July RtA—8 3,948 4,181
Changes from financing cash flows: RIEREREBSE :
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENEERS 2 EREH (2,789) (4,316)
Interest element of lease rentals paid [REREiEN=C kel =EiTy) (424) (254)
Total changes from financing cash flows BMERERBBIBE =~ 3213 (4.570)
Exchange adjustments ~ EX@®® 19 (®)
Other changes: Hih g :
Increase in lease liabilities from FARBIILFHEER
entering into new leases and HEZPZHERE
renewal of leases during the year N 12,225 5,128
Decrease in lease liabilities from FRREELERZ2EE
lease termination =NV (1,232) (1,037)
Interest expenses (note 7) FMEBERA(HE7) 424 254
_Totalotherchanges ~~~ Rt®®#s 0000000 R 4545
At 30 June RAB=+H 12,343 3,948
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BB R AR M

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HE—Z_HAF<A=THLEEE

17 Cash and deposits and other 17 BEREFRREME S

cash flow information (continued)
(¢) Total cash outflow for leases

Amounts included in the consolidated statement of

REER @)
() HERESRHBLAZE

FREEFAGERERERZK

cash flows for leases comprise the following: IBEIELUTIER
2025 2024
—E-hEF —ZTEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BEFT BT T
Within operating cash flows KREBSREA 4,668 5,504
Within financing cash flows REREREA 3,213 4,570
7,881 10,074

These amounts relate to lease rentals paid.

ELSREXNNEEHESER -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

18 Trade and other payables and 18 EZRHMEMNERR

contract liabilities cEEE
(a) Trade and other payables (a) EERHMENERER
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing MRI|ERARE BRBEXZAH
analysis of trade payables (which are included in B ZEMRRZRRIIM(EFTA
trade and other payables), based on the invoice date, B REMEMERF)NT :
is as follows:
2025 2024
—B-RF —ZTEF
HK$°000 HK$°000
BT T BHEF T
Within 3 months =@EBAR 307,109 303,272
More than 3 months =EAUL 207 605
Trade payables B SRR 307,316 303,877
Deposits received BWize 18,667 13,788
Other payables and accruals Hitn B IR R EFTE R 267,338 260,405
Deferred income IEFEUEA 2,505 2,948
Derivative financial instruments: fTEEmIT A :
— Foreign exchange forward contracts  —4M& RIS [E 82 -
595,908 581,018
Notes: Kizt -
(i) All of the trade and other payables are expected to 0} FEE S REMENMIRRITE
be settled or recognised as income within one year HE—FRENRERBWA
or are repayable on demand. RAEREEE o
(ii) As at 30 June 2025, other payables and accruals (ii) RZE-_HFEAXB=+H >
included an amount due to a fellow subsidiary of HtENERRETERE
HK$10,832,000 (2024: HK$7,336,000) in relation FENE RN B QB
to management fee expenses payable to the fellow 10,832,000t (= F M4 :
subsidiary, which is unsecured, interest-free and BH#57,336,0007T) ' EREH
repayable on demand. EAFRZAMBELRDNEEE
BX  ZAEAEIER &8
RIZEREE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HE—Z_HAF<A=THLEEE

18 Trade and other payables and 18 EZRHMEMNERR

contract liabilities (ontinued) A=)
(b) Contract liabilities b) EREAE
2025 2024
—E-HEF —E-E
HK$°000 HK$'000
BEFT BEFT
Advances received for goods to be sold FHEERBEWER 20,893 17,173
Contract liabilities represent receipts in advance for cRABREHERRBKRER
sales of goods, giving rise to contract liabilities until EEIBAZAMEEZERE
revenue is recognised. &
Included in the contract liabilities as at 30 June R-EBE_MFEAA=+HNER
2024, a balance of HK$16,884,000 (2023: BEEF  EREAFEEIRW
HK$20,561,000) was recognised as revenue in the ABB#16,884,000 L (===
current year. F : 78%20,561,0007T) °
19 Lease liabilities 19 HE&E
At the end of the reporting period, the lease liabilities REBEHAE  HEEEREK:
represented:
2025 2024
b R 2 —EolEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
(Within Tyear TER S 2615
After 1 year but within 2 years —FREMNFER 2,743 771
After 2 years but within 5 years MFERERFR 6,303 562
9,046 1 37337
12,343 3,948
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1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HZE-ZE_RFEAA=1HILEE

20 Post-employment benefits

170

The Group participates in pension schemes organised by
the PRC government whereby the Group is required to pay
annual contributions at rates ranging from 16% to 17%
(2024: 15% to 16%) of the standard wages determined by
the relevant authorities in the PRC during the year ended 30
June 2025.

The Group operates a MPF scheme for the employees
employed under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance
("HKEQ"), the employees employed under HKEO are also
entitled to long service payment if the eligibility criteria are
met. The LSP is a defined benefit plan.

(a) MPF scheme

The Group operates a MPF scheme under the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for employees employed under the jurisdiction of
the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF
scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan
administered by independent trustees. Under the
MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are
each required to make contribution to the plan at
5% of employees’ relevant income, subject to a
cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. The
employer and its employees may elect to contribute
more than the minimum as a voluntary contribution.
Contributions to the plan vest immediately, there is
no forfeited contributions that may be used by the
Group to reduce the existing level of contribution.

20

EEBRBERER

AEESETERBRFASNEKS
2Bt REERBEZZE-1EA
B=+HAILLFEERERVEGEKERN
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EBRSMHR -
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% - REBBER -BRAEBAE -

() BETETE

REERBEEB(RIMABESKE
) BIRIEE B (EFERS) 55EE
TEAZEESR URERTE -
BESHEATEMBICERAKRESET
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HZE-ZE_RFEAA=1HILEE

20 Post-employment benefits

(continued)

(b)

Long services payment liabilities

Hong Kong employees that have been employed
continuously for at least five years are entitled
to long service payments in accordance with the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance under certain
circumstances. These circumstances include
where an employee is dismissed for reasons other
than serious misconduct or redundancy, that
employee resigns at the age of 65 or above, or the
employment contract is of fixed term and expires
without renewal. The amount of LSP payable is
determined with reference to the employee’s final
salary (capped at HK$22,500) and the years of
service, reduced by the amount of any accrued
benefits derived from the Group’s contributions to
MPF scheme (see note 20(a)), with an overall cap of
HK$390,000 per employee. Currently, the Group
does not have any separate funding arrangement in
place to meet its LSP obligation.

In June 2022, the Government gazetted the
Amendment Ordinance, which will eventually
abolish the statutory right of an employer to reduce
its LSP payable to a Hong Kong employee by drawing
on its mandatory contributions to the MPF scheme.
The Government has subsequently announced that
the Amendment Ordinance will come into effect
from the Transition Date i.e. 1 May 2025. Separately,
the Government is also expected to introduce
a subsidy scheme to assist employers after the
abolition.

MIE(EB)BRAR | 2=

20 EEBBEREN @)

(b)

hFFk
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EHREENEMREEL (M
20() B FIRAGRES B
390,0007t ° B Al » AREE W BT
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

20 Post-employment benefits

(continued)

172

(b)

Long services payment liabilities (continued)

Among other things, once the abolition of the
offsetting mechanism takes effect, an employer
can no longer use any of the accrued benefits
derived from its mandatory MPF contributions
(irrespective of the contributions made before,
on or after the Transition Date) to reduce the
LSP in respect of an employee’s service from the
Transition Date. However, where an employee’s
employment commenced before the Transition
Date, the employer can continue to use the above
accrued benefits to reduce the LSP in respect of the
employee’s service up to that date; in addition, the
LSP in respect of the service before the Transition
Date will be calculated based on the employee’s
monthly salary immediately before the Transition
Date and the years of service up to that date.

The Group has accounted for the offsetting
mechanism and its abolition as disclosed in
note 2(q)(ii).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

20 Post-employment benefits 20 EEBRBREN @

(continued)

(b) Long services payment liabilities (continued) (b)

REBBERE#E)

The present value of unfunded obligations and its
movements are as follows:

ABREANREREZBUT :

2025 2024
—B-HF —ZomEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
At 1 July: RtHA—H 1,943 -
Remeasurements recognised in other  EHM&ZEAWFEPERH
comprehensive income: BIHTE
Actuarial gains arising from A OB ER B AR AR 1M E
demographic experience and FrIEERBE WG
changes in financial assumptions (404) (116)
Payments made during the year FRAK (18) (3)
Expenses recognised in profit or loss: RIERIRPHERZBX
Current service cost EHIBRFE R AN 247 301
Interest cost R B A 59 67
Past service cost BRI A = 1,694
e .. 2.062
At 30 June RAA=1H 1,827 1,943

The above expenses are recognised in the following

HREBERARGERBERNUTIR

line items in the consolidated statement of profit or B iR :
loss:
2025 2024
—E-hF —E-MmEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Selling and distribution expenses HERDIHER 199 1,273
Administrative expenses THEHA 107 789
306 2,062
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

21 Deferred taxation 21 EZEHE
(a) Deferred tax assets and liabilities (a) CHRRAREEHEEERESE:
recognised:
(i) Movement of each component of (i) FEEFEEEREMEHEE
deferred tax assets and liabilities L4

The components of deferred tax liabilities/
(assets) recognised in the consolidated

RSB BRRRESER
ZIEEBIREE(EE)

174

statement of financial position and the HERFEAZESFHNT :
movements during the year are as follows:
Depreciation
allowances
in excess of Expected
the related distributable
Deferred tax arising from: FEREELR depreciation ~ Provisions  Tax losses profits Total
RERHA ik
BHEBNE B HEER SRR At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEFT BEFT BEFT BEFT BEFR
At 1 July 2023 R-ZE-=E+f-H 9,140 (167) (20,897) 12,910 986
Charged/(credited) to RGEBER
consolidated statement of B/ GtA)
profit o loss (note 8(a)) (Hr£8)) 2,127 (1,017) 597 6,295 8,002
Exchange adjustments ENA% 2 3 13 - 18
At 30 June 2024 RZE-MEAA=1H 11,269 (1,181) (20,287) 19,205 9,006
At 1 July 2024 RZE-MELA-A 11,269 (1,181) (20,287) 19,205 9,006
(Credited)/charged to REEBER
consolidated statement of (3tA)/ 1%
profit or loss (note 8(a) (H3282) (869) 17 352 (11,956) (12,301)
Exchange adjustments ELAZ (12) (13) (203) = (228)
At 30 June 2025 WZBEEARASTR 10,388 (10220 (20138) 7,249 (3,523)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 #HZE—

ZECRFARA=ZTHLEEE

21 Deferred taxation (continued) 21 EERBIE @)
Deferred tax assets and liabilities () ERAECEHREEERAME:
recognised: (continued) (&)
(ii)  Reconciliation to the consolidated (ii) FEBBA R YR :
statement of financial position:
2025 2024
—E-RE B
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BHEF T
Net deferred tax assets recognised RSB RED
in the consolidated statement of TR 2 RS IE S
financial position EE (11,942) (11,897)
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised R&& BB REKE
in the consolidated statement of R IEIER IEF
financial position aE 8,419 20,903
(3,523) 9,006
Deferred tax liabilities not recognised (b) ARETEILEHRIEERE

(b)

At 30 June 2025, temporary differences relating to
the expected distributable profits of the Group’s
subsidiaries in the Mainland China amounted to
HK$653,028,000 (2024: HK$1,003,737,000).
A deferred tax liability has been recognised
in respect of expected distributable profits of
HK$144,994,000 (2024: HK$384,078,000) where
there are planned distributions from subsidiaries in
the foreseeable future. No deferred tax liabilities
have been recognised in respect of the remaining
HK$508,034,000 (2024: HK$619,659,000) as the
Company controls the dividend policy of these
subsidiaries and it has been determined that it is
probable that profits will not be distributed by these
subsidiaries in the foreseeable future.

MR (EE

JERQR | ZF2 =

hFFk

RZZBE-RE~A=1+H 68
AEBRPEKREZHBQEE
A ke NEREEER
7 % 653,028,000t (=& =
& : 7%1,003,737,0007T) ° K
BARWERER Y2 IKEFA
7 144,994,000c (Z 2 =
& : B %384,078,000 T) » i
SRR AT RARR DR - it
—EHELEREEECHER -
RAARTEFZERB QRN
BREHEK » WERERA R KRR
ZERBATDNRAEEREDIR
/fm%” Fﬁb)\jtﬂiﬁ‘stﬁ?TE’J/%ﬁ-’f
508,034,000t (= Z M4 :
#%619,659,0007C) K9 EE%IJT'?IWL
HBERABELHESRE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HZE-ZE_RFEAA=1HILEE

21 Deferred taxation (continued

176

(c)

Deferred tax assets not recognised

At 30 June 2025, the Group had unused tax losses
of HK$425,632,000 (2024: HK$402,737,000)
available for offset against future taxable profits.
A deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of tax losses of HK$100,072,000 (2024:
HK$101,396,000). No deferred tax assets have
been recognised in respect of the remaining
HK$325,560,000 (2024: HK$301,341,000) due to
the unpredictability of future taxable profit streams.
Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of
HK$120,383,000 (2024: HK$94,106,000) that will
expire within five years. Other losses can be carried
forward indefinitely.

At 30 June 2025, the Group had temporary
differences of HK$62,909,000 (2024:
HK$61,522,000) arising from impairment losses
of certain leasehold land and property, plant and
equipment provided in prior years. No deferred tax
assets have been recognised in respect of these
temporary differences due to the unpredictability of
taxable profits streams against which the deductible
temporary differences can be utilised in the
foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 #HZE—

22 Share capital

(a)

ZECRFARA=ZTHLEEE

22 R
Issued share capital 2EITRA
2025 2024
“E-RE —EME
Number of Number of
shares shares
RO EE RnEE
‘000 HK$°000 ‘000 HK$'000
F BEFT F BT T
Ordinary shares, issued ERTRESAR
and fully paid: EER
At 1 July and 30 June RtA—BRK
~A=TH 243,354 672,777 243,354 672,777
In accordance with section 135 of the Hong Kong RIEBBCRBRBIE1351F - &
Companies Ordinance, the ordinary shares of the AREBRTEAEEE -
Company do not have a par value.
During the year, the Group purchased its own TFEEARECRTROIDBE
ordinary shares on The Stock Exchange of Hong —H& TRMGEY  NEEZRKRH
Kong Limited for the purpose of satisfying the REETEBARLEEBHER
exercise of share options granted under the Group’s %Fﬁﬁf‘ﬁi\\ AHENEBEROT
share option scheme as follows:
For the year ended 30 June 2025: BE_Z_HAF~A=1THLE
B
Number of Highest Lowest
shares price paid price paid Aggregate
purchased per share pershare price paid
=F 00 =500
BARG BRE&ES BRERE =5 )
Month/year /A HE % B HERE
‘000 HK$ HK$ HK$°000
F BT BT BETT
July 2024 _q_mﬁtﬁ 17 8.80 8.50 147
September 2024 —EZNFEAA 24 8.30 8.20 198
October 2024 —EZNF+A 7 8.38 8.38 59
November 2024 —E-NE+—A 1 8.61 8.61 9
January 2025 —E-HFE—A 11 8.30 8.10 920
May 2025 —E_HFHA 15 10.60 10.20 154
75 657
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22 Share capital (continued)

178

(a)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BB R AR M

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

Issued share capital (continued) (a)

For the year ended 30 June 2024:

22 A (@)

EBITRA(E)

BE-Z-WENA=1+HLHTE
E:

Number of Highest Lowest
shares price paid price paid  Aggregate
purchased per share per share  price paid

[=F:-Ch) =5 Ch)
BARS BRE&ES BREE =5 Ch)
Month/year /R gE 1% S HAER
‘000 HK$ HK$ HK$'000
F BT BT BEF T
September 2023 —E-=FhA 53 8.80 7.70 446
October 2023 —E=F+A 10 8.10 8.00 81
November 2023 —E_=%+—A 33 8.00 7.90 264
December 2023 —E-=F+=H 27 8.00 7.90 216
January 2024 —EZNFE—A 12 8.00 7.73 95
June 2024 —ETEXA 39 9.00 8.30 342
174 1,444

The considerations of the purchased shares for the
year ended 30 June 2025 of HK$657,000 (2024:
HK$1,444,000) were charged to ESOP reserve.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and are
entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the
Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with
regard to the Company’s residual assets.

As at 30 June 2025, there were 8,658,000 (2024:
8,583,000) ordinary shares acquired and held by the
Group under the ESOP reserve for the purpose of
satisfying the exercise of share options granted to
eligible employees.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

22 Share capital (continued)

(b)

22 A (@)

Capital management (b) BEXREHE
The Group's primary objectives when managing AEEEBEANTEAERE
capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to RIEEERAISELSE  EBA
continue as a going concern, so that it can continue = & R &) E B & b ok F AE S
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits HEE UREBREERANE
for other stakeholders, by pricing products and BRE  KMmESLARRIEMHD
services commensurately with the level of risk and by W AEMRZEAEEE FRFE ©
securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.
The Group actively and regularly reviews and TEEEBR EHHEREERE
manages its capital structure to maintain a balance BRIRERE  LERSRKRED
between the higher shareholder returns that might HERT BB SEEK
be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the TFEHRBIHFMNERNRRFRIES
advantages and security afforded by a sound capital RREZEREREE  WEELK
position, and makes adjustments to the capital BRENESCEHERNEBIELTR
structure in light of changes in economic conditions. o
The Group monitors its capital structure by reviewing AEBURZEBLEERESR
its equity-debt ratio and cashflow requirements, ERZEZRNFHEEBREAIE
taking into account of its future financial obligations BEREREAEEB - BRERK
and commitments. For this purpose, the Group It REEBEREELEERRE
defines equity-debt ratio as the ratio of total equity AAEREFERNLEE - BE
to net debt. Net debt represents lease liabilities less KEEHEafRRERER -
cash and deposits.
2025 2024
—EB-RHF —EomE
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BEF T
Lease liabilities HEEE 12,343 3,948
Less: Cash and deposits W RERER (1,915,615) (1,706,444)
(1,903,272)  (1,702,496)
Total equity i 3,140,226 2,904,223
Equity-debt ratio FEREKLE 100:0 100:0
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

23 Reserves 23 f@#E
The Company PN/
Fair value
Share reserve
Share option (non- Revenue
capital reserve recycling) reserve Total
RiREE ATEERE
i i (FoEmE) WG At

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEFT BEFT BEFT BEFT BEFT

At 1 July 2023 RIEZ=F+A-H 672,777 4,733 (7.979) 1,516,440 2,185,971
Profit for the year REERT - - - 19,604 19,604
Equity investments at FVOCI - net movement  RATEREH AH M2 EREN

in fair value reserve (non-recycling) RERE- A TEERELD

FR(TTER) - - 3377 - 3377

Transfer of gain on disposals of equity ERNERNTERTAZERS

investments at FVOC| to revenue reserve WIRERE 2 s - - (1,681) 1,681 -
Remeasurement of long service RERBEEBEVENIE

payment liabilities - - - 57 57
Equity settled share-based transactions BEREE IRABEER S - (147) - - (147)
Final dividend paid in respect of prior year ~ FEEEEARBRE - - - (48,671) (48,671)
Interim dividend paid in respect of PAEECHTHRE

current year - - - (31,636) (31,636)
At 30 June 2024 RZB-mERA=TH 672,777 4,586 (6,283) 1,457 475 2,128,555
At 1 July 2024 RZBE-ME+A-H 672,771 4,586 (6,283) 1,457,475 2,128,555
Profit for the year REERA - - - 71,52 71,52
Equity investments at FVOCI - net movement B AFEE AL 2 EREN

in fair value reserve (non-recycling) RERE-NTEERELD

FE(FTER) - - 6,180 - 6,180

Transfer of loss on disposals of equity ERNERNTEATAZERG

investments at FVOC| to revenue reserve fREREEE = = 103 (103) =
Remeasurement of long service RERBeEBEVENIE

payment liabilities - - = 8 8
Equity settled share-based transactions BEREEIRABEER S = (4,586) - - (4,586)
Final dividend paid in respect of prior year ~ FEEECARBRE = = = (65,705) (65,705)
Interim dividend paid in respect of FREECATHRE

current year - - - (36,503) (36,503)
At 30 June 2025 RZEZREEARA=1A 672,771 - - 1,432,699 2,105,476
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HZE-ZE_RFEAA=1HILEE

23 Reserves (ontinued)

Nature and purpose of reserves of the Group:

()

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Surplus reserve

In accordance with Accounting Regulations for
Business Enterprises, foreign investment enterprises
in Mainland China are required to transfer at least
10% of their profit after taxation, as determined
under accounting principles generally accepted in
the PRC (“PRC GAAP") to the statutory surplus
reserve until the balance of the reserve is equal to
50% of their registered capital.

ESOP reserve

The ESOP reserve comprises the purchase
consideration for issued shares of the Company
acquired for the purpose of satisfying the exercise of
share options granted to eligible employees under
the Company’s Share Option Scheme.

Share option reserve

Share option reserve comprises the cumulative fair
value of employee services received for the issue of
share options at respective grant date and is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policies in
note 2(q)(iii).

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises: (a) the foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of subsidiaries outside
Hong Kong whose functional currencies are different
from the functional currency of the Company; and
(b) the exchange differences on monetary items
which form part of the Group’s net investment in the
subsidiaries outside Hong Kong. The reserve is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policies set
out in note 2(u).

MIE(EB)BRAR | 2=

23 #Ew

SEREMERAR :

0]

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

hFFk
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B RB R

ROABEFEEENRSRER
HETFTROABEZEIRE 2
R AFEE  ZHEBRBEME
2(q)ii Fré iz B et R TR E

BE

ERRERRE BETBUIIZ
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

Reserves (continued)
(v)  Fair value reserve (non-recycling)

The fair value reserve (non-recycling) comprises the
cumulative net change in the fair value of equity
investments at FVOCI under HKFRS 9 that are held at
the end of the reporting period (see note 2(f)).

(vi) Revenue reserve

The distributable reserves of the Company at 30
June 2025 amounted to HK$1,432,699,000 (2024
HK$1,457,475,000).

Equity settled share-based
transactions

Executive Share Option Scheme 2013 (the “ESOS 2013")
was approved by the shareholders of the Company at the
extraordinary general meeting held on 23 April 2013 and
took effect on 25 April 2013. The ESOS 2013 expired on 24
April 2023 (the "Expiry Date”) and no option was granted
under the ESOS 2013 after the Expiry Date.

Options granted under the ESOS 2013 are subject to
achievement of performance-based vesting condition. The
option shall lapse on the date the grantee ceased to be an
employee of the Group or the performance-based condition
is not satisfied.

On 8 November 2024, the Board Remuneration Committee
of the Company has reviewed and determined that the
outstanding share options in respect of 4,200,000 shares
of the Company granted under the ESOS 2013 have lapsed
as the financial and performance targets/criteria for the
relevant performance period have not been met.

23

24

&
(v) AVEELEE(FTEE)

AFEERE(TTED) BER
BERRAFAEBMBREE
BIEORE T IR ER D FEE
ARt 2EKETENRERE
DNHEEZEH 2 RHFE(RME
2(H) °

(vi) WH=RAE

ARRZEEFARA=+HZ
] 7 IR BB 1,432,699,000
T (ZZEE @M & B
1,457,475,0007¢ ) °

BREaGRZURBAR
BERERZ

20131THRAER 7 R BREST 2 (2013
BHRBEETE DR =_FT—=FTA
“H=ZARARABRRESH RS LER
R#tE WR=F—=FmMA=+HA
R 2003 RBEEFBNR-ZZT ==
FMA=+=H(EHEADFH - AR
T BB ER2013R P RBET 2T
HAEAIEEAR E o

RIF2013R M R B R H 2 208
EzBBIRBARIRERERE - BB
ERRTATBRAEERSHERAR
MR BRI RIER 2 B R -

RZBE-_NE+—-—BN\H AAEEE
FHZESCEHMIRE  BEKREE
ARV RNEREE T2E
#2013 MR RESHEIIR T /94,200,000
BRARITEN D AR BIRED KKK -

Lam Soon (Hong Kong) Limited | Annual Report 2025



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HE—Z_HAF<A=THLEEE

24 Equity settled share-based 24 BREBREEZURG A
transactions (continued) EEE;E%(@?)
(a) The terms and conditions of the grants are (a) RBEHZHERFIEHENT :
as follows:
ESOS 2013: 2013 DRI RERT ) ¢
Number of
Instruments at Contractual life
grant date Exercisable period of options
R RORBEHE TAEDE REESHE
Options granted to a director:
AEERT-EES:
24 August 2021 2,500,000 From the date of notification of entitiement ("Vesting 3.4 years
—E--£1\A=1+WmA Date") up to 2 months from the Vesting Date
RESAERSRBRERR(ERAN)ES 345
REABEWERRTE
From the 13th month up to the 14th month from the 4.4 years
Vesting Date
REBRMEET=EAZEtNEABBTR 445
From the 25th month up to the 26th month from the 5.4 years
Vesting Date
REBRMEE-TREAZE-t\EABRTR 5.4%
Options granted to eligible executives:
ABERTOERTHAR
24 August 2021 6,200,000 From the Vesting Date up to 2 months from the Vesting 3.4 years
—E--FN\A=TMA Date
WEE B HEmE AR 34%F
From the 13th month up to the 14th month from the 4.4 years
Vesting Date
REBRMEET=EAZEtNEABBTR 445
From the 25th month up to the 26th month from the 5.4 years
Vesting Date
REBRMEE-TREAZE-t\MEABRITR 5.4%

Total share options granted

BORBERTAT

8,700,000

MIE(ERB)BRLAR | —E-_HFFH
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HE—Z_HAF<A=THLEEE

24 Equity settled share-based 24 BREBREEZURG A
transactions (continued) HEBREXZ @
(b) The number and weighted average (b) ROZPEBENEE RMNEFIS
exercise prices of share options are as TEEBMT :
follows:
ESOS 2013: 2013 1P R B RERT & ¢
2025 2024
—E_RE —E-E
Weighted Weighted
average Number of average Number of
exercise price options  exercise price options
ik R T
T6EE REEHA T8 REEHA
HKS$ ‘000 HK$ ‘000
BT F BT F

Outstanding at the beginning ~ AEIERKTE

of the year 15.11 4,200 15.1 6,700
Lapsed during the year RERXN 15.11 (4,200) 15.11 (2,500)
Outstanding at the end REREKRBITE

of the year - - 15.11 4,200
Exercisable at the end RERATHE

of the year = = - -

The options outstanding at 30 June 2024 had an REZBZMEANA=+THHEA

exercise price of HK$15.11 and a weighted average BOERRBETEEAE B

remaining contractual life of 1.4 years. 15. 11 TR MEF RSN E
1.4%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

24 Equity settled share-based
transactions (continued)

(c)

24 REREEZURGA
BERERXZ @

Fair value of share options and (00 ROIABENATLEENRR
assumptions
The fair value of services received in return for share EBRTFROIABEERMERYE
options granted is measured by reference to the fair NAFEERZBEZMETIABE
value of share options granted. The estimate of the HWAFEEE ERERHGR
fair value of the share options granted is measured BEANTEERBE M OR—EF
based on Black-Scholes model. The contractual life A ERGE - RODBEENS
of the share option is used as an input into this HHARR 2 E R A A o
model.
Fair value of share options and assumptions of ESOS BROREBELAFLEER2013KH
2013: R
24 August 2021
Grant date R B —E--FNA=+WMH
Fair value at measurement date RET2EAZ2 AT EE HK$1.415 - HK$1.798
BHE1.415T-8%1.798 T
Share price R1E HK$15.00
FB#£15.007T
Exercise price 1TERE HK$15.11
BHE15.117T
Expected volatility FEER IR 19.89% —21.43%
Option life REEREFH 3.4 years — 5.4 years
3.4F-54%F
Expected dividends RHRE R 3.2%
Risk-free interest rate 9 [ fe I R 0.33% - 0.68%
(based on Exchange Fund Notes) (RBENEESERE)
The expected volatility is based on the historic FEHRIE IR B RIEmEE
volatility (calculated based on the weighted average (EHE TR IE IR0 SR B RE 1Y I E S
remaining life of the share options), adjusted for HFIeER) - WARE ABIRHME
any expected changes to future volatility based on PR SRR I R TE R S E R
publicly available information. Expected dividends o EHIRENEEBEREN
are based on historical dividends. Changes in the BE B AEEBROHA
subjective input assumptions could materially affect PEEGHSEREASELE -
the fair value estimate.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BB R AR M

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HZE-ZE_RFEAA=1HILEE

fair values

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks
arises in the normal course of the Group's business. The
Group is also exposed to equity price risk arising from its
equity investments in other entities.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to
manage these risks are described below.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk
is primarily attributable to trade receivables. The
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from cash
and deposits and derivative financial assets is limited
because the counterparties are banks and financial
institutions with a good credit rating, for which the
Group considers to have low credit risk. The Group
invests in debt securities issued by government with
credit ratings A or above as rated by international
credit rating agencies, and has limits for exposures
to individual investment in debt securities to manage
concentration risk. The Group does not provide any
other guarantees which would expose the Group to
credit risk.

Trade receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer rather than the industry or country
in which the customers operate and therefore
significant concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant exposure to
individual customers. At the end of the reporting
period, 41% (2024: 33%) of the total trade
receivables was due from the Group’s five largest
customers.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

25 Financial risk management and
fair Values (continued)

(a)

Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables (continued)

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all
customers requiring credit. These evaluations focus
on the customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take into
account information specific to the customer as
well as pertaining to the economic environment in
which the customer operates. Credits are offered
to customers following financial assessments and
established payment records where applicable.
Credit limits are set for all customers and these are
exceeded only with the approval of senior company
officers. Customers considered to be with credit risk
are traded on a cash basis. General credit terms are
payment within 30 to 60 days following the sales
took place. Regular review and follow up actions
are carried out on overdue amounts to minimise
the Group’s exposure to credit risk. Collaterals over
properties are obtained from certain customers.
An ageing analysis of the debtors is prepared on a
regular basis and is closely monitored to minimise
any credit risk associated with these debtors.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the
Group’s historical credit loss experience indicates
different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance based on past due
status is further distinguished between the Group’s
different customer bases.
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1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

25 Financial risk management and
fair Values (continued)

188

(a)

25 BiEREERAFE
B

Credit risk (continued) (a) EERKE)
Trade receivables (continued) BESENR (E)
The following table provides information about the TRIEHERAEEMREZEW
Group's exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade A EE2EERRNRBHE
receivables: BEiE 28R
2025 2024
—EC°HE —E-_E
Gross Gross
carrying Loss carrying Loss
amount allowance amount allowance
FEAR BERE RELE BiERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEFT BETT BEFT BEFT
Current (not past due) BER (K@) 272,043 = 291,126 -
Less than 3 months past due BEOR=MEA 27,149 (3) 20,492 -
More than 3 months past due ~ @HIBB=1AA 3,437 (1,000) 824 (125)
302,629 (1,003) 312,442 (125)

The calculation reflects the probability-weighted
outcome of expected credit losses and is adjusted
to reflect differences between economic conditions
during the period over which the historic data has
been collected, current conditions and also forward-
looking information including the Group’s view of
economic conditions over the expected lives of the
receivables.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

25 Financial risk management and
fair Values (continued)

(a)

(b)

25 BiKEREERAFE
B

Credit risk (continued) (a) EERKE)
Trade receivables (continued) BE YR ()
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect NEEEGRERWER ZEBERE
of trade receivables during the year is as follows: AEREMD 2 ZEBT -
2025 2024
—®R-HSF —FomE
HK$°000 HK$°000
EETT BT T
At beginning of year — &F# 125 146
Amounts written off during the year REEMESEE - (31
Loss allowance recognised during REEEIEERE
the year w 868 10
S — @)
_Exchange adjustments Ex®® W -
At end of year FR 1,003 125
Liquidity risk b) RBELER
The Group closely monitors its liquidity and financial AEFBZRYERERHES MY
resources to ensure that a healthy financial position BERE DR ESERNETE
is maintained such that cash inflows from operating HOR o FRE RS ERTEIR
activities together with un-drawn banking facilities & BEENKAEBENEITERE
are sufficient to meet the requirements for loan &, PUEMAESES . AEg
repayments, daily operational needs, capital B BAEY  LURERERR
expenditure, as well as potential business expansion HENELEESEE
and development.
The Group reviews its strategy from time to time NREBFRERSTEBEEE - B
to ensure that cost-efficient funding is available to WEELEERANEZNRER
cater for the unique operating environment of each B YA EHEQATBISHEe
subsidiary. BiE o
Banking facilities available to Group companies and AR EBFER 2 RIZEERZEIT
not yet drawn as at 30 June 2025 amounted to BER-_ZE-_RFEXA=+HE
HK$589 million (2024: HK$585 million). & %% 589 000,000 7T (=& =
£ : #¥5585,000,0007T ) °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

25 Financial risk management and 25 MKEKREERATE

fair values (continued) {E(g}

(b) Liquidity risk (continued) (b) REBESERE)
The following tables show the remaining contractual TR AEECREENRE
maturities at the end of the reporting period of HEBZHATEHNIEAE 8T
the Group’s financial liabilities, which are based EHEBANREHNARTRES
on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including i (RIS IR A E A R (fis 37
interest payments computed using contractual rates BIEREHHABEA E’g%u%ﬁ’;
or, if floating, based on rates prevailing at the end of ZTHE‘HW&)LX%ZE%EH&E*
the reporting period) and the earliest date the Group IRz AMS -

can be required to pay:

2025
ZECEfF
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
SHAFRRER
Within More than More than
Carrying 1 year or 1yearbut 2 years but

amount  ondemand within 2 years within 5 years Total
-ER -FiE MENL
HERE FHE EEED BRELR aif

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EETT ERTT ERTT ERTT E¥TR

Trade payables EREMER 307,316 307,316 - - 307,316
Other payables and accruals RtEf R RETER 267,338 267,338 - - 267,338
Lease liabiites BERE 12,343 378 3,350 6,259 13,327
586,997 578,372 3,350 6,259 587,981
2024
ZZCpE
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
SRATRRSR

Within More than More than

Carrying 1 year or 1 year but 2 years but
amount ondemand  within 2 years  within 5 years Total

—£h —EjE MENL
HEE R {BRELNR BEEUR At

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
ERTT ERTT ERTT ERTT ERT7

Trade payables BSEfES 303,877 303,877 - - 303,877
Other payables and accruals HEAERRETER 260,405 260,405 - - 260,405
Lease liabilities HEER 3,948 2,745 848 574 4,167

568,230 567,027 848 574 568,449
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HE—Z_HAF<A=THLEEE

25 Financial risk management and 25 MKEKREERATE

fair values (continued) {E(,,%‘?)
(c) Interest rate risk (0 FIEEp
(i) Interest rate profile (i) FIFEHEL
The following table details the interest TRFEVNRREHLB >
rate profile of the Group’s interest earning rEEBZHECREER
financial assets and interest bearing financial TESREERRER

liabilities at the end of the reporting period:

2025 2024
—EC-RHE —E-E
Effective Effective
interest Carrying interest Carrying
rate p.a. amount rate p.a. amount
ERERZE REE ERFR=E REE
% HK$'000 % HK$'000
BYETF T BETT
Fixed rate financial TEEREE/
assets/(liabilities): (8E):
Deposits with banks RITEEE 3.16 1,486,996 2.98 1,480,200
Debt securities BRES - - 2.77 22,032
Lease liabilities HEAE 4.25 (12,343) 4.84 (3,948)
1,474,653 1,498,284
Variable rate FESRMEE
financial assets:
Cash at bank RITEN 0.55 166,796 1.08 184,957
Total &3t 1,641,449 1,683,241
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1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

25 BERBREERAFE

25 Financial risk management and
fair Values (continued)

192

(c) Interest rate risk (continued)

(ii)

Sensitivity analysis

At 30 June 2025, it is estimated that general
increase/decrease of 14 to 110 basis points
(2024: 0 to 100 basis points) in interest rates
for the Group’s interest earning financial
assets denominated in various currencies,
mainly Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and
United States dollars, with all other variables
held constant, would have increased/
decreased the Group’s profit for the year
and revenue reserve by approximately
HK$175,000 (2024: HK$6,000).

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the
instantaneous change in the Group’s profit
after tax (and revenue reserve) that would
arise assuming that the change in interest
rates had occurred at the end of the reporting
period and had been applied to re-measure
those financial instruments held by the
Group which expose the Group to fair value
interest rate risk at the end of the reporting
period. In respect of the exposure to cash
flow interest rate risk arising from floating
rate non-derivative instruments held by the
Group at the end of the reporting period, the
impact on the Group’s profit after tax (and
revenue reserve) is estimated as an annualised
impact on interest income of such a change
in interest rates. The analysis is performed on
the same basis as for 2024.

Ew@

(0 F=RERGE)

(i)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

25 Financial risk management and
fair Values (continued)

(d)

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily
through sales and purchases which give rise to
receivables, payables and cash balances that are
denominated in a foreign currency, i.e. a currency
other than the functional currency of the operations
to which the transactions relate. The currencies
giving rise to this risk are primarily United States
dollars (“US$"), Renminbi (“RMB"), Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"”) and Macau Patacas (“MOP").

(i) Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group's
exposure at the end of the reporting period
to currency risk arising from recognised assets
or liabilities denominated in a currency other
than the functional currency of the entity to
which they relate. Differences resulting from
the translation of the financial statements
of operations outside Hong Kong into the
Group's presentation currency and exposure
arising from inter-company balances which
are considered to be in the nature of interest
in subsidiaries are excluded.
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25 BiKEREERAFE
B

(d)
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25 Financial risk management and

194

fa ir va | ues (continued)

(d)

Currency risk (continued)

(i)

BB R AR M

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

25 BiEREERAFE
B

Exposure to currency risk (continued)

(d)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE¥EkE)

() AEZZIERPEGE)

Exposure to foreign currencies
(expressed in original currency)

AR ZHERR(URERTE)

2025
ZECRE
HK$000 RMB’000 USS$'000 MOP'000
Vit ARETT EnTR RFEFrx
Trade and other receivables EaREMENER > - 2 _
Cash and deposits BERER 424 17,795 71,850 -
Trade and other payables B REMEMRR - (209) (1,137) =
Amounts due from BREBARTIE
group companies 6,691 477 - 2,046
Gross exposure arising ERREENEREN
from recognised assets EEHER
and liabilities 7,115 18,063 76,735 2,046
Notional amounts of DATEETEAH
foreign exchange forward 2H:tAEHER
contracts at FVPL MEEEER - = (19,691) =
Net exposure arising LREERERERL
from recognised assets ZERFE
and liabilities 7,115 18,063 57,044 2,046
Exposure to foreign currencies
(expressed in original currency)
AR ZHMERRAREMHE)
2024
“EImE
HK$'000 RMB'000 US§'000 MOP'000
BEFT AREFT EnTn RFETF
Trade and other receivables EaREMENER - - 45 _
Cash and deposits BERER 424 16,677 6,057 -
Trade and other payables B 5 REMEMRS - (246) (1.824) -
Amounts due from BREBARTE
group companies 15,511 45,284 - 1,925
Gross exposure arising ERREENEREM
from recognised assets EEHER
and liabilities 15,935 61,715 4,278 1,925
Notional amounts of DATEETEEH
foreign exchange forward 2EtAEHER
contracts at FVPL RN EEI A - (43,800) - -
Net exposure arising LREERERERL
from recognised assets ZERFE
and liabilities 15,935 17,915 4278 1,925
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25 Financial risk management and
fair Values (continued)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BB R AR M

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

25 BiEREERAFE
B

(d) Currency risk (continued) (d) B¥@REKE)
(ii)  Sensitivity analysis (i) SBEF
The following table indicates the TE P 2 @R 5
instantaneous changes in the Group's profit AR FIEYE ARG
after tax (and revenue reserve) that would SHNEER - R AN
arise if foreign exchange rates to which 1Ei§ﬁ$§%¥¢z'x$l}/%ﬁ?§
the Group has significant exposure at the SR (UGS RS ) > BN ES
end of the reporting period had changed at WE o I EE S EME
that date, assuming all other risk variables B BRI R o
remained constant.
2025 2024
—EC-EE —ENE
Increase/ (Decrease)/
Increase/  (decrease) in (Decrease)/ increase in
(decrease) profit after increase profit after
in foreign tax and in foreign tax and
exchange revenue exchange revenue
rates reserve rates reserve
BRBL % E A BRB A
HEE=R Rz e HNE[E 2= R fHE
R/ #m/08d) (TR, LH  (BD)/Em
% HK$'000 % HK$'000
BETT BYETT
HK$ predcs 0.15 8 (0.68) (81)
RMB AR (0.15) (25) 0.68 58
uss$ ES (0.64) (2,233) (0.31) (88)
MOP il 0.15 2 (0.68) (10)
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For the year ended 30 June 2025 HZE-ZE_RFEAA=1HILEE

25 Financial risk management and
fair Values (continued)

196

(d)

(e)

Currency risk (continued)
(ii) Sensitivity analysis (continued)

Results of the analysis as presented in the
above table represent an aggregation of the
instantaneous effects on each of the Group
entities’ profit or loss after tax and revenue
reserve measured in the respective functional
currencies, translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the exchange rate ruling at the end of the
reporting period for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the
change in foreign exchange rates had
been applied to re-measure those financial
instruments held by the Group which expose
the Group to foreign currency risk at the
end of the reporting period. The analysis is
performed on the same basis as for 2024.

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising
from equity securities designated at FVOCI (see note
14).

All of the Group's equity securities are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and are held
for investment yield enhancement purpose. Equity
securities have been chosen based on their dividend
yield track records. Equity securities are subject
to asset allocation limits to control appropriate
risks and the limits are reviewed from time to time
based on the latest market situation as well as the
Group's liquidity needs. The portfolio size is regularly
reviewed and the price movements are closely
monitored with appropriate actions taken when
required. Internal reporting mechanism is strictly
implemented for treasury management.

At 30 June 2025, there are no equity securities
held by the Group as the Group disposed all
of the equity securities for capital preservation
purpose. At 30 June 2024, it was estimated that
an increase/decrease of 3% in the market value of
the Group’s equity securities designated at FVOCI,
with all other variables held constant, would have
increased/decreased the Group's total equity by
HK$1,563,000.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

25 Financial risk management and
fair Values (continued)

(f) Fair value measurement

(i)

Financial assets and liabilities measured
at fair value

The following table presents the fair value of
the Group’s financial instruments measured
at the end of the reporting period on a
recurring basis, categorised into the three-
level fair value hierarchy as defined in
HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The
level into which a fair value measurement is
classified is determined with reference to the
observability and significance of the inputs
used in the valuation technique as follows:

- Level 1 valuations: Fair value
measured using only Level 1 inputs
i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or
liabilities at the measurement date.

- Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured
using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable
inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and
not using significant unobservable
inputs. Unobservable inputs are
inputs for which market data are not
available.

- Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured
using significant unobservable inputs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HE—Z_HAF<A=THLEEE

25 Financial risk management and 25 MKEKREERATE

fair values (continued) {E(,,i.é‘;)
(f)  Fair value measurement (continued) f) AFEEFEGE)
(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured (i) URAFEEFEZSHE
at fair value (continued) EREE(E)
2025 2024
i “EohE

Level 1 Level2  Level3 Total  level!  level2  Level3 Total
-85 40N E=m at BN E-RE £=40 ait
HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
B¥TT BT BEFL BEFn B BEEn BETr BT

Recurring fair value measurements % ATEEHE

Assets EE

Other financil assets: AfteRER:

- Equity securities designated at WOCI - ERATEE Ak

LENBIRERS - - - - M - - 509

- Club membership -8# - m - m - m - m

Derivative financial instruments; fESRHIA:

- Foreign exchange forward contracts L] - - - - - m - m

- m - m 5,09 1,044 - 53136

Liability 8%

Derivative finandial intruments: [HERIA:

- Foreign exchange forward contract - NERECE - 8 - - - - - -
During the years ended 30 June 2025 and BE_ZE_RERK_F
2024, there were no transfers between “—HHEASRA=ZFTHLEE
Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or E 2 F—HpEE 45
out of Level 3. The Group’'s policy is to ZRESEER  th3BEE
recognise transfers between levels of fair ABEHE=HG o K&
value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting EBEXAENERIESRE
period in which they occur. TR A A F(E

B BIER -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

25 BIREREERAFE

25 Financial risk management and
fair Values (continued)

(f) Fair value measurement (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Valuation techniques and inputs used in
Level 2 fair value measurements

The fair value of club membership in Level
2 are determined using market comparison
approach by reference to quoted prices in an
active market of financial assets similar to the
instrument being valued, adjusted for factors
unigue to the instrument being valued.

The fair value of foreign exchange forward
contracts in Level 2 is determined based on
guotes from market makers or alternative
participants supported by observable inputs
including spot and forward exchange rates.

Fair value of financial assets and
liabilities carried at other than fair value

All other significant financial assets and
liabilities are carried at amounts not
materially different from their fair values as at
30 June 2025 and 2024. It is not meaningful
to disclose the fair value of non-trade
balances with subsidiaries because there is no
fixed term of repayment.

Ew@

(f) RDFEEFEGRE)

(ii)

(iii)

MIE(ERB)BRLAR | —E-_HFFH

HRARE=—RFI L2 FEE
ATE R ER MR AR
5B

IIEE BB cEHE 2D
FEERZENIAMER
ZEMEERTELEE
EERTIE 2 TS RE
BUERIARZBERE
FLAEE -

INEERERESE =R
NAFEEERBET SR
BRHMSEENRER
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BWABEXE  SEDH
M=MER -

FURFEEIRGZE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

26 Commitments

(a)

(b)

26 7RIE

Capital commitments outstanding at the end of the (a) AEEBRBEHKAEUTER
reporting period not provided for in the financial FRYE RAE B A 3R 3R 1 34
statements were as follows:
2025 2024
—B-HF —ZomEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Capital expenditure authorised and CEEICTHNZ
contracted for EREX 7,910 9,319
Capital expenditure authorised but EREERTNZ
not contracted for EARBEX 310,974 41,791
At 30 June 2025, capital expenditure authorised but RZEZHFARA=1+H " BR
not contracted for primarily related to the estimated BEERITAZERBITTEEE
investment in the construction of new home care TEHERERICERTREEE
plant in Conghua, Guangdong, PRC, which will be IHNBEHREER  ZEEH
funded by internal working capital of the Group. A HEERASEEESENT - BB
prepayment of HK$32,605,000 for the acquisition of BZFBE T MBS BE
land for this new plant has been classified as “other 32,605,000 7t B E 4R & BT ISR R
non-current assets” in the consolidated statement of KH5AE [Hi3EREERE | -
financial position.
In addition, the Group did not commit to enter into o REBR-ZS_HEFR=
new leases that are not yet commenced at 30 June E_NERA=THREERES
2025 and 2024. &1 = RBARAVHEE -
At 30 June 2025, the Group had several non- (b) R===HFAA=1+H' ' &&H

cancellable purchase orders for raw materials with
its suppliers with an amount of HK$460,587,000
(2024: HK$509,080,000).

27 Material related party
transactions

200

(a)

Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel,
including amounts paid to the Company’s directors
and certain of the highest paid employees is
disclosed in note 9 to the consolidated financial
statements. Total remuneration is included in “staff
costs” (note 7).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 #HZE—

ZECRFARA=ZTHLEEE

27 Material related party 27 BEREALTZRS @
transactions (continued)
(b) Material transactions with related parties (b) BEATEARZ
Nature of transactions REHE 2025 2024
—E-HF —EMEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Management fee expenses to fellow EEHBELYHFER
subsidiaries (note (i) Mt 1B~ = (BfaE () 12,222 8,625

Note: Biat -

(i) A master services agreement (the “Master Services (i) RZEBEZ=FEXA=+H &
Agreement”) dated 30 June 2023 was entered into N E R E KB A T B Guoline
by the Company and its subsidiaries with GuoLine Group Management Company
Group Management Company Pte. Limited, a Pte. Ltd. (A" D 8] 2 R R 1E IR
wholly-owned subsidiary of GuolLine Capital ‘A Al Guoline Capital Assets
Assets Limited, the ultimate holding company Limitedz 2 &M B AT ) 5] L
of the Company, for the provision by the latter TR S (T ERBHED)
of management services including, among other HEUKHEERHEEREE
things, overview and/or oversight of businesses F(BREMEE)ERRRES
and operations, investment management and EEREE  RETERPE
financial management disciplines, treasury and SHEOE  BEREARESE -
risk management, key managerial recruitment and FTEEBEASRUBERIEER
retention as well as other operating practices and DR EMESEERANRER =
procedures, accounting, corporate advisory, legal, 5t - EFBH - EE S DT
company secretarial and other services. ERHEMARTE o
The Master Services Agreement is for a term of FREBZRS OB =
three financial years from 1 July 2023 to 30 June F+H— Elﬁ_g_,\ﬁ,\ﬂ
2026. =18 AH=EFBFE -

(c) Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to (00 EHEEXSZZLTHRAIZE
connected transactions AM

The related party transactions in respect of S BB H > AE AL

management fee expenses above constitute TR ETEAEIAE T

continuing connected transactions as defined in BERER S o P RIE14AS

Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The disclosure HECHBEERNESERER

requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules [EERS |—afhigqit -

are provided in section “Connected Transactions” of

the Directors’ Report.
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28 Company - level statement of

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BB R AR M

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

financial position

28 ‘A Bl EHE M BIRR R

2025 2024
—E-EHF —EoNEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BEREE 1,783 160
Interest in subsidiaries Ff B B RS 1,063,528 1,067,342
Amounts due from subsidiaries A NG E e 410,248 618,127
Other financial assets HinemEE - 52,092
1,475,559 1,737,721
Current assets REEE
Other receivables H b pEWBR TR 7,523 6,660
Cash and deposits BENRER 1,021,245 490,502
1,028,768 497,162
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables and accruals HittE (RN ETERA 18,053 11,506
Lease liabilities HEAE 376 110
e eeeeeeeeeieeeeeeeieecceceeiecceceececercscce.. N 18429 11,616
Net current assets EREBEE 1,010,339 485,546
_Total assets less current liabilities ~~~ @EERABRHKE 2,485,808 2,223,267
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FETF B A BT IE 378,903 94,567
Lease liabilities HESE 1,358 -
Long service payment liabilities REBRBE2EE 161 145
... 38042 @ 94,712
NET ASSETS BEE 2,105,476 2,128,555
CAPITAL AND RESERVES B ki#EE
Share capital (note 22) BA (Bfat22) 672,777 672,777
Reserves (note 23) B (HE23) 1,432,699 1,455,778
TOTAL EQUITY RS 2,105,476 2,128,555

KHAEEENR-"B-AFAA+AH#
R RETE -

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors
on 16 September 2025.

LIM Shueh Hann FRE2 B9
DIRECTOR =3

Christian K. NOTHHAFT &&=
DIRECTOR EE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HE—Z_HAF<A=THLEEE

29 Immediate and ultimate holding 29 EHERHFXRIZERAT

company

At 30 June 2025, the Company’s immediate holding m:%zﬂif—\ﬁ E-I__ B ZIKQEE’J
company is Guoline International Limited, which is E_E&BQQ‘ . 2‘.%Guc\)L|ne Internat|ona|
incorporated in Bermuda. The directors consider that the Limited - = E-ﬁ)}é‘ﬁé%;i_‘ﬁﬂﬂﬁki 2
Company’s ultimate holding company is GuoLine Capital A EERRTAANRRERDAR

Assets Limited, a company incorporated in Jersey, as its ‘GuoLine Ca‘pai:cal Assets Li't”ited C B
ultimate holding company. These entities do not produce EEEMAINAR - RREREER

= o =S oo
financial statements available for public use. ~F - EEBIEMBEREATNAIRME
Ao
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30 Possible impact of amendments,

204

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BB R AR M

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HBE=—ZE_HFAA=THLEFE

new standards and
interpretations issued but not
yet effective for the year ended
30 June 2025

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the
HKICPA has issued a number of new or amended standards,
which are not yet effective for the year ended 30 June
2025 and which have not been adopted in these financial
statements. These developments include the following
which may be relevant to the Group.

30 BEZE=-F_-_AF KA

=t+HILEFEEHEME
o RAE M Z EABET - H
ANEAIRZREUREE
ENTE

BZUEHBEHRERTIBEH > 5885
MASCHEMZEREBEE SR
B=+HAILLEEMAREN B LS ITIER
RERFEAZBTER - EhaggER
SEMEEZERIOT o

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
AT B A AR R
2T

Amendments to HKAS 21, The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates — Lack 1 January 2025
of exchangeability

ERETHERE2 N [BEXZHNTE S BN 2155 —ZE-HF¥—A—H

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Financial instruments and HKFRS 7, Financial 1 January 2026
instruments: disclosures — Amendments to the classification and measurement of
financial instruments

BERMBRELEANESR M T A REBURBREENETR 2T A & KE— —E-R¥E—-A—H

M TADERBZIEFTAE 2157

Annual improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11

BRPBREEN2FERE-E11%5

HKFRS 18, Presentation and disclosure in financial statements

BBPBMEERE 855 [ A HEIHEKR 25 RHFE |

HKFRS 19, Subsidiaries without public accountability: disclosures

EBMBIREERE 195 [ ELRBEMAINE A - H%FE

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these developments is expected to be in
the period of initial application. So far it has concluded that
the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact
on the consolidated financial statements.

1 January 2026
—EZXR¥—-A—H

1 January 2027
—ZE-+H-H—H

1 January 2027
—F=t%—-HA—-H

REBEFGEZFETRANRERNRD
ZEMEE  -HIBAAL KAZRE
BIRBTEHAREGSMBRRE
EEARTE -
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The following list contains particulars of principal subsidiaries at 30

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

TENE QT

At30June 2025 R=Z-HFA=1+H

R-B-HFEAA=THETEMBEATFEEN

June 2025: T :
Place of incorporation/ Effective
Particulars of establishment and percentage of
Name of company issued capital operation equity holding Principal activities Notes
NEER BRTZREHE ERREEnH REERRAL IEER i3
Group  Company
%8 £iq
Changzhou Lam Soon Edible Oils RMB40,000,000 The People’s 100 - Manufacturing and trading of N1
Company Limited AR%40,000,0007 Republic of China spedialty fats products
ENEEREERAR mEARLTE REREERLIERES
Guangzhou Lam Soon Homecare HK$21,000,000 The People’s 100 - Manufacturing and trading of N1
Products Limited ##21,000,0007T Republic of China home care products
ENEERZARARAR mEARLTE FEENERLERES
Hong Kong Flour Mills Limited 100 ordinary shares Hong Kong 100 - Provision of trucks rental service
ERERBERAR 10,000 deferred shares &3 and investment holding
100RE B RUEERERREER
10,000 REL R
Jiangsu Lam Soon Flour Mills US$7,000,000 The People’s 100 - Manufacturing and trading of N1
Company Limited 7,000,000% 7 Republic of China flour products
TEERERERAR MEARENE EREREERES
Jiangsu Lam Soon Food US$10,000,000 The People’s 100 - Manufacturing and trading of N1
Company Limited 10,000,000% 7 Republic of China flour products
TEEERRERAT BEARLNE BHEREERES
Lam Soon (China) Holdings Us$1 British Virgin Islands/ 100 - Investment holding
Company Limited ES Hong Kong REER
ABARAHE/BE
Lam Soon Cleaning & Caring 2 ordinary shares Hong Kong 100 - Trading of home care products
Laboratories (Hong Kong) WREBR R FEEEERES
Company Limited
HIEEZEENE (R ERAR
Lam Soon Edible Oils 2 ordinary shares Hong Kong 100 - Investment holding
Holdings Limited WREBR £ REER
HEBEERERAR
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PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
TENE QT

At 30 June 2025 R=ZZE=-RFXHA=+H

Place of incorporation/ Effective
Particulars of establishment and percentage of
Name of company issued capital operation equity holding Principal activities Notes
NREB BRTZRAHE EMREE R REEFRAL TEXK i3
Group  Company
%8 xiq
Lam Soon Food Industries HK$ 11,858,415 British Virgin Islands 100 100 Investment holding
(BVI) Limited #1188 4157 ABEERES REBR
Lam Soon Food Supply Company 1,000 ordinary shares  Hong Kong 100 - Investment holding
Limited 500,000 deferred shares & REER
HERMRIEEERAT 1,000k E &R
500,000 REER
Lam Soon Food Supply (Macau) MOP25,000 Macau 100 4 Trading of flour, edible oils and
Company Limited RP5H25,0007T B home care products
HIERMAHE(RM)ERAR Bh RRRRZEERERES
Lam Soon Home Care (Guangdong) ~ RMB113,000,000 The People’s 100 - Manufacturing and trading of N1
Company Limited ARH#113,000,0007 Republic of China home care products
HERL(ER)ERAR hEARENE FEEEEREERES
Lam Soon Home Care Products 2 ordinary shares Hong Kong 100 - Investment holding
Holdings Limited WREBR £ REZR
HEREERERERARAR
Lam Soon Products Supply 1,000,000 ordinary Hong Kong 100 - Manufacturing of edible oils and
{Hong Kong) Company Limited shares BB trading of flour, edible oils and
HEERMRE(EE)ERAR 1,000,000 E &R agency products
RRREERER  RRMR
REERES
Lam Soon Realty Limited 2 ordinary shares Hong Kong 100 100 Property holding, the provision of
MBS EERAR WRERR B warehousing and logistic services and
licenses of factory canteen
NEEE  RERRAMARER
IRREHREE
Lam Soon (Shandong) Food US$10,113,100 The People’s 100 - Manufacturing and trading of N7
Company Limited 10,113,100% 7t Republic of China flour products
HE(LR) RRERAR hEARENE BHEREERES
Lam Soon (Sichuan) Food US$7,000,000 The People’s 100 - Manufacturing and trading of N1
Company Limited 7,000,000% 7 Republic of China flour products
MBI RRERAE mEARLAE EREREERES

206

Lam Soon (Hong Kong) Limited | Annual Report 2025



PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
TENE QT

At30June 2025 R=Z-HFA=1+H

Place of incorporation/ Effective
Particulars of establishment and percentage of
Name of company issued capital operation equity holding Principal activities Notes
NREB BRTZRAHE EMREE R REEFRAL TEXK i3
Group  Company
2EEH AR
Lam Soon Silos Investments Limited 2 ordinary shares Hong Kong 100 - Investment holding
HEHEREERAR WREBR £ REER
Lam Soon Systems Limited 2 ordinary shares Hong Kong 100 - Provision of information
HEZEERAT WRERR £k technology services
REEANGERR
Lam Soon Trademark Limited Uss2 Cook Islands/Hong Kong 100 - Trademark holding
VEY NRHE/BR BERE
LS SynaLife Trading (Shanghai) RMB7,000,000 The People’s 100 - Trading and distribution of products N1
Company Limited AEK#7,000,0007 Republic of China EFRDHER
EEEEE(LE)BRAR PEARLAE
Richly Choice Development (PTC) Uss1 British Virgin Islands 100 100 Provision of trustee services
Limited (E3 ABEARRE REETRE
Shekou Lam Soon Flour Mills US$27,500,000 The People’s 100 - Manufacturing and trading of flour N1
Company Limited 27,500,000 Republic of China products
EOHRERERAR EARLAE BHEREERES
Shekou Lam Soon Silo US$9,500,000 The People’s 100 - Provision of silo facilities N1
Company Limited 9,500,000% 7 Republic of China BHEARE
ENEEEEERAT mEARLAE
Shenzhen Lam Soon Edible Qils US$12,000,000 The People’s 100 - Manufacturing and trading of edible N7
Company, Limited 12,000,000 7 Republic of China products
RIBIEREERL R mEARLNE RABERLERES
Note: Bfat -
N1 These subsidiaries are registered as wholly-owned-foreign N1 ZEMBLRRTFEEELUINEBECEER

i e

companies under PRC Laws.
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5-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
LFEMBERE

The summaries of results, assets and liabilities and total equity of AEEBEREFHREENEE BEEREEBER

the Group for the last five financial years are as follows: BRESMENT -
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
“ECHFE ZBEIFE ZB-=F B CZBZ-F
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M

E¥EET EREErT EREEx EFEEr ENEERL

Results o

Revenue WA 4,829 4,838 5,119 6,107 5,761

Operating profit before interest,  KRIBRFE » HiE -

taxation, depreciation and NEREHENLEET

amortisation 386 273 135 327 457
Profit for the year REERF 303 201 85 257 358
Assets and liabilities BERER
Non-current assets FRBEE 764 812 884 975 917
Net current assets FRBEE 2,395 2,116 1,919 1,998 1,981
Non-current liabilities B N= (19) (24) (17) (14) (17)
Total equity s 3,140 2,904 2,786 2,959 2,881
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